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Our Vision
XacBank will be the dynamic leader in providing inclusive financial services and innovative
products through an extensive network of branches and partners. The Bank will further grow
its market share and support the development of competitive Micro, Small and Medium
businesses in Mongolia by using the information communications technology together with
personalized customer services.

Our Mission
To contribute to sustainable development of Mongolia that can come only from educated and
skilled people and competitive and dynamic businesses concerned equally about Profit, People,
and the Planet. The Bank will provide equitable access to transparent, reliable and responsive
banking products and services to the Bank's clients, including its traditional
Micro-entrepreneurs as well as Small and Medium businesses.

Our Credo
We believe our first responsibility is to our clients – rural and urban residents of Mongolia - micro and small
business people, herders and employed people
without conventional access to financial services.
In meeting their needs everything we do must be of high quality.
We must constantly strive to reduce our costs in order to maintain reasonable prices.
Client's orders must be serviced promptly and accurately in a friendly fashion.
Our business partners must have an opportunity to make a fair return.
We are responsible to our employees, men and women, who work with us throughout Mongolia.
Everyone must be considered as an individual. We must respect their dignity and recognize their merit.
They must have a sense of security in their jobs.
Compensation must be fair and adequate to performance, and working conditions
clean, orderly and safe.
We must be mindful of ways to help our employees fulfill their family and social responsibilities.
Employees must feel free to make suggestions and complains. There must be equal opportunity for employment,
development and advancement adequate to qualification and performance.
We must provide competent management, and their actions must be just and ethical.
We are responsible to the communities, in which we live and work.
We must be good citizens – abide by the laws, support good works and charities, and bear our fair share of taxes.
We must encourage civic improvements and better health and education.
We must maintain in good order the property we are privileged to use, protecting the environment and
natural resources as our own.
Our final responsibility is to our shareholders. Business must make a sound profit.
We must experiment with new ideas. Research must be carried out, innovative programs developed and
mistakes paid for. Reserves must be created to provide for adverse times.
When we operate according to these principles, our clients will benefit from our services, our employees will have
a high morale, and shareholders should realize a fair return, which all in the end should lead to
development of Mongolia.

Right Bank. XacBank
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ABOUT THIS ANNUAL REPORT

Introduction
The Annual Report 2007 is our first attempt to integrate financial and operational performance reports with sustainability information
concerning all major activities of XacBank. The Bank reviewed and enriched its Vision and Mission, restated in the report, in order to include renewed commitments to triple-bottom line banking within the framework of the Global Reporting Initiative (GRI) on economic,
social and environmental performance, as built around the 3Ps: Profit, People and the Planet.
The report covers the period from 1 January 2007 to 31 December 2007 inclusive. For the first time this annual report is also available
in a short summary version: Annual Report 2007 - Overview.
XacBank’s previous annual report1 was published in May 2007 and covered calendar year 2006. The 2007 report is based on the same
basic principles as the 2006 report, but more details are given in terms of sustainability reporting and transparent disclosure of public
information. Any changes to the methods of calculation used will be stated in the text.
Reporting Principles
The relevant sections of this annual report for 2007 cover the corporate social responsibility (CSR) activities of the Bank. XacBank joined
the Global Reporting Initiative’s platform for sustainability reporting in January 2007. The GRI framework is widely recognized and well
tested by hundreds of companies around the world. In order to make our CSR reporting even more complete, relevant and comparable, the Bank has prepared the content of this report in accordance with the Global Reporting Initiative’s G32 Guidelines, published
in October 2006. The Bank also used the GRI Financial Services Sector Supplements, which is specifically relevant to financial services
sector, both on Social Performance published in November 2002 and on Environmental Performance published in March 2005.
For more detailed information about our application of the G3 Guidelines, please see the GRI index. In October 2007, XacBank joined
the United Nations (UN) Global Compact3. The GRI Guidelines principles and performance indicators correspond to the requests contained in the UN Global Compact’s mandatory annual Communication on Progress (COP) regarding its ten universally accepted principles in the areas of human rights, labor, the environment and anti-corruption. Thus, the Bank will align its Global Compact reporting
with the G3 Guidelines.
GRI Content Index
Global Reporting Initiative (GRI) guidelines provide an internationally consistent format for information about a company’s performance, particularly with regard to social and environmental issues. XacBank produced this annual report using the latest GRI - Sustainability Reporting Guidelines, Version 3.0.
The overview on pages 3 and 4 lists the sections of the GRI 3 guidelines together with the references to the place in the annual report
where this information can be found. The reference is either to a page or section in the report. Some places are marked ‘NA’, indicating
that the Bank does not regard this item as directly relevant or applicable. In some places ‘N1’ is shown, indicating subjects that the
Bank not reported due to insufficient data, but to be reported in the future, whereas ‘N2’ is marked for subject that are not reported.
In other places ‘N2’ is shown to indicate that there is no information on the subject currently. These areas will be further investigated
to establish the depth of information that can be provided in our future annual reports. The shaded sections in the overview are additional indicators. Unshaded sections represent core indicators, as defined in the G3 guidelines.
Further information on this annual report, including on the Bank’s sustainability information, may be obtained from:
Sustainability Team
Contact persons: Mr. Tur-Od Lkhagvajav, Social and Environmental Manager <turod.l@xacbank.mn>, and
Ms. Tserenkhand Gurbadam, Social and Environmental Coordinator <tserenhand.g@xacbank.mn>
XacBank Head Office
Prime Minister Amar’s Street
PO Box 46/721, Ulaanbaatar–210646
Mongolia
Tel: + (976-11)-318185
Inquiry: +(976)-1888
Fax: + (976-11)-328701
info@xacbank.mn
www.xacbank.mn
1
2
3

2

www.xacbank.mn
www.globalreporting.org
www.unglobalcompact.org
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GRI CONTENT INDEX

Global Reporting Initiative (GRI) Reporting Element: Core and Selected Additional Indicators
1.

Vision and Strategy

1.1

Statement of sustainable development

Pages
i

1.2

Statement of key elements

i

2.

Corporate Profile

2.1

Name of the organization

2.2

Principal activities

2, 46
46

2.3

Structure

46

2.4

Location of head quarters

46

2.5

Country

46

2.6

Legal form

2.7

Markets served

2.8

Key figures

2.9

Shareholders and size

2.10

Contact person for report

2.11

Awards received

3.

Reporting Parameter

46
28-30
84
88

Reporting period
Date of most recent report

3.3

Reporting cycle

2, 41

3.4

Contact point

2,40

3.5

Process of defining scope

2, 41

3.6

Boundary of report

2,41

3.7

Statement of reporting limitations

2, 41

3.8

Outsourced operations

2

N1

3.9

Data measurement methodology

N1

Re-statements

NA

3.11

Changes in report scope

3.12

Table of standard disclosures

Governance

4.1

Governance structure

4.2

Management structure

24-25

EC2.

Financial implications and other risks and opportunities for
organizations’s activities due to climate change

N3

EC3.

Coverage of the organization’s defined benefit plan obligations

31, 52

EC4.

Significant financial assistance received from government

N3

EC5.

Range of ratios of standard entry level wage compared to
local minimum wage at significant locations of operation

N2

EC6.

Policy, practices and proportion of spending on locally-based
suppliers at significant locations of operation

N1

EC7.

Procedures for local hiring, and proportion of senior
management hired from the local community at locations of
significant operation

30

EC8.

Development and impact of infrastructure investments and
services supported provided primarily for public benefit
through commercial, in-kind, or pro bono engagement

N3

EC9.

Understanding and describing significant indirect economic
impacts, including the extent of impacts

22-24

2, 41

3.10

External assurance

Economic value generated and distributed, including revenues, operating costs, employee compensation, donations
and other community investments, retained earnings, and
payments to capital providers and governments

2, 40

3.1

4.

EC1.

20

3.2

3.13

Performance Indicators Economic Performance

Environmental Performance Indicators
EN1.

Materials used by weight or volume

EN2.

Percentage of materials used that are recycled input materials

N1
N1

EN3.

Direct energy consumption by primary energy source

N1
N1

EN4.

Indirect energy consumption by primary source

EN8.

Total water withdrawal by source

N1

EN11.

Location and size of land owned, leased, managed in, or
adjacent to, protected areas and areas of high biodiversity
value outside protected areas

NA

2
20,
42-83

EN16.

Total direct and indirect greenhouse gas emissions by weight

N1

EN17.

Other relevant indirect greenhouse gas emissions by weight

N1

41

EN19.

Emissions of ozone-depleting substances by weight

NA

EN20.

NO2 ,SO2, and other significant air emissions by type and
weight

NA

8-9
8-9,  
15-16

EN21.

Total water discharge by quality and destination

N1

EN22.

Total weight of waste by type and disposal method

N1

4.3

Independence

6-7

EN23.

Total number and volume of significant spills

NA

4.4

Shareholders recommendations

N2

EN26.

N1

4.5

Compensation and performance

N2

Initiatives to mitigate environmental impacts of products and
services, and extent of impact mitigation

4.6

Conflict of interests

EN27.

Qualifications

Percentage of products sold and their packaging materials
that are reclaimed by category

NA

4.7

EN28.

Monetary value of significant fines and total number of nonmonetary sanctions for non-compliance with environmental
laws and regulations

N3

4.8

Mission statement

4.9

Oversight

9
(Profile)
I
8-10

4.10

Performance evaluation

N2

Social Performance Indicators

4.11

Precautionary principle

N2

LA1.

4.12

Endorsement of charters

Total workforce by employment type, employment contract,
and region

4.13

Professional memberships

36

LA2.

Stakeholder groups

36,
84-86

Total number and rate of employee turnover by age group,
gender, and region

31

4.14

LA3.

Identification of stakeholders

36,
84-86

Benefits provided to full-time employees that are not
provided to temporary or part-time employees, by major
operations

52

4.15
4.16

Engagement of stakeholders

36

LA4.

Percentage of employees covered by collective bargaining
agreements

N2

4.17

Key shareholder topics

LA5.

Minimum notice period(s) regarding operational changes,
including whether it is specified in collective agreements

N2

8

6-7

31-32
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LA6.

Percentage of workforce represented in formal joint management-worker health and safety committees that help monitor
and advise on occupational health and safety programs

N2

LA7.

Rates of injury, occupational diseases, lost days, and absenteeism and number of work-related fatalities by region

N2

LA8.

Education, training, counseling, prevention and risk-control
programs in place to assist workforce members, their families,
or community members regarding serious diseases

N2

LA10.

Average hours of training per year per employee by employee
category

32

LA11.

Programs for skills management and lifelong learning that
support the continued employability of employees and assist
them in managing career endings

32

Percentage of employees receiving regular performance and
career development review

N2

LA13.

Composition of governance bodies and breakdown of employees per category according to gender, age group, minority group membership, and other indicators of diversity

10,
16,
32

LA14.

Ratio of basic salary of men and women by employee
category

32

HR1.

Percentage and total number of significant investment agreements that include human rights clauses or that undergone
human rights screening

N1

HR2.

Percentage of significant suppliers and contractors that
undergone screening on human rights and actions taken

N2

HR3.

Total hours of employee training on policies and procedures
concerning aspects of human rights that are relevant to
operations, including the percentage of employees trained

N2

HR4.

Total number of incidents of discrimination and actions taken

N2

HR5.

Operations identified in which the right to exercise freedom
of association and collective bargaining may be at significant
risk, and actions taken to support these rights

N2

HR6.

Operations identified as having significant risk for incidents of
child labor, and measures taken to contribute to the elimination of child labor

HR7.

LA12.

4

Additional Sector Specific Indicators
Financial Services Supplement ‘Social performance’
CSR 1

CSR Policy

I

CSR 2

CSR Organisation

CSR 3

CSR Audit

N1
N1

CSR 4

Management of Sensitive Issues

N1

CSR 5

Non-Compliance

N1

CSR 6

Stakeholder Dialogue

36

INT1

Internal CSR Policy

35

INT2

Staff turnover and job creation

32

INT3

Employee satisfaction

N1

INT4

Senior Management Remuneration

INT7

Employee profile

SOC1

Charitable Contributions

N1

SOC2

Economic Value Added

N1

RB3

Lending with High Social Benefit

24

70
31,32

Financial Services Supplement ‘Environmental Performance
F1

Description of environmental policies applied to core business
lines.

34

F2

Description of process(es) for assessing and screening environmental risks in core business lines.

34

F3

State the threshold(s) at which environmental risk assessment
procedures are applied to each core business line.

N1

N2

F4

Description of processes for monitoring clients’ implementation of and compliance with environmental aspects raised in
risk assessment process(es).

N1

Operations identified as having significant risk for incidents of
forced or compulsory labor, and measures taken to contribute
to the elimination of forced or compulsory labor

N2

F5

Description of process(es) for improving staff competency in
addressing environmental risks and opportunities.

N1

SO1.

Nature, scope, and effectiveness and practices that assess and
manage the impacts of operations on communities, including
entering, operating and exiting

N1

F6

Number and frequency of audits that include the examination
of environmental risk systems and procedures related to core
business lines.

N1

SO2.

Percentage and total number of business units analyzed for
risks related to corruption

N2

F7

N1

SO3.

Percentage of employees trained in organization’s anticorruption policies and procedures

N2

Description of interactions with clients/investee companies/
business partners regarding environmental risks and opportunities.

F9

Actions taken in response to instances of corruption

N2

Percentage of assets subjected to positive, negative and bestin-class environmental screening.

N1

SO4.
SO5.

Public policy positions and participation in public policy
development and lobbying

F10

NA

SO8.

Monetary value of significant fines and total number of
non-monetary sanctions for non-compliance with laws and
regulations

N3

Description of voting policy on environmental issues for shares
over which the reporting organisation holds the right to vote
shares or advise on voting.

F11

Life cycle stages in which health and safety impacts of
products and services are assessed for improvement, and
percentage of significant products and services categories
subject to such procedures

NA

Percentage of assets under management where the reporting
organisation holds the right to vote shares or advise on voting.

NA

PR1.

F12

Total monetary value of specific environmental products and
services broken down according to the core business lines.

NA

PR3.

Type of product and service information required by procedures, and percentage of significant products and services
subject to such Information requirements

NA

F13

Value of portfolio for each core business line broken down by
specific region and by sector.

NA

PR5.

Practices related to customer satisfaction, including results of
surveys measuring customer satisfaction.

N1

PR6.

Programs for adherence to laws, standards, and voluntary
codes related to marketing communications, including advertising, promotion and sponsorship

N1

PR9

Monetary value of significant fines for non-compliance with
laws and regulations concerning the provision and use of
products and services

N2
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19,36

Explanatory Note:
The criteria used here represent a summary of the criteria set out in the Global
Reporting (GRI). For a full description of the criteria and the corresponding indicators,
see: www.globalreporting.org.
NA - not applicable;
N1 - not reported due to insufficient data but to be reported in future;
N2 - not reported;
N3 - none

GLOSSARY: Corporate Social Responsibility Terms

Code of conduct

A code of conduct is a set of rules and regulations, guidelines
and management principles governing the way in which the
employees of a company are expected to behave. It encapsulates a company’s core values, which should form part of
the fabric of its day-to-day activities. In other words, a code of
conduct lays down the required standard of behavior for the
company as a whole.

Compliance

Compliance – as the name suggests – refers to the systems and
procedures within a company to ensure that it is in compliance
with the applicable guidelines and statutory requirements.
Companies should have a dedicated Compliance unit or designated officer for this purpose, responsible for checking that
they are adhering to the relevant Mongolian and international
regulations and legislation in respect of insider trading and
money laundering, for instance.

Corporate citizenship

Corporate citizenship is the term used to describe the relationship between a company and its local environment. It covers
the philanthropic activities of a company and its employees, as
well as sponsorship, which is of mutual benefit.

Corporate governance

Corporate governance sets out the framework for the transparent management and monitoring of a company. The recommendations of the Mongolian Corporate Governance Code4,
mainly designed for listed companies, serve to create transparency and underpin confidence that a company is being
managed in a responsible manner. In particular, they afford
protection to the shareholders of a company.

Corporate responsibility

Corporate responsibility describes the extent to which a
company is aware of – and lives up to – its responsibilities in
those areas where its activities have an impact on society, the
employees of that company, the environment and the business
landscape. In other words, corporate responsibility embodies a
corporate philosophy based on transparency, ethical behavior
and respect for the various stakeholders. It is an umbrella term,
encompassing sustainability, corporate governance and corporate citizenship.

Corporate social responsibility

Corporate social responsibility covers all company’s activities
and programs designed to better preserve and protect the
society in which we live for future generations, in the context of
sustainable development. It is a key element of corporate
responsibility.

Global Compact

The Global Compact is an initiative of the United Nations.
Companies that sign up to the Global Compact undertake to
advance ten universal principles in the areas of human rights,
labour, the environment and anti-corruption.
4

Global Reporting Initiative

The Global Reporting Initiative (GRI) is a multi-stakeholder process and independent institution, whose mission is to develop
and disseminate globally applicable Sustainability Reporting
Guidelines.

Information Disclosure (also Public Disclosure)

The process of providing information to the affected local
communities and other stakeholders that is timely, accessible,
understandable, and in the appropriate local languages. For
companies with potential adverse impacts, information on the
purpose, nature and scale of the company, and any potential
risks to and potential impacts on such local communities
should be included.

Social and Environmental Assessment

The process of evaluating and addressing potential social and
environmental impacts and risks of a company and identifying any mitigation or corrective measures that will enable the
company to meet the requirements of the Performance Standards, applicable domestic laws and local regulations, and any
additional priorities and objectives for social or environmental
performance identified by the client.

Social and Environmental Impact Assessment

The Social and Environmental Impact Assessment report
focuses on the significant issues of a company and predict and
assesses the company’s likely positive and negative impacts,
in quantitative terms to the extent possible. Examines global,
transboundary, and cumulative impacts as appropriate. Impact
assessment includes baseline data, alternatives analysis and
management program.

Social and Environmental Management System

The Social and Environmental Management System includes
the organizational structure, responsibilities, policies, procedures and practices, and resources, and is essential for
successfully implementing the company-specific management
program developed through the social and environmental
assessment of its operational impact. A good management system enables continuous improvement of the company’s social
and environmental performance, and can lead to improved economic, financial, social and environmental outcomes.

Social and/or Environmental Audits Report

Report focuses on (i) compliance of existing facilities and operations with relevant laws and regulations, and applicable International Finance Corporation (IFC) Performance Standards; and
(ii) the nature and extent of significant adverse environmental
impacts.  

Sustainability

Sustainability is a holistic concept, based on an ecologically
compatible, socially just and economically effective approach to
development. That means using resources carefully, responsibly
and efficiently – with a view to the here and now and generations to come.

Approved by Resolution No. 210 of the Financial Regulatory Commission of Mongolia, 26 December 2007
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS REPORT
“Next to doing the right thing, the most important thing is to let people know you are doing the right thing.”
John D. Rockefeller

Dear Shareholders, Clients, Partners and Co-Workers,
The Board of Directors of XacBank (Board) is pleased to present to the stakeholders of XacBank and XAC-GE Group this
annual report for the year ended on 31 December 2007, prepared by the management with accompanying Notes to
Audited Financial Statements.
Year 2007 turned out be a challenging and yet a successful year for the Bank as it maintained its dynamic growth and
attracted further international strategic investors. The Board, as part of its policy-setting role, made critical decisions on
the Bank’s strategic direction and made recommendations on key policies. Most importantly the new Business Plan for
the coming three years has been debated and approved.
The Board is pleased to inform its shareholders that the Bank made a net income of MNT 52.9 billion after taxes in 2007,
up 63.1 percent from MNT1.8 billion recorded in 2006. The Bank’s return on equity (ROE) reached 27.90 percent by the
end of the year, climbing 8.38 percentage points from the corresponding figure for 2006. As of 31 December 2007,
the Bank had assets* of MNT143.4 billion, up MNT54.5 billion from the end 2006. The Bank’s loan portfolio* reached
MNT101.9 billion with a total of 60,719 loans.
There were several significant changes in the shareholding structure during the past year. One of the shareholders, NewCom LLC, decided to sell its shares of 2.14 percent in XAC-GE Group LLC, the Bank’s holding company. Management initiated work to bring in new strategic investors, which triggered simultaneous negotiations with the International Finance
Corporation (IFC) and the European Bank for Reconstruction and Development (EBRD). This team effort successfully
culminated in these two well-regarded strategic investors accepting the Bank’s offer to hold 10 percent each in the Bank
holding company, and each was offered a seat on the Board of Directors of both XacBank and XAC-GE Group following
the Shareholders Agreement. In this complex series of transactions, which took almost 10 months to close successfully,
some of the existing shareholders, including MicroVest 1, LP and ShoreCap International, sold part of their holdings to
the new investors. Both MicroVest and ShoreCap agreed to keep their respective seats on the Board.
During the first regular meeting of the Board in 2007, the Board has considered a proposal by the management to
distribute a dividend based on financial results and performance for 2006, and accordingly approved a dividend of
MNT531.9 million or MNT66.21 per share. Another important role of the Board is to keep abreast of the developments
in the marketplace and ensure that the Bank is well capitalized to support growth and absorb any risks. To this end the
Board approved the Equity Plan of the Bank as submitted by the management and will propose to issue new shares in
2008 to the Annual Shareholders Assembly in May.
The Board closely followed the progress on Core Banking System (CBS) needs assessment and subsequent vendor selection. The management is expected to submit a proposal on the selected vendor to the Board within the first quarter of
2008. The Board recognizes the value of a sound information system for managing and governing a modern banking
institution, and understands that this endeavor will require the Bank to commit substantial human as well as financial
investment in the coming years. It is fully aware of the risks inherent in this enormous change management effort or
damages that a wrong decision or less than perfect execution could bring.

During July 26-27, 2007, the Board
of Directors and the Bank’s executive
management held a joint retreat, which
took place at the Har Zurhniy Huh Nuur
(Lone Heart’s Blue Lake), Hentiy aymag,
where the ‘Conqueror of the World’ Temuujin was proclaimed Chinggis
Khaan in 1189. The Board reached
many decisions of strategic nature and
approved new initiatives of the Group
and the Bank, including cross-border
expansion in the region.

MNT-Mongolian national currency, Togrog
*In accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)7.
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The Board selected Ernst & Young, long time partner of the Bank, to conduct an audit of XAC-GE Group’s financial
statements on a consolidated basis. The Board felt that this was a good time to make this decision given the fact that
the holding company operations have expanded both in terms of activities, investments and investors, and strategic
considerations taking place at the holding company level regarding the Group’s expansion into leasing and insurance
operations in Mongolia and cross-border activities for XacBank. The Board approved the Funds Management Policy at
the holding company in order to further streamline financial operations of the Group.
In April 2007, there was a decision to appoint a Board of Directors for XacLeasing LLC, XAC-GE Group’s new subsidiary.
Mr. Bekhbat Sodnom, Mr. Gilbert Crawford, Mrs. Femke Bos, Mr. Jim Anderson and Mr. Stephen D. Vance were elected to
serve on this new Board. This group made quick advances in terms of finalizing strategic documents such as Charter and
Business Plan, Budget and operating procedures, and finally getting XacLeasing LLC off the ground. The Board is proud
to report that the new company started actually making profits by the end of 2007.
The Board met in four plenary sessions during 2007 to decide upon matters as provided in the Charter of the Board, with
no occasions to call an extraordinary meeting. Its five standing committees provided necessary technical input between
the Board meetings, regularly providing oversight and guidance to the Bank’s executive management, and reviewed key
agenda items for further discussion and decision making by the full Board.
In July 2007 the Board met in a place of historic importance for Mongols, the Huh Nuur (Blue Lake), for discussion of the
Group and Bank’s strategic directions and new initiatives. During this retreat, the Board heard the executive management’s presentation on the current state of the insurance sector, and assigned it to work on this new initiative under the
XAC-GE Group. Moreover, the Board also supported the management’s initiative to study opportunities for establishing
an investment vehicle in order to make equity investments in selected microfinance institutions in the region, and directed to make more detailed proposals in the upcoming meetings.
During the entire year of 2007, the Board actively participated in professional and public engagements of the Bank.
Among the Board members, Mr. Ganbold Chuluun and Mr. Bekhbat Sodnom have taken part in international training on
the general bank management and microfinance.
In April 2007, when NewCom LLC submitted its decision to divest its 2.14 percent shareholding in XAC-GE Group, Mr.
Tanto Hiroshi, who represented the same shareholder both in the Group and Bank Boards, sent a formal notification of
his resignation. Also, during the July meeting of the Board, Mr. Steve Mitchell, who represented Mercy Corps, resigned
from the Board and nominated Ms. Pamela Eser as his replacement, who was duly elected as an Interim Director during
the Board meeting in October 2007. The Board wishes its departing colleagues, Mr. Steve Mitchell and Mr. Tanto Hiroshi,
well in their present and future endeavors.
In December 2007, the Bank signed the strategic equity investment agreements with the renowned international financial institutions: the EBRD and IFC, and decided to accept their representatives on the Board. The EBRD nominated Mr.
John Chomel-Doe, its first Country Director for Mongolia, and IFC decided to nominate Ms. Teresa Yiu, its incoming Principal Banking Specialist. Their formal approval and investiture are pending for the upcoming 2008 regular meetings of
the Board and shareholders. The Board warmly welcomes the new directors to their challenging new positions. It firmly
believes in the added value they are bringing as experienced professionals and outstanding individuals to the Bank in
the course of fulfilling its Vision and Mission, which call to bring economic prosperity to people who live in equitable
societies developing in a sustainable manner. The goal of sustainable development is to “meet the needs of the present
without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs.“6
May the wisdom, peace and happiness rest with you all!

Ch. Ganbold, Chairman of the Board of Directors

6

World Commission of Environment and Development. Our Common Future. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1987, p.43.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT: Our Focus on Transparent Banking

Introduction: Corporate Governance Principles
XacBank is fully committed to and strives to implement a corporate governance system, with necessary structures and
processes for the direction and control of a transparent and sustainable bank that aligns the interests of a wide range of
different stakeholders, including its shareholders and investors, and its management and co-workers. Good corporate
governance is contributing to the sustainable economic development by enhancing the corporate performance of the
Bank and further increasing its access to external sources of required capital, as well as assuring efficient and effective
use of its resources.
The Bank is currently implementing the Bank of Mongolia (Central Bank) Regulations on Implementation of Sound Governance Principles in Banking Institutions 7, approved on 26 December 2006, as well as the OECD (Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development) Principles of Corporate Governance 8 , originally issued in 1999, revised in 2003
and agreed by OECD governments in April 2004. Together these principles provide the basic framework of the Bank in
this area, identifying the key issues, including the rights and equitable treatment of shareholders, the role of stakeholders, public disclosure and transparency, and the responsibilities of the Board and management.
Particularly, the Bank’s corporate governance framework ensures that timely and accurate information disclosure is
made on all material matters regarding the Bank, including its financial situation, performance, ownership, and internal
controls. Furthermore, it will ensure the strategic guidance of the Bank, the effective monitoring of the management by
the Board, and the Board’s accountability to the Bank’s shareholders and all stakeholders.

Governance Structure: Shareholders and Board of Directors
XacBank continues to operate as a limited liability company, registered and incorporated under the laws of Mongolia. The Bank’s ultimate authority lies with its shareholders. On behalf of the shareholders, the Board has a policy setting role for the Bank, gives strategic
guidance to and monitors the activities of management. The Chief Executive Officer (CEO) is appointed by the Board and is directly
responsible for managing the day-to-day operations of the Bank, and reports on a regular basis to the shareholders and the Board. The
CEO represents XacBank without the power of attorney as per the Bank Charter. The Board has the following Standing Committees to
focus on specific strategic areas:
•
•
•
•
•
•

Executive Committee – Monitors the Bank’s policy direction and strategy implementation, and acts on behalf of the Board between full Board meetings;
Risk Management Committee – Ensures compliance with risk limits and prudential norms and requirements. Approves funding
conditions;
Credit Committee – Sets the Bank’s credit policy and limits and monitors risks in the portfolio;
Audit Committee - Oversees the Bank’s internal audit function and corresponds with the external auditors;
Nominating Committee - Ensures orderly transition of Board members as well as succession planning of the senior executives;
Compensation Committee – Reviews the performance and sets performance-based compensation of the senior executives.

The above mentioned Committees are governed by their respective Charters (i.e. By-laws) and report to the full Board during its regular and extraordinary meetings. Sub-committees or any other ad-hoc structure may be established by the Board in order to address
specific or urgent issues from time to time. The Internal Audit Department (IAD) of the Bank reports to the Audit Committee, which in
turn reports on the IAD’s activities to the full Board of Directors. The position of the Corporate Secretary was established at the holding
company level to facilitate a smooth functioning of the Board and assist in effective communication with the management.

Organizational Structure and Management Systems
XacBank is comprised of branch offices and the Head Office with divisions and other units under overall leadership of the CEO. In order
to further streamline the Bank’s operations and enhance succession planning, the front-office units report directly to the President of
the Bank, and back-office units to the Chief Operating Officer, while the Bank’s consolidated risk management as well as the legal and
compliance units report to the Executive Board.
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The Internal Audit Division continues to be directly accountable to the Board with parallel reporting to the CEO. The IAD is conducting
on-site examinations of branches and Head Office units and reports to the Audit Committee of the Board. The management of the
Bank has established the following committees to ensure its proper functioning:
•
•
•
•

Executive Board –Monitors the Bank’s Business Strategy implementation and makes decisions on its key policies;
Business Development Committee – Makes decisions regarding the front-office activities of the Bank, including the Marketing
Strategy implementation as well as branch management and operations issues;
Risk Management Committee – Is in charge of Asset and Liability Management, controls and monitors the risks associated with all
banking activities;
Credit Management Committee – Is charged with implementing the Credit Policy, has specific credit approval at three different
levels.

The composition and structure of the above mentioned committees was determined by the Bank management in order to facilitate
effective day-to-day management of its business affairs and sound internal controls.
The Bank has a nation-wide network of branches and extension units. The extension units offer basic banking services and products,
and located in the areas of strategic importance for the Bank where it is, nevertheless, not feasible to open a full scale branch office.
Branches consist of a director and line managers responsible for finance, customer relations and credit operations, with corresponding teams/officers under these managers. Branches have two main committees: Branch Director’s Council and the Credit Committee
which facilitate decision making processes.

Environmental and Social Reporting System
XacBank is strongly committed to the principles of sustainable development as exemplified by the implementation of the Environmental Management System to address environmental issues, both social and ecological, arising from the Bank’s operations since
2002. The Bank firmly believes that sustainable development can only come from educated and skilled people and businesses concerned equally about Profit, People and the Planet. To institutionalize this triple bottom approach, an Office of Corporate Compliance
and Ethics will be set up in within the newly established Legal and Compliance Division to ensure strict compliance of the Bank’s
business activities with not only national legislation and bilateral agreements with investors and shareholders but also internationally
recognized norms and standards and management’s beliefs.
The Bank will further improve and enhance its social and environmental management and its reporting system, including revision
of its current policy document and will conduct a social and environmental performance audit on its operational impact. The Bank
appointed an Environmental and Social Manager at the senior management level, and will have a full-time Environmental and Social
Coordinator, who will ensure proper operation and maintenance of the Bank’s Environmental and Social Management System (SEMS).
The Bank will compile and provide environmental and social reports on regular basis to its strategic shareholders and investors.  
The Bank will systematically gather data on social and environmental impact from its operations across the country, and will provide
its stakeholders with environmental and social reports on a regular basis. Furthermore, the Bank will initiate in-house environmental
protection measures aimed at efficient use of energy, fuel, water, reducing paper consumption and waste, as well as seek to form business relations with partners, suppliers, and clients who follow similarly high environmental standards.

Code of Ethics and Business Conduct
XacBank highly values personal integrity and business ethics, and wants to further maintain its public reputation for doing not only
things right but also doing the right things. Moreover, the Bank must treat co-workers, customers, suppliers, shareholders and local
communities with honesty and respect, as well as mitigate any conflict of interest situations at all levels.
The Bank management and co-workers strictly adhere to the following fundamental principles and basic standards of integrity and
accountability, as approved in the relevant Code of Ethics:
• Integrity and Transparency: doing the “right thing” without compromise for our customers, suppliers, and shareholders - even when
circumstances make it difficult. We are clear, truthful and accurate in what we say and do.
• Respect and Honor: treating one another with respect and dignity; appreciating the diversity of our workforce, our customers and
our communities.
• Responsibility and Accountability: taking accountability for ethical decisions and actions; asking for clarification when necessary and
reporting concerns or violations in the workplace.
• Good Citizenship and the Rule of Law: complying with the spirit and intent of the laws that govern our business; contributing to the
strength and well being of our communities and shareholders.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS AT 1 MARCH 2008

Chairman:
Mr. Ganbold Chuluun

Mercy Corps, CEO of EDN LLC
Serving from 2003 to present

Directors:
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Mr. Bekhbat Sodnom

Rotary Club of Ulaanbaatar, Board Member  
Served in 2001-2003 and serving from 2005 to present

Ms. Erdenechimeg Jambaldorj

Mongolian Women’s Federation, President
Serving from 2001 to present

Ms. Erdenejargal Perenley

Open Society Forum, Executive Director
Serving from 2005 to present

Ms. Femke Bos

Triodos Fair Share Fund and Triodos-Doen, Fund Manager of Triodos Doen
Serving from 2005 to present

Mr. Ganhuyag Ch. Hutagt

XacBank, CEO
Serving from 2001 to present

Mr. Gilbert Crawford

Micro Vest 1, LP, Managing Director
Serving from 2005 to present

Mr. James H. Anderson

Mercy Corps, Manager of Financial Services
Serving from 2003 to present

Mr. John Chomel-Doe
					

European Bank for Reconstruction and Development, Country Director
Elected in February 2007

Mr. Mark A. Coffey

ShoreCap International, President of ShoreBank Pacific
Serving from 2006 to present

Mr. Stephen D. Vance

Employee Investment Trust LLC, Country Director, CHF in Pakistan
Served 2001-2002 and serving from 2006 to present

Ms. Pamela A. Eser
					

Mercy Corps, Director of Microenterprise and Economic Development
Elected in October 2007

Mr. Teresa P. K. Yiu			

International Finance Corporation, Principal Banking Specialist
Elected in February 2008

Mr. Zorigt Namsrayjav

Tuushin LLC, General Director
Serving from 2004 to present
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MANAGEMENT REPORT
“Management is doing things right; leadership is doing the right things.”
Peter Drucker

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: Our Focus on Sustainable Banking

The management of XacBank presents the operational and financial performance reports for the fiscal year 2007 - on the eve of the
10th anniversary of the Bank’s founding in 1998. Management would like to highlight the fact that this is its second annual report
built around the Global Reporting Initiative (GRI) framework, which is also a first-ever attempt to integrate its financial and operational
performance reports with sustainability information concerning all major activities of the Bank.
The Bank hit new highs in 2007 in the fiercely competitive banking sector of Mongolia. The Bank management and co-workers’ strong
commitment to excellence and their desire to be one of the best members of our community, as individuals and as employees of a
leading microfinance institution, culminated in the most successful year in XacBank’s history yet. Through its relentless growth initiatives, XacBank not only stamped and reaffirmed its status as a promoter of corporate social responsibility and an economic catalyst in
domestic marketplace, but as a leading development finance institution globally. Some of the key highlights for 2007 are as follows:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Total assets ended the year at an unprecedented MNT143.4 billion, growing 61.3 percent or MNT54.5 billion from the end-2006.
Loan portfolio hit MNT101.9 billion with a total of 60,719 loans, up 67.5 percent owing mainly to the growth in mortgage, consumer, and SME loans.
Despite rapid growth loan portfolio quality was at one of its best levels in the Banк’s history with portfolio at risk (PAR) over one
day past-due at 0.92 percent lower than 1.32 percent in 2006.
Number of borrowers went beyond 60 thousand, up 7.0 percent on a year-to-year basis, although noticeably short of the anticipated goal.
Public deposits stood at MNT63.4 billion, up MNT20.4 billion from 2006. Current account balances for both individuals and businesses rose to MNT11.8 billion, which represents a growth of 118.9 percent from a year earlier.
The Bank was serving more than 224 thousand customer accounts and more than 180 thousand active customers throughout all
provinces and larger towns in Mongolia. This represents an increase of 20.0 percent over 2006.
Net income rose for the sixth straight year, totaling a record MNT2.9 billion, up 63.1 percent over the previous record set in 2006.
Return on equity (ROE) reached 27.90 percent after tax far exceeding the year earlier returns of 19.52 percent. Return on assets
(ROA) was 2.56 percent, up from 2.40 percent in 2006. This was achieved despite decline in yield of portfolio under fierce competition in the banking sector, which resulted in decline of weighted average interest rate of portfolio by 22.1 percent to 21.3 percent
in 2007 from 27.3 percent a year earlier.

Through strategic decisions and growth initiatives, XacBank positioned itself as a leading financial service provider in both urban and
rural areas of Mongolia. Our banking network currently meets the financial needs of this broad customer base through 68 branches
and extension units (39 full-service branches, 29 extension units) in 21 aymags9 and serves half (165) of the total soums10 in Mongolia.
Access to financial services in soums continued through both Franchised Savings and Credit Cooperatives (SCCs) and rural mobile
banking services. The Bank continued to withdraw from direct lending in the soums with transfer of existing loan portfolios to SCCs,
non-bank financial institutions (NBFIs) and other banks. After last year’s turmoil in savings and credit cooperatives sector, the Bank
facilitated re-licensing of its franchisee SCCs jointly with the Financial Regulatory Commission (FRC) – 46 of 56 franchisee SCCs have
been successfully re-licensed in 2007.
The growth of the Bank in 2007 was accelerated by consumer, small and medium size enterprise (SME) and mortgage lending fueled
by improving business environment and favorable macroeconomic conditions particularly in the first half of the year. Consumer, SME
loans, and residential mortgages accounted for most of the 68.3 percent growth in loans in 2007. Residential housing construction
loan was piloted in the first half of the year. Migration of massive number of herders under pressure of climatic changes led to rapid
population growth in cities and towns deteriorating already acute shortage in housing, while generous social spending policy of the
government translated into substantially increased consumer spending.
On the other hand, Standard and Poor’s Ratings Services upgraded the foreign and local currency long-term sovereign credit ratings
on Mongolia to ‘BB-’ from ‘B+’ with a stable outlook. The sovereign transfer and convertibility risk rating was also raised in tandem to
‘BB+’ from ‘BB’, reflecting “the country’s fast-improving debt and external liquidity ratios, in conjunction with its solid growth prospects
on the back of a burgeoning mining sector.” Fitch Ratings affirmed Mongolia’s Long-Term Foreign and Local Currency Issuer Default
Rating (IDR) at ‘B+’. The Outlook of the ratings is Positive.
The Bank disbursed 105,723 loans in 2007, but its share in the total banking sector loan portfolio stood still at 4.81 percent compared
to 4.8 percent in 2006. Although micro loan portfolio increased from MNT19,197 million in 2006 to MNT25,158 million in 2007, the
9

Aymag – largest rural administrative and territorial unit, province
Soum – rural administrative and territorial unit, county
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number of micro-borrowers has declined from 18,550 in 2006 to 16,834 in 2007 increasing the average micro loan size by MNT460
thousand to MNT1,494 thousand, whereas average size of SME loans increased from MNT23,993 thousand to MNT25,268 thousand.
Work continued on refining the Credit Scoring System and an in-house developed computer application was introduced in all branches for select products. The Bank decreased loan interest rates twice in order to improve competitiveness of its products, both loans and
deposits, in part through intensified market survey and research.
The Bank strived to attract new types of accounts – several branches commenced distribution of pensions, children allowances and
benefits for disabled. A number of corporate and international clients’ accounts were opened during the period. As a result, depositors’
number, including the number of current account holders, increased to 180,827 in 2007 from 149,653 in 2006. As of the end of 2007,
total deposits reached MNT63.4 billion, increasing by 47.4 percent, compared to 2006. The Bank’s domestic money transfer transaction’s volume increased to MNT15.0 billion in 2007. As mobilization of deposits in the domestic market was costly, we continued to
rely more on borrowed funds to finance the 68.19 percent growth in loan portfolio in 2007. An improved funds mobilization strategy
was instrumental in funding this growth in a timely fashion. Term loans from international sources funded 46 percent of average earning assets in 2007, compared to 38.0 percent in 2006. Strengthening of the Bank’s liquidity position and MNT41.1 billion growth in
the loan portfolio required an increase in the balance of borrowed funds from MNT34.2 billion to MNT66.0 billion topped by limited
growth in deposits.
To reposition the Bank in the remittances market the Bank launched international money remittances through Western Union. New
partners were signed up with Eurogiro network as well including agreements with Magyar (Hungarian) Post, Korea Post, DeutschePost
Bank, and Austrian Post Bank. Payment card services were expanded by introduction of VISA cards, co-branded bonus cards, loyalty
programs, and new technologies. Cards issued increased from 21 thousand to 43 thousand, of which 41,950 are MasterCard holders
and 1,490 are VISA cardholders. A co-branded card, the MobiCom Loyalty, was released with 1,264 cardholders. MasterCard Platinum
card was successfully introduced, as well. Internet banking, Proximity Cards were piloted at the Head Office and select branches. Full
roll-outs are expected in 2008.  Cash-back services through POS machines were piloted in 100 locations in July 2007.
The Bank entered a second phase of the Customer Contact Center project implementation to provide real-time banking services to clients through a variety of channels. This phase was completed and became operational in December 2007, making XacBank one of the
first banks in Mongolia to allow transactions by phone. Significant achievement of the year was development of branchless banking
or mobile phone banking (M-banking) project with the assistance of the World Bank-led Consultative Group to Assist the Poor (CGAP).
CGAP grant fund was secured for the development of a mobile telephone banking products and services.
The Bank complied with all financial and credit risk limits approved by its Board and the Bank of Mongolia (BoM), the country’s Central
Bank, as of the end of 2007. The Bank is in the process of consolidating its approach to risk management. A project plan for the establishment of the Consolidated Risk Management Unit detailing key milestones and timeframes has been developed, and initial training
on operational risk has been delivered. A bottom-up risk identification program has commenced covering a sample of branches and
all business units in the Head Office. Policy and procedure for implementation of consolidated risk management approach for all
functions of the Bank will be further developed. The Bank successfully implemented IAS 32/39 and IFRS 7 conversion project assisted
by Ernst and Young. Collective and specific assessment methodology in the context of IAS32/39 was applied for the Bank’s outstanding loans. Risk managers prepare Value-at-Risk (VaR) report on daily basis and present other risk management reports on a monthly
basis to the management of the Bank. The Bank is now capable to present estimates on impairment for specific or individual loans, in
addition to collective impairment assessment. Our loan portfolios continue to be well diversified by number, size, type and location.
Throughout the year all limits on maturity gap were in compliance. The Bank has low liquidity risk, but it needs to maintain more cash
reserves due to fast growth in current account and demand deposits especially in local currency. Re-pricing analysis of the implications of interest rate changes of variable rate funds indicate that all limits were in compliance. The asset liability gap up to one year
maintained at around MNT1.0 billion, thus the interest rate exposure was relatively low. The accelerating inflation rate in the second
half of the year as well as mounting competition directly impacted the Bank’s net interest margin which decreased from 2006 level
of 15.3 percent to 11.4 percent for 2007. Declining margins were tackled by increasing yield earning assets by 76.1 percent totaling
MNT119.3 billion at the end of the year, which resulted in financial income increase of MNT4.7 billion to MNT20.5 billion. In addition,
commissions and fees income increased from MNT1.1 billion in 2006 to MNT1.6 billion. Foreign exchange revaluation and trading
income rose by 40.6 percent from MNT134.3 million in 2006 to MNT188.7 million in 2007, thanks to improved foreign exchange management.
The Bank reported after tax net income of MNT2.9 billion in 2007, up 63.1 percent from MNT1.8 billion recorded a year earlier. Return
on equity reached 27.90 percent by the end of the year, climbing 8.38 percentage points from the corresponding figure for 2006. The
Bank tightened its cost controls and managed well its budget goals. Operating cost ratio stayed almost at the same level decreasing
only slightly from 71.41 percent to 71.37 percent, owing mainly to decreasing margins. In 2007, operating expenses stood at MNT8.3
billion, up by 22.7 percent from a year earlier. Personnel expenses increased by 30.9 percent due, in particular, to general salary increases in the country. Salary system was adjusted from monthly performance based scheme back to quarterly bonus scheme. Admin-
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istrative expenses went up by 16.4 percent to MNT4.5 billion from a year earlier. One of the highlights of the year was that the Bank was
able to successfully lead 11 banks to invest in the Mongolian Mortgage Corporation (MIK), created to facilitate secondary mortgage
market operations. In October 2007, the Bank sold its first tranche of USD1.0 million mortgage portfolio to MIK. An SPV under MIK will
issue RMBS through the Mongolian Stock Exchange.
The management worked intensively to develop strategies and new initiatives for the Board of Directors’ consideration and approval
in a timely fashion. CBS replacement, Three-Year Business Plan, XacLeasing, new equity investors are among the issues presented and
approved by the Board. One of the key policy documents developed during the year by the management and approved by the Board
is the Strategic Equity Increase Plan of the Bank.
The 2006 Annual Report developed in line with requirements of Global Reporting Initiative (GRI) was released in 2007 with a selfdeclared application status. To disseminate the ideas and build awareness about GRI standards as well as Social and Environmental
Performance Audit trainings were conducted for relevant co-workers, including all credit managers in the fourth quarter of 2007. In
addition, the Bank joined the UN Global Compact, the world’s largest, global corporate citizenship initiative concerned with exhibiting
and building the social legitimacy of business and markets. This further demonstrates the Bank’s commitment to public accountability, transparency and enlightened self-interest to initiate and share substantive action in pursuing 10 universally accepted principles
in the areas of human rights, labor, the environment and anti-corruption, upon which the Global Compact is based.
On 14 May 2007, Moody’s Investors Service upgraded the initial rating it gave to XacBank, as initially assigned on 5 December 2006.
The adoption of joint-default analysis methodology resulted in one-notch upgrades in the Bank’s long-term global local currency
deposit and long-term domestic currency issuer ratings to Ba1. On 30 November 2007, Moody’s Investors Service re-affirmed its credit
opinion on XacBank, giving a strong confidence to stakeholders that the Bank successfully maintained ratings in volatile environment
in the second half of the year.
The Bank faced a number of operational challenges in 2007. There were considerable capacity shortages in executing Activity Based
Costing (ABC) exercise across the Bank for all products. The goal of bringing the staff turnover ratio from 20.0 percent in 2006 below
15.0 percent in 2007 was not fulfilled, despite significant efforts made during the year. The Bank could not hire as planned middleaged job seekers, non-career seeking job applicants and disabled in line with the newly adopted Human Resources Policy and in
compliance with labor law. The Bank was unable to fully cope with the task to establish a disaster recovery site and test it according to
the Business Continuity Plan. The Bank encountered serious hurdles in smooth processing and servicing of its payment cards due to
heavy dependence on third party card processors.
In the year of 2008, the Bank is facing new challenges and will have to intelligently navigate in a high inflationary environment. The
Bank needs to strive for even higher growth rates if it is to increase the market share in the banking sector, currently at 4.87 percent in
terms of loan portfolio. The Bank will focus on enhancing its image of a professional, flexible, client-responsive service provider and a
leader in corporate social responsibility. The Bank will continue to maintain and enhance its role of a premier microfinance provider,

On 12 December 2007, XacBank
signed a Share Purchase Agreement
with its new strategic investors, the
European Bank for Reconstruction and
Development (EBRD) and the International Finance Corporation (IFC). This
strategic equity investment in the Bank
will further support increased access
to financial services for people and
contribute to the social and economic
development of Mongolia.
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while at the same time positioning itself as a bank of choice for small and medium enterprises (SMEs) and the corporate community.
New strategic investors, the International Finance Corporation (IFC) and the European Bank of Reconstruction and Development
(EBRD), will further support increased access to financial services for people and contribute to the social and economic development
of Mongolia. Alongside investments, both IFC and the EBRD are bringing to the Bank expertise on housing mortgages, SME loans,
insurance products, asset securitizations, leasing and trade financing.
Management will focus its attention of the implementation of the recently approved Business Plan for 2008-2010 with its enriched Vision and Mission statements. Already under way are initiatives to take advantage of opportunities identified in the Business Plan. The
Bank must continuously build upon its strengths and address its weaknesses, while meeting fierce competition. The Bank developed
and finalized a lean and effective organizational structure with results-oriented processes which will be followed starting in January
2008. It will apply the principles of accountability, transparency and responsiveness in all of its operations. One of the major undertakings in the new year is to complete the Bank’s needs assessment for the new Core Banking System (CBS) and select a system vendor
for its full implementation in 2008. Delivering high-quality customer service continues to be one of the primary objectives of the Bank
for 2008.
Key to achieving Mission related goals stipulated in various corporate documents of the Bank but most importantly engraved in our
hearts are skilled and motivated people in the workforce. The management and the entire XacBank team are fully committed to continuing as a high-performance team to build shareholders’ value over the long term, and to further improve chances for the Mongol
people to achieve financial freedom.

Ganhuyag Ch. Hutagt, Chief Executive Officer
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EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT TEAM
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Mr. BOLD Magvan

		

Ms. BOLOR Tserendorj

VP and Director, Treasury Division

Mr. DAURENBEK Serikjan

VP and Chief Risk Officer
Director, Consolidated Risk Management Division

Ms. DELGERJARGAL Bayanjargal

EVP and Chief Operating Officer
Director, Operations Management Division

Ms. ERDENECHIMEG Dorjgotov

VP and Chief Auditor
Director, Internal Audit Division

Mr. GANHUYAG Ch. Hutagt

Chief Executive Officer

Mr. GANZORIG Vanchig

VP and Director, Marketing Division

Ms. GERELMAA Yunden

EVP and Chief Credit Officer
Director, Credit Management Division

Mr. SORONZONBOLD Lhagvasuren

VP and Director, Banking Services Division

Ms. TUUL Baljir

VP and Director, Finance and Accounting Division

		

Mr. TUR-OD Lkhagvajav
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OUR HISTORICAL FINANCIAL STATISTICS
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Our Brief History - XacBank Making Microfinance Work
XacBank was created as a result of the merger of two largest non-bank financial institutions (NBFI) in Mongolia, Goviin Ehlel (Gobi
Start) LLC and XAC (Golden Fund for Development) LLC, on 1st of October 2001. Goviin Ehlel LCC was established by Mercy Corps
in December 1999 with funding from USAID as a NBFI serving rural businesses. XAC LLC began in 1998 as part of the MicroStart
Mongolia project under UNDP, shortly afterwards transformed into Mongolia’s first NBFI by uniting the micro-financial service
activities of six national NGOs.  
These NBFIs originally operated in different geographic regions and were serving different markets, Small and Medium enterprises
loans vs. Micro business. However, both organizations had the same strategic goal of becoming nationwide banking institution,
offering a full range of financial services. All these factors became the foundation of the merger of these two independent institutions
to form XacBank - the first commercial bank in Mongolia with a social mission.   
By the end of its first year of operation in 2002, the Bank established its presence in each of 21 aymags in the country. Since that
time the Bank has continued to expand with new branch and extensions, franchising saving and credit cooperatives etc, fulfilling its
mission and strategy of providing the most accessible and transparent banking services aimed at the marginalized citizens in remote
rural areas, including the nomadic herders. The Bank is continuously growing and becoming an innovative leader in offering a full
range of innovative loan and deposit products with personalized customer service targeted at various segments of the market.
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HIGHLIGHTS OF THE YEAR

•

XacBank’s net after tax income increased for the sixth straight year, totaling a record MNT2.9 billion. Total assets ended the year
at an unprecedented MNT143.4 billion. Loan portfolio hit MNT101.9 billion with a total of 60,719 loans. Return on Equity reached
27.9 percent after tax, whereas Return on Assets was 2.6 percent.

•

The Bank advanced to 49th place among top 100 high performing microfinance institutions according to the 2007 MIX (Microfinance Information eXchange) Global 100 composite ranking of leading micro-finance institutions in the World in terms of
profitability, outreach, efficiency and transparency.

•

On 14 May 2007, Moody’s Investors Service upgraded the initial rating it gave to the Bank, as first assigned on 5 December 2006.
The adoption of joint-default analysis methodology resulted in one-notch upgrades in the Bank’s long-term global local currency
deposit and long-term domestic currency issuer ratings to Ba1. On 30 November 2007, Moody’s Investors Service re-affirmed its
credit opinion on XacBank

•

New strategic investors, the EBRD and IFC, signed a Share Purchase Agreement with the Bank on 12 December 2007. This
strategic equity investment will further support increased access to financial services by people and contribute to the economic
development of Mongolia.

•

The Bank was able to successfully lead 11 commercial banks to invest in Mongolian Mortgage Corporation (MIK), created to
facilitate secondary mortgage market operations. XacBank became the first Mongolian bank to securitize a portion of its primary
mortgages. In October 2007, the Bank sold its first tranche of USD1.0 million mortgage portfolio to MIK.

•

The Bank’s CEO was elected to the Board of the Microfinance Centre (MFC) for Central and Eastern Europe and the New Independent
States, a grass-root network of 110 member microfinance institutions, serving over 700,000 clients in 26 countries in the region.

•

The Bank signed the United Nations (UN) Global Compact on 11 September 2007 and joined the Corporate Social Responsibility
Council, set up by the initiative of Mongolian National Chamber of Commerce and Industry (MNCCI), comprising 13 leading
Mongolian companies, and the President of the Bank was chosen as the first Chair of the newly established Council.

•

The Bank has accepted the Ministry of Social Welfare and Labor’s invitation to become an ex-officio member and sit as a
representative of the private sector employers in the tri-partite (i.e. the government, employers and employees) Sub-Council on
Employment Issues for Disabled Persons.

•

The Bank of Mongolia (Central Bank) conducted its regular on-site examination of the Bank in the fourth quarter of 2007. XacBank
once again received CAMELS10 1.6 score, the highest among all 16 commercial banks in Mongolia.

•

The Bank was presented with the World Bank led Consultative Group to Assist the Poor (CGAP)’s Financial Transparency Award for
2006, for a third consecutive time, during 10th MFC Annual Conference held in Sofia, Bulgaria, on 31 May -2 June 2007.

•

The Bank has been awarded with a 'Top Business Entity with Best Corporate Social Responsibility for 2007' as well as a 'Top–5
banks for 2007' at the annual 'Mercury’ ceremony organized jointly by MNCCI and the Government of Mongolia.

On 11 September 2007, XacBank signed
and formally joined the UN Global
Compact, the world’s largest global corporate citizenship initiative concerned
with exhibiting and building the social
legitimacy of business and markets.
This initiative further demonstrates the
Bank’s firm commitment to public transparency and enlightened self-interest.
The Bank will initiate and share substantive action in pursuing ten universally
accepted principles in the areas of human rights, labor, the environment and
anti-corruption.

10

CAMELS – risk analyses on C: capital adequacy, A: asset quality, M: management skills, E: earnings and accounting, L: liquidity, S: sensitivity to market risk.
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KEY FINANCIAL AND OPERATIONAL FIGURES
INDICATORS

2007

(in millions of MNT, unless indicated otherwise)
2006

GROWTH AND OUTREACH
Total Assets *
Total Equity
Gross Loan Portfolio*
Number of Active Loans
Volume of Loans Disbursed

Change (2007 vs. 2006)
(07-06)

%

143,427.6

88,921.6

54,506.1

61.3

13,228.6

10,868.8

2,359.8

21.7

101,890.4

60,836.3

41,054.2

67.5

60,719

56,744

3,975.0

7.0

156,237.1

103,104.4

53,132.7

51.5

Number of Loans Disbursed

105,723

101,246

4,477

4.4

Savings Deposits*

51,591.0

37,620.5

13,970.5

37.1

Number of Depositors

103,288

82,868

20,420.0

24.6

Balance of Current Accounts*

11,761.0

5,372.8

6,388.2

118.9

Number of Current Accounts

77,539

66,785

10,754.0

16.1

Number of Cardholders

43,440

21,252

22,188

104.4

Number of SCCs

56

80

(24)

(30.0)

5,494

4,830

664

13.7

Total Assets of SCCs

1,508.2

850.0

658.2

77.4

Total Loan Portfolio SCCs

1,258.1

768.4

489.7

63.7

133,083.3

130,295.2

2,788.1

2.1

14.984.9

13,238.2

1,746.7

13.2
0.9

Number of SCCs’ Members

Total Volume of Remittances
       Domestic Remittances
       International Transfers & Remittances

118,098.4

117,057.0

1,041.4

Number of Staff

801

741

60

8.1

Number of LAC Members

206

379

(173)

(45.6)

68

65

3

4.6

165

182

(17)

(9.3)

63.1

Number of Branch and Extension Units
Number of Soums Covered
PROFITABILITY AND PRODUCTIVITY
Net Profit After Tax

2,891.8

1,773.2

1,118.6

Return on Average Assets (%)

2.56

2.40

0.16

6.5

Return on Average Equity (%)

27.90

19.52

8.38

42.9

Financial Self-Sufficiency (%)

115.61

117.48

(1.87)

(1.6)

Operational Self-Sufficiency (%)

119.00

119.17

(0.17)

(0.1)

360

221

139

63.1

Yield on Portfolio (%)

23.69

29.24

(5.55)

(19.0)

Operating Cost Ratio (%)

71.37

71.41

(0.04)

(0.1)

Deposit to Loan Ratio (%)*

50.63

61.84

(11.21)

(18.1)

PAR > 1 Day (%)

0.92

1.32

(0.40)

(30.3)

Savers per Staff Member

129

112

17

15.3

26.09

25.37

0.72

2.8

291

302

(11)

(3.7)

481.7

318.1

163.6

51.4

11.08

15.81

(4.73)

(29.9)

0.69

0.81

(0.12)

(14.8)

70.04

67.12

2.92

4.4

6.35

8.97

(2.62)

(29.3)

Borrowed funds as percentage of total assets (%)

46.04

38.50

7.54

19.6

Related parties loans to the equity ratio total<20%

15.08

15.16

(0.08)

(0.5)

20 largest borrowers to the equity ratio (total)

43.91

40.02

3.89

9.7

15.10

6.00

9.1

151.7

9.9

8.40

1.5

17.9

GDP per capita (MNT thousands)

1,729.6

1,230.30

499.30

40.6

Exchange Rate (USD/MNT)

1,170.0

1,165.0

5.0

0.4

Earnings per Share (MNT)

Loan Officer Ratio (%)
Loan Officer Productivity
Portfolio per Credit Officer
PRUDENTIAL RATIOS
Equity and risk weighted assets ratio (10%)
Reserve ratio (%)
Loans in total assets (%)
Fixed assets in total assets (%)*

MAIN ECONOMIC INDICATORS
Inflation Rate (%)
GDP Growth Rate (%)

* In accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)7.
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Sources: XacBank and the Government of Mongolia, 2007

PROFIT

Our Footprint on Economic Development

OUR CLIENT SUCCESS STORY
XacBank client Mr. Jabai Bahyt, a former Mongolian civil airplane motor-mechanic, received his first microloan in the amount of MNT600,000 (approx.USD511) in 2002 to start to make dombra, Kazakh national
musical instrument.  

PROFIT: OUR FOOTPRINT ON ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

Macroeconomic Environment and Human Development
During 2007 a global economic growth slowed down with financial turmoil, triggered by sub prime market crisis in the United States.
Depreciating US Dollar and increasing uncertainty about the US financial market pushing prices of oil, food and minerals up. Increasing gold and copper prices will have positive impact on Mongolian budget and foreign debt serving facilities. On other hand increasing international food and oil prices are driving the Mongolian domestic price levels up. Mongolian inflation is not only imported but
has been accommodated by expansionary monetary and fiscal policies. As a result the inflation rate climbed to 15.1 percent in 2007.
The inflation rates of main trade partners will be high in 2008 and expected about 10 percent in Russia and up to 7.0 percent in China.
In lieu of these developments, the Bank of Mongolia (Central Bank) is tightening the monetary policy considerably in anticipation of
increasing inflationary pressures. The Bank of Mongolia (Central Bank) raised policy rate and set tougher conditions for commercial
banks on cash reserves. This inflationary pressure is expected to continue in 2008 due to the upcoming parliamentary and local elections, owning to increasing social security spending and new social welfare commitments.
Country ratings for 2007: International organizations, including World Bank (WB) and International Monetary Fund (IMF) have been
closely monitoring Mongolian economic performance. These organizations report improved economic performance mainly attributed to increased commodity prices (mainly copper and gold), while at the same they note high dependency on export of mineral
resources. International rating companies improved ratings of the Mongolian economy. For example, Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services announced on 14 December 2007, that Mongolian Issuer Rating has increased from “B+” to “BB-“ with “stable” outlook. Moody’s
Investors Service increased its rating to Mongolia from “B1” to “Ba1” by the end of the year. Increased government debt serving reserves, with resulting improved debt repayment capability, coupled with rapid growth of the financial sector were the basis of the
country’s economic rating upgrade. FitchRatings confirmed its rating “B+” with a “positive” outlook. According to Freedom Index of
Heritage Fund of the USA, Mongolian economy was ranked 62nd among 170 countries surveyed in 2008. In the previous year it was
ranked 78th with 59.2 points. This rating shows that Mongolia is becoming a country with improving financial and economic freedom,
but rudimentary property rights, corruption and bureaucracy of the justice system are the factors which negatively affect the ranking.
Furthermore, Transparency International scored Mongolia as 3.0 (with least corrupt scoring at 9.4 points for Denmark) and country
ranking at 99th place among 179 countries in its Corruption Perception Index (CPI). In terms of human development, Mongolia was
ranked by United Nations Development Programme (UNDP) at 114th place out of 177 countries, with medium of 0.700 points in its
Human Development Index (HDI).
Real sector: As reported by the National Statistics Office (NSO), real GDP growth rate was 9.9 percent in 2007 compared to 8.1 percent
between 2002 and 2006. GDP per capita doubled within last two years and reached USD1,480. Mining sector accounted for 30.0
percent of GDP, and the year 2007 has seen positive price impact of high international prices for copper, main exporting item, on the
economy as a whole, and the state budget, in particular. On the negative side, manufacturing industry produces only 5-6 percent of
the GDP, that is 4 times lower than the average from low income countries in the peer group. This weak performance of the manufacturing sector creates a serious challenge if the aim is to achieve export diversification and promote import substituting industries. The
export is driven mostly by raw materials from mining and agricultural sectors whereas most of consumption goods are imported. The
agricultural sector, which shares 20.0 percent of GDP, remains to be extremely vulnerable to external shock and climate change. Only
20.0 percent of raw materials are processed by domestic companies, whereas the remaining 80 percent is exported directly to foreign
countries. On the other hand, most domestic manufacturing companies use only 50 percent of their full capacity. The last annual livestock census reported 40.3 million livestock, an increase from 34.8 million a year earlier. Service and trade sectors cumulatively share
20.0 percent of GDP and have brighter potential to expand in the future. While the retail sale sector remained somewhat stagnant,
the volume of wholesale trade increased dramatically, with sharp increase of market share of whole sale trade companies pushing out
micro- and small traders out of business.
Informal sector: According to the NSO the size of informal sector is estimated to account 5-6 percent of total GDP in 2007. The number of self-employed in the informal sector dropped from 126 thousand in 2003 to 53 thousand in 2005. In recent years most selfemployed were active in the trade sector, but since 2006 the artisanal mining sector became the biggest host to them.

GDP and informal sector (current price)
GDP
(MNT billion)

Year

Estimated volume of informal
sector
(in MNT billion)

Informal sector
(as share in GDP)

1997

832.6

35.0

291.4

2000

1,172.7

18.4

215.8

2004

2,152.1

8.5

182.9

2007

4,557.5

5.5

250.6
Source: NSO, 2008.
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Population, unemployment and poverty: In 2007 Mongolian population grew by 40 thousand and reached 2,635.0 thousand. According to official statistics, the real household income grew by more than 15 percent in the same year. This growth is driven primarily
by increased wages and salaries for civil servants, pension for retired people as well as allowances for young families and child support funds. Despite the reported increase in created new jobs (about 50 thousand new jobs created in 2007, as reported by the NSO),
however, the official unemployment rate did not decline significantly and remains at 3.2 percent of labor force. Due to the obsolete
methodology used by the NSO the actual unemployment rate has not been recorded correctly in recent years. According to the international (ILO) methodology, the estimated actual unemployment rate is likely to account to 12-14 percent. According to the NSO,
32.0 percent of total population is living under official poverty line. As mentioned in the UNDP Mongolia Human Development Report
for 2007, poverty is a much more widespread phenomenon than unemployment, and its main roots are not limited just to unemployment or lack of creation of new jobs. According to some analysts, only 1 in 10 (household head) poor is unemployed. If one has to
assume that the unemployment rate is 14.0 percent (which is 5.4 percent of the entire population), then 32 percent of total population
falls into category of ‘poor’, in other words, a remarkable portion of the poor is “working poor”, not unemployed.
National currency value and inflation: During 2007, the net international reserves (NIR), or foreign currency reserves exceeded for
the first time in the Mongolian history USD1.0 billion, which is equivalent to about 24 weeks of imports. The exchange rate of MNT was
relatively stable against the US dollar but depreciated against Euro (by 12 percent) and Chinese Yuan (by 7.4 percent). The weakening
position of US dollar on major international markets explains the ‘relative stability’ of the national currency against US dollar. Despite
the Government’s estimate of 5 percent inflation, the country’s inflation picked up to reach 15.1 percent and was driven mostly by
price increase of food items (24.6 percent), utilities (11.3 percent), transportation (10.6 percent, including 27.0 percent increase of
fuel), and education services (20.2 percent). This marked high inflation is caused by expansionary monetary policy of previous years,
increased public expenditure, increased investment due to falling interest rates, increased household income, price increase of imported items caused by MNT depreciation, tariff and tax increase on Russian oil exports and supply side shock due to aged railway
capacity and poor development of transportation sector.
Banking and financial sector: Due to time-lag effect of previous liberalization policy and recent high economic growth rate the Mongolian banking sector has seen rapid growth, and its profitability increased dramatically. However tight competition by existing commercial banks on the overcrowded market is likely to lead to even more intensive competition and decreasing profit margins. While
the smaller banks are loosing their market shares, the bigger banks became even larger. The increasing foreign direct investment in
Mongolian banks is boosting this competition. 2007 saw further development of the stock market. The total market capitalization increased 13 times against the end of 2005 and reached MNT717.6 billion by the end of 2007 mainly due to increasing nominal value of
shares and market value of listed companies, on one hand, and the increased number of foreign and domestic investment companies
with high purchasing power, on the other hand. However, the number of listed companies remained unchanged.

XacBank organized on 2 June 2007 an
“Open Door” event for its co-workers
and their children, 781 all in all.
At the Bank we are committed to doing whatever we can to make it easier
for our co-workers to balance work
and family life. The above event was
organized to bring closer the Bank to
co-workers’ families, and especially
their children, and encourage them to
learn about work of their parents.

XacBank
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Banking Services and Institutional Impact
The Bank’s business development policy is designed to offer and provide inclusive services and innovative products to its customers.
As of 31 December 2007, the Bank had assets of MNT143.4 billion, up MNT54.5 billion from the end 2006. The Bank’s loan portfolio
reached MNT101.9 billion among 60,719 loans. Loans were up MNT41.1 billion owing mainly to growth in mortgage, consumer, SME
and micro loans. In addition, cash and deposits with other financial institutions and the Central Bank bills increased by MNT10.6 billion.
During the period 105,723 loans of MNT156.2 billion were disbursed compared to 101,246 loans of MNT103.1 billion in 2006. Average size of micro-loan was MNT1,494 thousands, up from MNT1,035 thousand a year earlier. Growth in number of loans was mainly
attributable to the increase in consumer loans and mortgage loans. Herder and micro loans further declined due to the restriction of
rural loans. Public deposits stood at MNT63.4 billion as of end of the 2007, up MNT20.4 billion from the previous year. Current account
balances for both individuals and businesses rose to MNT11.8 billion, which represents a growth of 118.9 percent from a year earlier.
Main indicators

2007

2006

Number of loans disbursed

105,723

101,246

4.4

Loan disbursement (million MNT)

156,237

103,104

51.5

Number of outstanding loans as the year-end
Loan portfolio outstаnding (million MNT)*
Average size of outstanding loans (MNT)
Market share (%)

Growth (%)

60,719

56,744

7.0

101,890

60,836

67.5

1,678,065

1,072,118

56.5

4.9

4.9

0.0

The Bank’s new strategic equity investors, namely the International Finance Corporation and the European Bank for Reconstruction
and Development, are closely cooperating with the Bank on provision of housing mortgages, securitization, insurance products, leasing, and trade finance products to Mongolian people.

Financial Performance and Results
The interest income on loans increased by MNT4.4 billion to MNT18.2 billion over the last twelve months despite a significant pressure
on the yield on portfolio which produced a decrease in the net interest margin from 15.3 percent in December 2006 to 11.4 percent as
of the end 2007. Commissions and fees income increased from MNT1.1 billion in 2006 to MNT1.6 billion, owing to renewed efforts to
increase share of non-interest income in total revenues.

XacBank inaugurated its Business
Service Center on 1 October 2007,
which offers targeted, comprehensive
banking services to small and medium
enterprises.
The Bank’s Business Service Center
also caters to an ever-increasing need
for customized financial services
from foreign embassies, major donor
organizations and their projects,
private customers and public entities in
Mongolia.

*In accordance with the IFRS7.
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Foreign exchange revaluation and trading income rose by 40.6 percent from MNT134.3 million in 2006 to MNT188.7 million in 2007,
thanks to improved foreign exchange management.

Profitability
(in MNT million)

2007

2006

2007/2006 (%)

Total Income

20,728.8

15,973.8

29.8%

Total Expense

17,837.0

14,200.6

25.6%

Net Income

2,891.8

1,773.2

63.1%

ROA (%)

2.56

2.40

6.5%

ROE (%)*

27.90

19.52

42.9%

MNT41.1 billion annual growth in loan portfolio required to increase the borrowed funds from MNT34.2 billion to MNT66.0 billion, and
the balance was financed by public deposits which increased by MNT20.4 billion. Yield earning assets increased by 76.1 percent and
reached MNT119.3 billion. Fixed assets ratio dropped to 6.35 percent by the end 2007 from 8.97 percent in 2006.

Revenues
(in MNT million)
Interest Income on Loans
Investment Income

2007

2006

07/06 (%)

18,225.6

13,867.0

31.4%

609.8

728.1

-16.2%

1,591.6

1,134.2

40.3%

Net Forex and Revaluation Income

188.7

134.3

40.6%

Non-Operational Operating Income

113.0

110.2

2.5%

20,728.8

15,973.8

29.8%

Commissions and Fees

Total Income

In the reporting period the Bank made tax payment of MNT593.6 million, including deferred taxes from 2006. For 2007 fiscal year
MNT369.6 million was paid in taxes out of estimated MNT408.4 million. The Bank operated within the limits on foreign exchange and
liquidity. In addition, in order to reduce the risks associated with the looming crisis in the global financial markets and sudden fluctuations in foreign exchange rates, the weight of local currency denominated assets was raised by 4.03 percent, foreign currency liabilities
decreased by 3.40 percent. Fixed assets to total assets ratio decreased from 9.0 percent to 6.3 percent in order to comply with Bank
of Mongolia (Central Bank) requirements. Whereas the Bank’s revenues increased by MNT4.7 billion or 29.8 percent as compared with
end-2006 and reached MNT20.7 billion in 2007.

Expenses
2007

2006

07/06 (%)

Interest Expenses on Current accounts and deposits

(in MNT million)

5,105.1

4,057.6

25.8%

Interest Expenses on Borrowed funds

3,628.0

2,148.3

68.9%

340.3

397.4

-14.4%

Personnel Expense

3,895.2

2,975.3

30.9%

Other Operating Expense

4,451.3

3,825.6

16.4%

417.2

796.4

-47.6%

17,837.0

14,200.6

25.6%

Provision Expense

Income Tax Expense
Total Expenses

In 2007, the Bank earned MNT2.9 billion net income after tax, an increase by MNT1.1 billion. Despite acute market competition in a
favorable economic environment, income earning assets ratio in total assets increased by 7.0 percent, and income growth exceeded
expense growth by 4.2 points as result of accelerated operational growth, and measures undertaken to increase productivity and
efficiency.

* Not including current year net surplus or deficit.
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Due to profitability growth, return on assets (ROA) slightly increased from 2.4 percent to 2.6 percent, and the return on equity (ROE)
climbed from 19.5 percent to 27.9 percent. The return of loan portfolio decreased from 29.2 percent to 23.7 percent as a result of the
Bank’s policy to reduce interest rate on loans.

Composition of assets - 2007

Composition of assets - 2006

Cash 10.4%
Cash 7.0%

Placements 10.7%

Placements 13.6%

Loans /net/ 67.9%

Loans /net/ 70.6%

Securities 0.0%

Securities 1.2%

Fixed assets 9.0%

Fixed assets 6.3%

Intangible assets 0.4%

Other assets 1.1%

Other assets 1.6%

Interest income on loans grew by MNT4.4 billion or 31.4 percent from previous year and reached MNT18.2 billion, which equaled to
87.9 percent of total income. The main changes appeared in the structure of interest income on loans compared with the previous
year: the Bank’s income from micro loans constituted 33.1 percent of interest income on total loans, as decreasing by 9.0 percent from
2006, the increase loan portfolio, while the interest income on SME reached 13.7 percent growing up by 6.2 percent.

Risk Management and Compliance
XacBank complied with all credit risk limits approved by its Board and the Bank of Mongolia (Central Bank) as of the end 2007. The
Bank’s loan loss provision expense decreased by MNT74.8 million to MNT318.3 million in 2007. The loan loss reserve ratio reduced
from 0.81 percent in 2006 to 0.69 percent in 2007. 129 loans of MNT87.2 million were written-off during the 2007 from the reserves.
The Bank uses Value-at-Risk (VaR)12 and other statistical approaches to measure and manage credit risk. The Bank calculates its expected credit losses using PD (Probability of Default) and LGD (Loss Given Default) based on historical information. In this last quarter,
the Bank has improved its credit risk methodology, as a follow up to the Ernst & Young external audit recommendations, and then
expected credit loss and VaR have been revised accordingly. Expected credit losses for the end of 2007 are 0.61 percent of the total
exposure which is a 0.03 percentage points increase since the third quarter. According to the International Accounting Standards, the
required collective loan impairment is estimated at MNT516.6 million.
Portfolio at risk >1 day as of the end 2007 amounted to MNT928.6 million comprising 0.92 percent of total portfolio, which was
MNT791.8 in 2006 making up 1.32 percent of the loan portfolio in 2006.
In 2007, XacBank successfully implemented International Accounting Standards (IAS) 32/39 and International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS) 7 conversion project assisted by the Ernst & Young. Collective and specific assessment methodology in the context
of IAS 32/39 was applied for the Bank’s outstanding loans as of 31 August 2007. The collective assessment method calculates PD and
LGD by each risk groups (i.e. product groups) for the whole loan portfolio as the specific assessment calculates expected risk of selected individual loans. The Bank is now capable to present estimates on impairment for specific or individual loans as of end-2007, in
addition to collective impairment assessment. Assessment of specific loan impairment was conducted for the 87 largest performing
loans and 30 non-performing loans. The assessment resulted in specific loan impairment of MNT100.2 million, owing solely to 30 nonperforming loans. The total impairment estimated in accordance with IAS 39 at MNT616.8 is lower than MNT693.2 million required by
the Bank of Mongolia (Central Bank).
Furthermore, the Bank revamped its Anti-Money Laundering (AML) and Counter Terrorist Financing (CTF) Regulations in January 2007,
in order to improve its strict compliance with the international and domestic AML/CTF policies and procedures, including the KnowYour-Customer (KYC) standards.

12
The Value-at-Risk (VaR) simulation model is one of the main tools used to manage market risk. VaR is the maximum value of potential daily
losses, measured at a 99 percent confidence level, which means that actual losses are likely to exceed VaR only one day out of 100.
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PEOPLE

Our Footprint on Human Society

 Back in 2002, Mr. Bahyt was able to make only 2 or 3 dombras a day, and his wife, a former worker of
Gobi Cashmere factory, used to sell them in the local market. The big family of 7 people used to live in a
two-room house. After gaining more experience and getting 7 consequent loans from XacBank, Mr. Bahyt
currently makes about 10 dombra in two days, and for three years now he has been exporting 60 percent
of his hand-made dombras to Kazakhstan. 

PEOPLE: OUR FOOTPRINT ON HUMAN SOCIETY

Customers and Communities
XacBank truly believes that sustainable development can only come from educated and skilled people and businesses concerned
equally about Profit, People and the Planet. The Bank’s business operations policy is designed to offer and provide inclusive services
and innovative products to its customers and local communities, including those in remote rural areas. Therefore, the Bank is extending its services to clients, individuals, micro-entrepreneurs, small and medium-sized businesses, children, students and Mongolians
living and working abroad by offering various credit and value added savings products.
By the end of 2007 the Bank had 60,719 active borrowers, a 7.0 percent increase from 2006. Rural clients form more than half of the
Bank’s borrowers (62.5 percent), while 51.6 percent of our total borrowers were new clients. Since its foundation the Bank has been
supporting women to start their businesses and to increase their family income by offering start-up business loans and savings products. Currently half of our active borrowers are women living and working throughout Mongolia.

Loan portfolio

Active loans by size

MNT Million

MNT Million

60,000
51,231

50,000
42,843

40,000
30,000
20,000

24,368

26,581
9,887

10,000

7,816

0

13,997

2007

2006
Rural mobile banking

16,000
14,000
12,000
10,000
8,000
6,000
4,000
2,000
0

Aymags

Ulaanbaatar city

13,976
10,473

9,422

4,024

4,233

2,819

1,775

31-Dec-07
up to MNT 0.3 million

0.3-0.5

0.5-1.0

1.0-2.0

2.0-3.0

3.0-5.0

5.0-10.0

over MNT 10.0 million

The Bank’s most loyal clients are children, whose number reached 62 thousand with 34.0 percent of total saving account holders. Elderly and retired citizens are among the Bank’s loyal clients as well, with long-term savings or pension accounts of total value amounting to MNT1.9 billion. In addition to offering tuition fee loans, the Bank supported entrepreneurial students by providing start-up
group business loans. In 2007 alone, at least 34 entrepreneurial students received loans of MNT67.5 million to create 50 new jobs.  In
overall 38.0 percent of our clients are young people aged between 18 and 35 years of age.

XacBank started a partnership with the
Ministry of Social Welfare and Labor
and the Mongolian Students Federation in 2007 to support entrepreneurial
students by providing start-up business
loans from the Employment Generation
Fund. 38 percent of the Bank’s clients
are young people aged between 18 and
35 years of age. In addition to offering
tuition fee loans, at least 35 entrepreneurial students received loans, totaling
MNT67.5 million, allowing these
student-clients to create more than 50
new jobs.
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The Bank disbursed a total of MNT164.2 million tuition fee loans to 134 students as well as start-up business loans of MNT67.5 million
for entrepreneurial students to support their projects in web design, architecture and design, setting up internet cafe, hairdressing
salons. Moreover, the Bank expanded its international remittance services through the newly launched Eurogiro and Western Union
networks for more than 100 thousand Mongolians, living and working in other countries.
In 2007, the Bank disbursed loans with total value of MNT156.2 billion to 105,723 borrowers. By the end of the reporting period the
Bank’s total portfolio reached MNT101.9 billion, a 67.5 percent increase over the previous year. SME loans and mortgage loans in the
portfolio increased substantially, whereas SME loans increased by 154.7 percent, and mortgage loans by 109.5 percent. There was
a significant increase in portfolio of micro-business and other loan products as well. New loan products were launched for microentrepreneurs to start their business.

Loan portfolio by product - 2007

Loan portfolio by product - 2006

Micro loan 25.0%

Micro loan 32.1%

SME loan 21.9%

SME loan 14.5%

Consumption loan 15.9%

Consumption loan 14.3%

Leasing 7.9%

Wholesale loan 1.1%

Wholesale loan 0.4%

Rural loan 8.3%

Rural loan 3.4%

Mortgage 15.3%

Mortgage 19.0%

Other loan 8.5%

Other loan 6.5%

Leasing 5.9%

In the reporting period, the Bank disbursed MNT46.1 billion to a total of 24,143 micro businesses. Loans disbursed under MNT300
thousand comprised 40.7 percent, while 74.05 percent were below MNT1.0 million, аnd 95.2 percent under MNT5.0 million. The average outstanding loan amounted to MNT1,678.1 thousand, growing by MNT605.9 thousand against the end 2006. This increase of average outstanding loan is largely attributed to the enhanced focus on SME and housing loans, on one hand, and an increased income
of the population, on the other hand.
In 2007, the total number of Bank’s current and savings account holders reached 180,827, and the value of total deposits hit MNT63.4
billion. Last year saw higher growth rates compared with previous years, and the total number of account holders grew by 20.8 percent, whereas the deposit volume increased by 47.4 percent, as result of growing savings by companies and individuals.
At the end of the year, current accounts accounted for 18.6 percent of total deposits, demand deposits formed 25.9 percent, and time
deposits represented the remaining 55.5 percent.
Compared with the previous year, deposits in foreign currency rose by 71.2 percent due to increased inflation and unstable exchange
rate of MNT against major foreign currencies, as well as the growing volume of remittances by Mongolian diaspora, living and working
abroad.

Total deposits

Number of accounts

MNT Billion
40
35
30
25
20
15
10
5
0

120,000

35.2
28.3

80,000
60,000

16.4
5.4

9.3

11.8

Current account

40,000

Demand deposit

20,000

Time deposit
2006

2007

108,227

100,000

97,517
52,136

72,600

Rural
Ulaanbaatar

0
2006

2007

The number of account holders grew by 11.0 percent in rural areas, and by 39.3 percent in urban areas compared with the earlier
period.
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At the end of 2007, the value of long-term saving or pension accounts reached MNT1.9 billion and its share in total deposits increased
as result of growing interest of clients in this saving product. Сompared with the previous year, the total domestic remittances volume
increased by 13.2 percent and reached MNT14,984.9 million, whereas international remittances volume grew by 0.9 percent and
totaled to MNT118,098.4 million. Rural area clients received 85.0 percent of domestic remittances services whereas clients in Ulaanbaatar received 80.0 percent of international remittances services.

Deposit by products - 2007

Deposit by products - 2006

Current account 19%

Current account 12%

Demand deposit 26%

Demand deposit 22%

Short term deposit 30%

Short term deposit 42%

Children’s savings 22%

Children’s savings 22%

Long term savings 3%

Long term savings 2%

By the end 2007, the total number of card holders reached 43,440, a two-fold increase from 2006, resulting in 1.3 points increase in
market share to 6.4 percent. In 2007 the Bank introduced Cash Back service in the market. At end-2007 the Bank provided cumulatively
12,000 Cash Back transactions via 39 business entities and organizations in the capital city and additional 83 in rural areas. The Bank
issued Platinum MasterCard and VISA cards, providing more access to modern financial services.

Partners in Local Development
The Bank closely works with rural Saving and Credit Cooperatives (SCCs) through its “Development Guide” franchise service, providing
an innovative package of products and services which enable rural people to start and sustainably operate locally owned financial institutions. The Bank delivers its financial services through 56 franchised SCCs with total of 5,494 members in 56 soums, reaching out to
remote rural areas. In 2007 the Bank received funds from CGAP’s “Pro-Poor Innovation Challenge” award to strengthen both SCCs and
its own capacity to deliver the franchise service. The Bank supports SCCs by providing various training, advisory services, IT program
support, as well as creating a forum for franchised SCCs to share with best practice and learn from each other. Currently, the Bank’s
franchised SCCs operate in a total of 20 aymags covering all rural areas, including Arhangay, Bayan-Ulgiy, Bayanhongor, Bulgan, Darhan-Uul, Dornod, Dornogovi, Dundgovi, Govi-Altay, Hentiy, Hovd, Huvsgul, Selenge, Suhbaatar, Tuv, Uvs, Uvurhangay and Zavhan.
As part of its socially responsible local development activities, the Bank cooperates with a total of 21 projects and program initiatives
to support individuals and households with low- and medium income, and with a limited access to financial services.

Co-Workers and Staff Development
The Bank firmly believes that its co-workers are the key for its continuous success and institutional sustainability. The Bank’s newly
approved Human Resources Policy encompasses principles of non-discrimination, equal opportunity, fair treatment, commitment to
diversity, and staff consultation, which reaffirms the Bank’s commitment to principles of corporate governance and social responsibilities in line with its Credo. The Bank’s diversity policy encourages non-career job-seekers aged above 35 years and people with disability to join for suitable positions further reaffirming its commitment to social responsibility and in line with enhanced compliance with
principles of non-discrimination at workplace based on physical ability or age. More than 15.0 percent of our co-workers are people
above 35 years of age, and 2.0 percent are Kazakhs, the only national minority in Mongolia.
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In 2007, the total number of co-workers increased from 741 (2006) to 801, an increase of 8.1 percent. A total of 76 percent of our coworkers are employed at branches delivering banking services to more than 200 thousand clients. The Bank employs 486 women and
315 men (2006: 446 women, 295 men). Furthermore, the Bank encourages female co-workers to occupy both senior and middle level
managerial positions, and 36 percent of managerial positions are held by women. Moreover, the Bank is committed to doing whatever
it can to make it easier for co-workers to balance work and family life. During 2007 the Bank organized an “Open Door” event for coworkers and their children and encouraged them to learn about the banking institution and its services.

Fact sheet about our staff
Total staff

801 (full time)

National minority (%)

2

Headquarters

193

Staff above 35 years of age (%)

15

Branches

608

Credit officers to total staff (%)

29.1

Average age

28.6

Female credit officers to total credit officers (%)

51.1

Women to total number of co-workers (%)

61

Management staff to total staff (%)

7.6

In 2007, a total of 247 new co-workers joined the Bank (2006: 283), while 177 co-workers left the Bank for various reasons. For the same
period 60 new jobs were created across the Bank, of which 10 at rural branches, 25 at the capital city branches, and additional 25 at
the Head Office, respectively. This relatively high turnover is partly due to increased fierce competition among Mongolian commercial
banks, salary increases for civil servants on one hand, and ambitious career aspirations of young recruits, further professionalization
of co-workers, and limited career development opportunities, on the other hand. Recognizing the importance of staff retention the
Bank has been taking various actions to address staff turnover, including increasing the employer’s contribution to Employees’ Pension Fund sub-accounts, opening pension accounts for every staff with one year employment contract with the Bank, and distributing
shares as a bonus to all eligible co-workers, based on their 2006 work performance under the Employee Stock Options Plan (ESOP).
The Bank supports career aspirations of young professionals by organizing extensive in-house training as well as encouraging them to
attend international training seminars and workshops and conferences. In the year under review, a total of 41,216 hours of in-house
training were organized by the Training Center established in 2006, for cumulative total of 431 staff members to build and further
upgrade technical knowledge on banking accounting, lending, management, sales and customer service skills. Several managers attended various international training events and made presentations at different international conferences.
Furthermore, the Bank’s Regulation on Settlement of Individual Labor Disputes was approved as a grievance hearing and settlement
mechanism, which also involves equal participation of co-workers and management. The Bank’s newly revised version of the Staff
Internal Rules (Labor Regulations) was adopted with a broad involvement of co-workers.
The Bank shares its experience with other micro finance institutions (MFIs) by providing consultancy and by hosting the representatives of MFIs. A total of 20 days training was provided for representatives from IMON, a leading international microfinance institution
from Tajikistan, and AMRET, a second largest microfinance institution from Cambodia, in different topics such as institutional transformation, marketing and promotion, product development, and human recourses. Furthermore, an on site consultancy to the MFI in
Kazakhstan, KLF, was also conducted.

The Bank strives to ensure a work-life
balance among its staff and organizes
various recreational activities for staff
to get-together and to build team
spirit. The Bank organizes various
sports competitions for staff and their
family members, especially children.
On 8 September 2007, XacBank organized an outing in the ‘Nayramdal’
International Children’s Camp for employees from the Bank’s headquarters
and Ulaanbaatar City branches.
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The Bank successfully implements international technical assistance, In 2007 alone technical assistance was secured for human resources development, leasing, risk management, trade finance, and SME toolkit from IFC, Shorecap Exchange, EBRD, and the Netherlands Senior Experts (PUM). Furthermore, international short-term consultants on the Bank’s functional review and organizational
restructuring, as well as on the Global Reporting Initiative (GRI) were received from German Senior Experten Service (SES) and Triodos
Share Fund (TSF). The Bank organized and delivered in-house training to branch rural credit officers in order to build advisory capacity
to franchised SCCs, and also facilitated and provided three-month international distance learning microfinance training to the Head
Office co-workers. Moreover, the Bank developed and provided training to 29 franchised SCCs which were attended by 120 SCCs
staff.
The Bank’s internal culture was reinforced through new co-worker induction and field orientation programs, and via its bimonthly
newsletter “XacBuuhiya” (XacExpress), which was also used to motivate and engage co-workers in its efforts to improve in-house
knowledge sharing and life-long learning. In addition, all major activities of the Head Office units are widely disseminated to all coworkers through a popular monthly newsletter “Shar Medee” (Yellow News), as an internal mechanism for information disclosure.

Human Capital in Numbers
To manage gender mix as a competitive advantage, ensure equal opportunity and respect for all individuals:
Number of Employees

801

Rural areas

411

Ulaanbaatar city

197

Branches and extension units

608

Head Office

193

Middle Management (Branch Managers, Department Heads)
Senior Management (Executives, Division Heads)

53
8

Total Male/Female Ratio (%)

39/61

Management Male/Female Ratio (%)

64/36

To promote professional and personal development, by reconciling the Bank’s and the individual’s interests:
New jobs created
Hours of training given
Hours of international training

60
41,216
2,384

Hours of international technical assistance

856

Number of employees who participated in training (cumulative)

431

Middle managers (percentage of total)

100

Staff (percentage of total)

71.5

Evaluation of employee satisfaction with training (1-5, with 5 highest)
Ratio of average remuneration of men and women broken down by employee category

4,6
50/50
Source: XacBank, 2007
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The PLANET

Our Footprint on the Living Environment

 Currently, Mr. Bahyt’s family has a family car and 6-room house in a big courtyard planted with 200
trees, and. He has built a separate workshop and employed one assistant carpenter to make his dombras.
Furthermore, Mr. Bahyt’s three elder children are studying abroad for post-graduate degree studies, and
his wife is supporting their micro-business and raising the younger children. While his wife is planning to
grow vegetables for their family needs, Mr. Bahyt is planning to start another business with more credit
from XacBank.  

THE PLANET: OUR FOOTPRINT ON THE LIVING ENVIRONMENT

ENVIRONMENTAL REPORTING
XacBank has been in operation for 10 years. Our goal is not only to provide inclusive financial services and innovative products, but
also to be a responsible institution concerned with the environment people live in. The Bank believes that there is a great deal we can
do to protect and preserve the environment in terms of the way in which we dispose of our rubbish, waste paper and toner cartridges
in particular. The Bank’s management is keen to reduce paper and office  supplies consumption, electricity, heating and gas usage by
widely using energy efficient devices and technologies. Thus, the Bank strives, as much as possible, to mitigate and reduce the negative environmental and social impact of its business operations.

Our Strategy on Social and Environmental Management
XacBank will further improve and enhance its social and environmental management system, including conducting a regular social
and environmental performance audit on its operational impact. The Bank’s social and environmental policy will be guided by
the principles of Corporate Social Responsibility, as a means of managing our business responsibly and sensitively for long-term
success. We are committed to complying with national and international environmental regulations applicable to our operations
and business services. The Bank will systematically gather data on social and environmental impacts from our operations across the
country, and will provide its strategic shareholders and investors with environmental and social reports on a regular basis. The Bank
will initiate in-house environmental protection measures aimed at efficient use of energy, fuel, water, reducing paper consumption
and waste. We will seek to form business relations and alliances with partners, suppliers, and clients who follow similarly high social
and environmental standards.
The Bank’s commitment to the principles of sustainable development is exemplified by its implementation since 2002 of the Environmental Management System (EMS) to address environmental issues, both social and ecological, arising from the Bank’s own operations. To strengthen its environmental management system the Bank created in December 2007 a new Office of Corporate Compliance and Ethics with two full-time positions, including a position of the Social and Environmental Compliance Officer. The Office will
ensure and enforce the compliance of Bank’s operations with existing environmental, occupational, health and safety requirements,
child rights protection, and labor laws, rules and regulations, loan agreements with investors, oversee the implementation of the
Bank’s Social and Environmental Management System (SEMS), as well as awareness building on responsible banking.
Ensuring its environmental compliance with internationally accepted lending requirements, the Bank approved a list of excluded
activities for lending in its newly revised General Credit Policy. Furthermore, the Bank piloted since October 2007 a Social Performance
Audit (SPA) methodology under the GRI framework and environmental impact assessments with support from the USAID, and intends
to institutionalize them through periodical reviews to measure its activities against the Bank’s social and environmental performance
goals.

With Ministry of Nature and Environment, the National Committee on
Water and local environmental groups,
XacBank organized a campaign work
called ‘Water-Life” on 20 October 2007,
in order to protect the Tuul river, the
source of Ulaanbaatar city’s water.
The Bank’s employees  have picked up
garbage and waste from the riverbanks and built awareness among
youth and children about the need to
protect the nature.  The Bank seeks to
involve the future leaders of the country in all of its environmental protection activities.
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SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY
Under the newly adopted Human Resources Policy of 2007, which includes corporate responsibility provision, the Bank’s co-workers
are entitled to the freedom of association, and further encouraged to form a Work Council in order to enter in collective bargaining
with management regarding their salary and remuneration levels, other relevant employment conditions, health and safety at work
place, in accordance with the Labor Code of Mongolia.
Since its founding, the Bank’s co-workers have been actively supporting the most vulnerable groups of society, disadvantaged children from poor families and disabled, as well as communities and small entrepreneurs to make real contributions to protection of the
environment and reduction of poverty. During 2007 a total of 631 members of X.A.C. (Golden Fund for Development) Association NGO
passionately donated a total of MNT37.5 million to around 4,000 children in need, and our co-workers actively participated in various
activities aimed at environmental protection, including waste disposal, cleaning river banks and planting trees. The Bank’s co-workers
donated a Mongolian ger13 along with one-year supply of coal to 5 orphan children from a poor family to help them to live over the
harsh winter season.

Our Engagement in Local Communities - X.A.C. NGO
X.A.C. (Golden Fund for Development) Association, a non-governmental organization, was set by the Bank co-workers’ initiative in 2003.
Its mission is to provide children, especially from disadvantaged families, with opportunities to grow up in dignity and harmony and
promote a safe and healthy living environment, and quality education. Members of this association (2007: 631) voluntarily contribute
1 percent of their monthly salary to support its public activities, including sponsorships for talented orphans  and children from poor
and low-income families, donations for disabled and sick children to cover surgery costs, sponsorships for various sports and cultural
events among Mongolian children and youth as well as organizing public actions in support of clean and healthy environment  and
regeneration of nature in the country.

In recent years there has been a growing worldwide acknowledgement of corporate governance and corporate social responsibility as
the basis for sustainable economic and business development. Recognizing the importance of responsible and transparent banking,
the Bank co-sponsored and took active part in the Grand Business Forum on Global Compact organized on 11 September 2007 by the
Mongolian National Chamber of Commerce and Industry (MNCCI) under the auspices of the President of Mongolia. During the Forum
proceedings, the Bank signed and joined the United Nations (UN) Global Compact by re-affirming its commitment to principles of
non-discrimination at workplace, compliance with fundamental rights at work, recognizing the need to fight against corruption and
making real contribution to environmental protection.

During 23-25 November 2007, XacBank’s
Sustainability Team organized a consultative workshop on Social Performance
Audit (SPA) and Global Reporting initiative (GRI) standards, supported by the
United States Agency for International
Development (USAID,) for directors and
credit managers from all branches in the
country.
This was part of the Bank’s overall initiative designed to not only disseminate the
noble ideas and build awareness about
the UN Global Compact and Corporate
Social Responsibility (CSR), but also to
start assessing the Bank’s operational
impact on clients and the environment.

13

Ger – Traditional nomadic dwelling of Mongol people made from felt and wooden structures.

XacBank

35

The Bank jointly established the Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) Council, set up by the initiative of the MNCCI, comprising 13
leading and largest Mongolian companies. The CSR Council, chaired by the President of the Bank, is disseminating the ideas and principles about CSR, building awareness about CSR and the UN Global Compact by providing a public forum and network for dialogue
among private sector, government and civil society on main principles embedded in the UN Global Compact.
STAKEHOLDER DIALOGUE
XacBank strives to maintain cordial and close relationship with all its key stakeholders, including shareholders, customers, business
partners and the government. The Bank, besides its regular customer satisfaction surveys, has organized a number of public consultative meetings with its clients to hear about their concerns on issues of access and quality of its financial services.
As part of its work with rural area based SCCs, the Bank supports the Consultative Council of Franchisee Cooperatives, established to
share their local knowledge and learning experiences in the field.
During 2007 the Bank continued to play a pro-active role in the Mongolian Bankers Association (MBA) as a professional forum in the
banking sector, and is still leading a number of initiatives, including establishment of the private sector led Credit Information Bureau.
In recognition of XacBank active role since its inception, the Bank’s President was elected the MBA’s Vice President for 2008-2009.
The Bank has accepted the Ministry of Social Welfare and Labor invitation to become an ex-officio member and sit as a representative
of the private sector employer in the tri-partite (i.e. the government, employers and employees) Sub-Council on Employment Issues
for Disabled Persons from 13 February 2007.
The Annual Shareholders Assembly and regular meetings of the Board of Directors are used to present not only the Bank’s financial
results and operational performance, but also to present new initiatives and discuss the future strategy and key policies. In December
2007 the Bank invited prominent public figures to join its newly established Public Advisory Committee, which will play a crucial role
for improved stakeholder dialogue in the coming years.

In December 2007, a Public Advisory
Committee (PAC) was set up to deepen
and institutionalize the Bank’s dialogue
among various stakeholders. The Bank’s
PAC is comprised from the eminent
persons, from economic heavy-weights
to a religious leader to a professional
poet and music composer, who are
prominent in, and are well recognized
by, Mongolian society.
Based on their rich individual experiences and insight into a variety of important
issues, these members are providing
guidance and feedback on the Bank’s
social performance, as well as assisting
with pubic relations.

PUBLIC ADVISORY COMMITTEE AT 31 DECEMBER 2007
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BAABAR Batbayar

Publicist, Ex–Finance Minister of Mongolia

BYAMBASUREN Dash

Economist, Ex-Prime Minister of Mongolia (1990-1992)

Hamba Lama, Gabju CHOIJAMTS Demberel

Head of the Center of Mongolian Buddhists, Abbot of Gandan Tegchinling
Monastery, President of  the Asian Conference of Buddhists for Peace

JANTSANNOROV Natsag

Music Composer, the twice State Awarded People’s Artist, and Chair of the
Board, Arts Council of Mongolia

LHAGVASUREN Bavuu

Poet, the State Awarded People’s Writer, Director of the State Puppets Theatre

MUNKHUU Dorj

Head of ‘Gal Golomt’ National Movement, NGO, and Member of  the
National Council for Gender Equality

SODNOM Dumaa

Economist, Ex-Prime Minister of Mongolia (1984-1990)

Annual Report 2007

Assurance And Advisory
Business Services

XacBank LLC
Audited Financial Statements
31 December 2007

Ernst & Young

XacBank

37

XacBank LLC
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2007
CONTENTS
STATEMENT BY DIRECTOR AND MANAGEMENT

40

REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

41

INCOME STATEMENT

42

BALANCE SHEET

43

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

44

CASH FLOW STATEMENT

45

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

38

PAGE

Annual Report 2007

46-83

XacBank LLC
CORPORATE INFORMATION
REGISTERED OFFICE:

XacBank Building
Prime Minister Amar’s Street
Suhbaatar District, Ulaanbaatar
Mongolia

BOARD OF DIRECTORS:

Mr. Ganbold Chuluun
Mr. Ganhuyag Ch. Hutagt
Mr. Bekhbat Sodnom
Ms. Erdenechimeg Jambaldorj
Ms. Erdenejargal Perenley
Ms. Femke Bos
Mr. Gilbert Crawford
Mr.  James H. Anderson
Mr. John Chomel-Doe
Mr. Mark A.Coffey
Ms.  Pamela A. Eser
Mr. Stephen D. Vance
Ms. Teresa P. K. Yiu
Mr. Zorigt Namsrayjav

BOARD SECRETARY:

Ms. Botagoz Gulislam

AUDITORS:

Ernst & Young Mongolia Audit LLC
Certified Public Accountants

XacBank

39

STATEMENT BY DIRECTOR AND MANAGEMENT
I, Ganhuyag Ch. Hutagt, being one of the directors of XacBank LLC (“the Bank”), and Delgerjargal Bayanjargal, being the officer primarily responsible for the financial management of the Bank, do hereby state that, in our opinion, the accompanying financial statements
set out on pages 4 to 75 give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Bank as at 31 December 2007 and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Ganhuyag Ch. Hutagt
(Chief Executive Officer)

Ulaanbaatar, Mongolia
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Delgerjargal Bayanjargal
(Chief Operating Officer)

REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT AUDITORS
To the Shareholders of XacBank LLC
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of XacBank LLC, which comprise the balance sheet as at 31 December 2007
and the income statement, statement of changes in equity and cash flow statement for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.  
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards. This responsibility includes: designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the
preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.    
Auditors’ Responsibility
It is our responsibility to form an independent opinion, based on our audit, on the financial statements and to report our opinion to
you, as a body in accordance with Article 91 of Company Law of Mongolia and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
to any other person for the content of this report.
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material
misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.
The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant
to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit
also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Bank as at 31 December 2007, and of its
financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Ulaanbaatar, Mongolia
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XacBank LLC
INCOME STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2007

Note

2006
MNT ‘000

Interest and similar income

3

18,835,462

14,595,145

Interest and similar expenses

4

(8,733,018)

(6,205,888)

10,102,444

8,389,257

1,449,839

1,058,107

Net interest income
Net fees and commissions

5

Other operating income

6

Operating income
Operating expenses

7

Operating profit before credit loss expense
Credit loss expense

301,702

244,417

11,853,985

9,691,781

(8,204,746)

(6,724,769)

3,649,239

2,967,012

8

(340,290)

(397,439)

Grant income

21

69,100

83,803

Grant expenses

21

Profit before tax
Income tax expense
Profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the Bank

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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2007
MNT ‘000
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9

(69,100)

(83,803)

3,308,949

2,569,573

(417,180)

(796,421)

2,891,769

1,773,152

XacBank LLC
BALANCE SHEET AS AT
31 DECEMBER 2007

Note

2007
MNT ‘000

2006
MNT ‘000

ASSETS
Cash and short term funds

11

5,529,661

5,301,179

Due from banks

12

23,913,044

13,492,176

Financial investments

13

1,675,587

500

Loans and advances to customers

14

101,197,164

60,350,085

Other assets

15

1,513,616

1,422,422

Property, plant and equipment

16

9,104,375

7,978,334

Intangible assets

17

TOTAL ASSETS

494,198

376,876

143,427,645

88,921,572

LIABILITIES
Due to customers

18

63,429,217

43,007,055

Due to banks

19

14,581,140

4,080,959

Borrowed funds

20

51,450,730

30,153,600

Deferred grants

21

114,058

160,629

Other liabilities

22

559,635

409,858

16,735

240,718

Tax payable
Deferred tax liabilities

23

TOTAL LIABILITIES

47,553

-

130,199,068

78,052,819

8,034,200

8,034,200

8,551

8,551

EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE BANK
Ordinary shares

24

Share premium
Other reserves

2,293,999

1,052,792

Retained profits

2,891,827

1,773,210

TOTAL EQUITY

13,228,577

10,868,753

143,427,645

88,921,572

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

25

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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XacBank LLC
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED

31 DECEMBER 2007

Nondistributable

Note
At 1 January 2006
Profit for the year
Transfer to other
reserves

25

Dividends

10

At 31 December 2006
Profit for the year

Share premium
MNT ‘000

Other reserves
MNT ‘000

Retained
profits
MNT ‘000

Total
MNT ‘000

8,034,200

8,551

13,864

1,488,986

9,545,601

-

-

-

1,773,152

1,773,152

-

1,038,928

(1,038,928)

-

-

-

-

(450,000)

(450,000)

8,034,200

8,551

1,052,792

1,773,210

10,868,753

-

-

-

2,891,769

2,891,769

Transfer to other
reserves

25

-

-

1,241,207

(1,241,207)

-

Dividends

10

-

-

-

(531,945)

(531,945)

8,034,200

8,551

2,293,999

2,891,827

13,228,577

At 31 December 2007

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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XacBank LLC
CASH FLOW STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2007

2007
MNT ‘000

2006
MNT ‘000

3,308,949

2,569,573

633,456

544,697

97,851

66,181

291,628

387,118

48,662

-

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax
Adjustments for:Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (Note 16)
Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 17)
Credit loss for loans and advances to customers (Note 8)
Credit loss for other receivables (Note 8)
Credit loss for foreclosure properties (Note 8)
Unrealised gain
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment

-

10,321

(66,845)

(22,345)

13,668

9,613

(69,100)

(83,803)

4,258,269

3,481,355

(41,071,862)

(22,117,388)

(139,856)

(201,913)

Due to customers

20,422,162

11,610,242

Due to banks

10,500,181

1,280,042

149,913

97,333

(5,881,193)

(5,850,329)

(593,610)

(761,349)

(6,474,803)

(6,611,678)

(1,675,087)

1,104,866

Amortisation of deferred grants (Note 21)
Operating profit before working capital changes
Changes in operating assets:Loans and advances to customers
Other assets
Changes in operating liabilities:-

Other liabilities
Cash used in operations
Income tax paid
Net cash flow used in operating activities
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Net (increase)/decrease in financial investments
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Purchase of intangible assets
Net cash flow used in investing activities

20,874

75,793

(1,812,679)

(2,688,508)

(196,533)

(330,301)

(3,663,425)

(1,838,150)

21,297,130

15,334,127

22,529

117,568

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Net drawdown of borrowed funds
Deferred grants received
Dividends paid

(532,081)

(449,941)

Net cash flow generated from financing activities

20,787,578

15,001,754

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

10,649,350

6,551,926

Cash and cash equivalents brought forward (Note 26)

18,793,355

12,241,429

Cash and cash equivalents carried forward (Note 26)

29,442,705

18,793,355

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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XacBank LLC
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 DECEMBER 2007

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION
The Bank is principally engaged in the business of provision of banking and financial services pursuant to License No. 24 issued by the
Bank of Mongolia. There have been no significant changes in the nature of these activities during the year.
The Bank is a limited liability company, incorporated and domiciled in Mongolia.  The registered address and the principal place of
business of the Bank is XacBank Building, Prime Minister Amar’s Street, Suhbaatar District, Ulaanbaatar, Mongolia.
The holding company of the Bank is XAC-GE LLC, which is incorporated in Mongolia.  The shareholders of the holding company are:
 Mercy Corps
 Shorecap International LTD
 Stichting Triodos Doen
 Rotary Club of Ulaanbaatar
 Liberal Women’s Intellectual Pool

 MicroVest 1, LP
 EIT LLC				
 Open Society Forum
 XacBank LLC
 Tuushin LLC

 Triodos Fair Share Fund
 Mongolian Women’s Federation
 CYDAN SCC
 Employees of XAC-GE LLC and XacBank LLC

These financial statements of the Bank for the year ended 31 December 2007 were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors in
accordance with a resolution of the directors on 31 March 2008.

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES
2.1

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”).
The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost basis, except for available-for-sale and held for trading investments that have been measured at fair value. The financial statements are presented in the Mongolian Tugrug, which is denoted by
the symbol MNT, rounded to the nearest thousand, except when otherwise indicated.
2.2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a)

Interest income and expense

Interest income and expense for all interest-bearing financial instruments except those classified as held for trading or designated at
fair value through profit or loss are recognised in ‘Interest and similar income’ and ‘Interest and similar expense’ in the income statement using the effective interest rates of the financial assets or financial liabilities to which they relate. Interest income is recognised
in the income statement as it accrued, except in the case of impaired loans and advances. Interest on impaired financial assets is recognised at the original effective interest rates of the financial assets applied to the impaired carrying amount.
(b)

Fees and commission income

Fees and commission income derived by the Bank relate mainly to card service, application, transaction, money transfer service, and
other fees. Fees and commission are generally recognised on an accrual basis when service has been provided.  
Loan commitment fees for loans that are likely to be drawn down and other credit related fees are deferred (together with any incremental costs) and recognised as an adjustment to the effective interest rate on the loan.
(c)

Foreign currencies translation

The financial statements are presented in Mongolian Tugrug, which is the Bank’s functional and presentation currency. Transactions
in foreign currencies are initially recorded at the rates ruling at the date of the transaction. Foreign currency monetary assets and
liabilities are translated at the exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet date. All exchange differences are taken to profit or loss. Nonmonetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates as at the
dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the date when the fair value was determined.
(d)

Income tax

The Bank provides for current income tax based on its income for financial reporting purposes, adjusted for items which are not assessable or deductible for income tax purpose, in accordance with the regulations of the Mongolian Government and is measured
using the tax rates that have been enacted at the balance sheet date.
Deferred tax is provided for, using the liability method, on temporary differences at the balance sheet date between the tax bases of
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements.
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2.2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTD.)

(d)

Income tax (Contd.)

In principle, deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised for all
deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses and unused tax credits to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses and unused tax credits can be utilised.
Deferred tax is not recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or negative goodwill or from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction which is not a business combination and at the time of the transaction, affects neither accounting
profit nor taxable profit. Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the asset is realised
or the liability is settled, based on tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. Deferred tax is
recognised in the income statement, except when it arises from a transaction which is recognised directly in equity, in which case the
deferred tax is also recognised directly in equity, or when it arises from a business combination that is an acquisition, in which case the
deferred tax is included in the resulting goodwill or negative goodwill.
(e)

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and short term funds and due from banks.
(f)

Financial instruments - initial recognition and subsequent measurement

(i)

Date of recognition

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame generally established by regulation or convention in the marketplace are recognised on the trade date, i.e. the date that the Bank commits to purchase or sell the asset. Derivatives are recognised on trade date basis.
(ii)

Initial recognition of financial instruments

The classification of financial instruments at initial recognition depends on the purpose for which the financial instruments were acquired and their characteristics. All financial instruments are measured initially at their fair value plus, in the case of financial assets and
financial liabilities not at fair value through profit or loss, any directly attributable incremental costs of acquisition or issue.
(iii)

Derivatives recorded at fair value through profit or loss

Derivatives include cross currency swaps, forward foreign exchange contracts and options on foreign currencies. Derivatives are recorded at fair value and carried as assets when their fair value is positive and as liabilities when their fair value is negative. Changes in
the fair value of derivatives held for trading are included in ‘Other operating income’.
Derivatives embedded in other financial instruments, such as the embedded equity and currency derivatives in the convertible loan,
are treated as separate derivatives and recorded at fair value if their economic characteristics and risks are not closely related to those
of the host contract, and the host contract is not itself held for trading or designated at fair value through profit or loss. The embedded
derivatives separated from the host are carried at fair value in the trading portfolio with changes in fair value in the trading portfolio
with changes in fair value being reported through profit or loss.
(iv)

Financial assets or financial liabilities held for trading

Financial assets or financial liabilities held-for-trading, comprising financial instruments held for trading other than derivatives, are
recorded in the balance sheet at fair value. Changes in fair value are recognised in ‘other operating income’. Interest and dividend
income or expense are recorded in ‘other operating income’ according to the terms of the contract, or when the right to the payment
has been established.
(v)

Financial assets or financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets and financial liabilities classified in this category are designated at initial recognition when the following
criteria are met:
-

the designation eliminates or significantly reduces the inconsistent treatment that would otherwise arise from measuring the
assets or recognizing the gains or losses on them on a different basis; or

-

the assets and liabilities are part of a group of financial assets, financial liabilities or both which are managed and their performance evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with a documented risk management or investment strategy; or

-

the financial instruments contains an embedded derivative, unless the embedded derivative does not significantly modify the
cash flows or it is clear, with little or no analysis, that it would not be separately recorded.

Financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recorded in the balance sheet at fair value. Changes in fair
value are recorded in ‘Net gain or loss on financial assets and liabilities designated at fair value through profit and loss’. Interest earned
or incurred is accrued in interest income or expense, respectively, according to the terms of the contract, while dividend income is
recorded in ‘Other operating income’ when the right to the payment has been established.
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2.2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTD.)

(f)

Financial instruments - initial recognition and subsequent measurement (Contd.)

(vi)

‘Day 1’ profit

Where the transaction price in a non-active market is different to the fair value from other observable current market transactions in
the same instrument or based on a valuation technique whose variables include only data from observable markets, the Bank immediately recognises the differences between the transaction price and fair value (a ‘Day 1’ profit) in the income statement in ‘Net trading
income’. In cases where use is made of data which is not observable, the difference between the transaction price and model value is
only recognised in the income statement when the inputs become observable, or when the instrument is derecognised.
(vii) Held-to-maturity financial investments
Held-to-maturity financial investments are those which carry fixed or determinable payments and have fixed maturities and which
the Bank has the intention and ability to hold to maturity. After initial measurement, held-to-maturity financial investments are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, less allowance for impairment. Amortised cost is
calculated by taking into account any discount or p remium on acquisition and fees that are an integral part of the effective interest
rate. The amortisation is included in ‘Interest and similar income’ in the income statement. The losses arising from impairment of such
investments are recognised in the income statement line ‘Impairment losses on financial investments’.
(viii) Due from banks and loans and advances to customers
‘Due from banks’ and ‘Loans and advances to customers’ are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturities that are not quoted in an active market and are classified as loans and receivables. After initial measurement, amounts due from
banks and loans and advances to customers are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method,
less allowance for impairment. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees
and costs that are integral part of the effective interest rate. The amortisation is included in ‘Interest and similar income’ in the income
statement. The losses arising from impairment are recognised in the income statement in ‘Credit loss expense’.
(ix)

Available-for-sale financial investments

Available-for-sale financial investments are those designated as such or do not qualify to be classified as designated at fair value
through profit or loss, held-to-maturity or loans and receivables. They include equity instruments, investments in mutual funds and
money market and other debt instruments.
After initial measurement, available-for-sale financial investments are subsequently measured at fair value. Unrealised gains or losses
are recognised directly in equity in the ‘Available-for-sale reserve’. When security is disposed of, the cumulative gain or loss previously
recognised in equity is recognised in the income statement in ‘Other operating income’ or ‘Other operating expenses’. Where the Bank
holds more than one investment in the same security they are deemed to be disposed of on a first-in-first-out basis. Interest earned
whilst holding available-for-sale financial investments is reported as interest income using the effective interest rate. Dividends earned
whilst holding available-for-sale financial investments are recognised in the income statement as ‘Other operating income’ when the
right of the payment has been established. The losses arising from impairment of such investments are recognised in the income
statement in ‘Impairment losses on financial investments’ and removed from the available-for-sale reserve.
(x)

Borrowed funds

Issued financial instruments or their components, which are not designated at fair value through profit or loss, are classified as liabilities under ‘Borrowed funds’, where the substance of the contractual arrangement results in the Bank having an obligation either to
deliver cash or another financial asset for a fixed number of own equity shares. The components of compound financial instruments,
that contain both liability and equity elements, are accounted for separately with the equity component being assigned the residual
amount after deducting from the instrument as a whole the amount separately determined as the fair value of the liability component
on the date of issue.
After initial measurement, borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on the issue and costs that are an integral part of the effective
interest rate.
(g)

Securitisation

As part of its operational activities, the Bank securitises financial assets, generally through the sale of these assets to special purposes
entities which issue securities to investors.  The transferred assets may qualify for derecognition in full or in part.  Reference should be
made to the accounting policy on ‘Derecognition of financial assets and financial liabilities’.  Interests in the securitised financial assets
may be retained by the Bank and are primarily classified as financial assets recorded at fair value through profit or loss, and gains and
losses are reported in “Interest and similar income”.  Gains or losses on securitisations are based on the carrying amount of the financial
assets derecognised and the retained interest, based on their relative fair values at the date of the transfer.
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2.2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTD.)

(h)

Derecognition of financial assets and financial liabilities

(i)

Financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is derecognised where:
-

the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or
the Bank has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash
flows in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass-through’ arrangement; and
either (a) the Bank has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Bank has neither transferred nor
retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Bank has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, and
has neither transferred not retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset is
recognised to the extent of the Bank’s continuing involvement in the asset. Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Bank could be required to repay.
Where continuing involvement takes the form of a written and/or purchased option (including a cash-settled option or similar provision) on the transferred asset, the extent of the Bank’s continuing involvement is the amount of the transferred asset that the Bank
may repurchase, except that in the case of a written put option (including a cash-settled option or similar provision) on an asset measured at fair value, the extent of the Bank’s continuing involvement is limited to the lower of the fair value of the transferred asset and
the option exercise price.
(ii)

Financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires. Where an existing
financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are
substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the financial liability and the recognition of
a new liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in profit or loss.
(i)

Determination of fair value

The fair value for financial instruments traded in active markets at the balance sheet date is based on their quoted market price or
dealer price quotations (bid price for long positions and ask price for short positions), without any deduction for transaction costs.
For all other financial instruments not listed in an active market, the fair value is determined by using appropriate valuation techniques. Valuation techniques include net present value techniques, comparison to similar instruments for which market observable
prices exist, options pricing models and other relevant valuation models.
(j)

Impairment of financial assets

The Bank assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is deemed to be impaired if, and only if, there is objective evidence of
impairment as a result of one or more events that has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (an incurred ‘loss event’) and
that loss event (or events) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of financial assets that
can be reliably estimated. Evidence of impairment may include indications that the borrower or a group of borrowers is experiencing
significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the probability that they will enter bankruptcy
or other financial reorganisation and where observable data indicate that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash
flows, such as changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with defaults.
(i)

Due from banks and loans and advances to customers

For amounts due from banks and loans and advances to customers carried at amortised cost, the Bank first assesses individually
whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually for financial assets that are individually significant, or collectively for
financial assets that are not individually significant. If the Bank determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an
individually assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit
risk characteristics and collectively assesses them for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for which
an impairment loss is, or continues to be, recognised are not included in a collective assessment of impairment.
If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future expected credit losses that have
not yet been incurred). The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account and the amount of the
loss is recognised in the income statement. Interest income continues to be accrued on the reduced carrying amount based on the
original effective interest rate of the asset. Loans together with the associated allowance are written off when there is no realistic prospect of future recovery and all collateral has been realised or has been transferred to the Bank. If, in a subsequent year, the amount of
the estimated impairment loss increases or decreases because of an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is increased or reduced by adjusting the  allowance account.
If a future write-off is later recovered, the recovery is credited to the ‘Credit loss expense’.
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2.2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTD.)

(j)

Impairment of financial assets (contd.)

(i)

Due from banks and loans and advances to customers (contd.)

The present value of the estimated future cash flows is discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. If a loan has a
variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the current effective interest rate. The calculation of the
present value of the estimated future cash flows of a collateralised financial asset reflects the cash flows that may result from foreclosure less costs for obtaining and selling the collateral, whether or not foreclosure is probable.
For the purpose of a collective evaluation of impairment, financial assets are grouped on the basis of the Bank’s internal credit grading
system that considers credit risk characteristics such as asset type, industry, geographical location, collateral type, past-due status and
other relevant factors.
The Bank adopted the basic approach where the impairment allowances are computed on an average of  historical loss experience
of each risk grouping over the outstanding balance. Historical loss experience is adjusted on the basis of current observable data to
reflect the effects of current conditions that did not affect the years on which the historical loss experience is based and to remove the
effects of conditions in the historical period that do not exist currently.
Estimates of changes in future cash flows reflect, and are directionally consistent with, changes in related observable data from year to
year (such as changes in unemployment rates, property prices, commodity prices, payment status, or other factors that are indicative
of incurred losses in the group and their magnitude). The methodology and assumptions used for estimating future cash flows are
reviewed regularly to reduce any differences between loss estimates and actual loss experience.
(ii)

Held-to-maturity financial investments

For held-to-maturity investments the Bank assesses individually whether there is objective evidence of impairment. If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced, and the amount
of the loss is recognised in the income statement.
If, in a subsequent year, the amount of the estimated impairment loss decreases because of an event occurring after the impairment
was recognised, any amounts formerly charged are credited to the ‘Impairment losses on financial investments’.
(iii)

Available-for-sale financial investments

For available-for-sale financial investments, the Bank assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is objective evidence that an
investment or a group of investments is impaired.
In the case of equity investments classified as available-for-sale, objective evidence would include a significant or prolonged decline
in the fair value of the investment below its cost. Where there is evidence of impairment, the cumulative loss - measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that investment previously recognised in the
income statement - is removed from equity and recognised in the income statement. Impairment losses on equity investments are not
reversed through the income statement; increases in their fair value after impairment are recognised directly in equity.
In the case of debt instruments classified as available-for-sale, impairment is assessed based on the same criteria as financial assets
carried at amortised cost. Interest continues to be accrued at the original effective interest rate on the reduced carrying amount of the
asset and is recorded as part of ‘Interest and similar income’. If, in a subsequent year, the fair value of a debt instrument increases and
the increase can be objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised in the income statement, the
impairment loss is reversed through the income statement.
(iv)

Renegotiated loans

Where possible, the Bank seeks to restructure loans rather than to take possession of collateral. This may involve extending the payment arrangements and the agreement of new loan conditions. Once the terms have been renegotiated, the loan is no longer considered past due. Management continuously reviews renegotiated loans to ensure that all criteria are met and that future payments
are likely to occur. The loans continue to be subject to an individual or collective impairment assessment, calculated using the loan’s
original effective interest rate.
(k)

Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the balance sheet if, and only if, there is a currently
enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and
settle the liability simultaneously. This is not generally the case with master netting agreements, and the related assets and liabilities
are presented gross in the balance sheet.
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2.2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTD.)

(l)

Property, plant and equipment

All items of property, plant and equipment are initially recorded at cost.  Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount
or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will
flow to the Bank and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of any replaced part is derecognised.  All other
repairs and maintenance are charged to the income statement during the financial period in which they are incurred.
Subsequent to recognition, property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment losses.
Assets under construction are not depreciated. Depreciation of other property, plant and equipment is provided for on a straight-line
basis to write off the cost of each asset to its residual value over the estimated useful lives. The estimated useful lives are as follows:
Buildings
Furniture, fixtures and vehicles
Computers

40 years
10 years
5 years

The residual values, useful life and depreciation method are reviewed at each financial year-end to ensure that the amount, method
and period of depreciation are consistent with previous estimates and the expected pattern of consumption of the future economic
benefits embodied in the items of property, plant and equipment.
An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its
use or disposal. The difference between the net disposal proceeds, if any and the net carrying amount is recognised in profit or loss.
(m) Intangible assets
“Intangible assets include the value of computer software and licences, and patents and rights. Intangible assets acquired separately
are measured on initial recognition at cost. Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.
The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised over
the useful economic life. The amortisation period and the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are
reviewed at least at each financial year-end.
Changes in the expected useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the asset are
accounted for by changing the amortisation period or method, as appropriate, and treated as changes in accounting estimates.  The
amortisation expense on intangible assets with finite lives is recognised in the income statement in the expense category consistent
with the function of the intangible asset.
Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line method to write down the cost of intangible assets to their residual values over their
estimated useful lives as follows:
Software and licences
Patents and rights
(n)

2-5 years
3-20 years

Impairment of non-financial assets

The Bank assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired.  If any such indication
exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Bank makes an estimate of the asset’s recoverable amount.  An
asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating unit’s fair values less costs to sell and its value in use.  Where
the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount.  In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.
An assessment is made at each balance sheet date as to whether there is any indication that previously recognised impairment losses
may no longer exist or may have decreased.  If such indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.  A previously recognised
impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since
the last impairment loss was recognised.  If that is the case the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable amount.  
That increased amount cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years.  Such reversal is recognised in profit or loss. After such a reversal the depreciation charge is adjusted in future periods to allocate the asset’s revised carrying amount, less any residual value, on a systematic basis
over its remaining useful life.
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2.2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTD.)

(o)

Repurchase and reverse repurchase agreements

Securities sold under agreements to repurchase at a specified future date (‘repos’) are not derecognised from the balance sheet. The
corresponding cash received, including accrued interest, is recognised on the balance sheet as a ‘Cash collateral on securities lent
and repurchase agreements’, reflecting its economic substance as a loan to the Bank. The difference between the sale and repurchase
prices is treated as interest expense and is accrued over the life of the agreement using the effective interest rate method. Where
the transferee has the right to sell or pledge the asset, the asset is recorded on the balance sheet as ‘Financial assets held for trading
pledged as collateral’.
Conversely, securities purchased under agreements to resell at a specified future date (‘reverse repos’) are not recognised on the
balance sheet.  The corresponding cash paid, including accrued interest, is recognised on the balance sheet as a ‘Cash collateral on
securities borrowed and reverse repurchase agreements’.  The difference between the purchase and resale prices is treated as interest
income and is accrued over the life of the agreement using the effective interest rate method.
(p)

Financial guarantees

In the ordinary course of business, the Bank issues financial guarantees, consisting of tender guarantees and letter of credit. Financial
guarantees are initially recognised in the financial statements at fair value, in ‘Other liabilities’, being the premium received. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Bank’s liability under each guarantee is measured at the higher of the amortised premium and the best
estimate of expenditure required to settle any financial obligation arising as a result of the guarantee.
Any increase in the liability relating to financial guarantees is taken to the income statement in ‘Impairment losses’. The premium received is recognised in the income statement in ‘Other operating income’ on a straight-line basis over the life of the guarantee.
(q)

Grants

Grants are recognised initially in the balance sheet as deferred grants when there is reasonable assurance that they will be receivable
and that the Bank will comply with the conditions attached to them. Grants that compensate the Bank for expenses incurred are amortised as revenue in income statement on a systematic basis in the same period in which the expenses are incurred. Grants that compensate the Bank for the cost of an asset are recognised in income statement on a systematic basis over the useful life of the asset.
(r)

Employee benefits

(i)

Short term benefits

Wages, salaries and other salary related expenses are recognised as an expense in the year in which the associated services are rendered by employees of the Bank. Short term accumulating compensated absences such as paid annual leave are recognised when
services rendered by employees that increase their entitlement to future compensated absences, and short term non-accumulating
compensated absences such as sick leave are recognised when absences occur.
(ii)

Defined contribution plans

As required by the law, companies in Mongolia make contributions to the government pension scheme, Social and Health Fund. Such
contributions are recognised as an expense in profit or loss as incurred. The Bank also contributes to a defined contribution pension
plan. The contribution paid is recorded as an expense under “Personnel expenses” in proportion to the services rendered by the employees to the Bank. Overpaid contributions are recorded as receivables.
(iii)

Equity compensation benefits

The Employee Stock Ownership Plan allows the Bank’s staff to hold XAC-GE LLC’s  shares through an employee investment trust company, EIT LLC. Employees are allowed to purchase EIT LLC shares at a discount. No change is made to the Bank’s total share capital and
no compensation cost is recognised by the Bank.
(s)

Operating leases

Lease payments for operating leases, where substantially all risk and benefits remain with the lessor, are charged as an operating
expense in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.
(t)

Dividends on ordinary shares

Dividends on ordinary shares are recognised as a liability and deducted from equity when they are approved by the Bank’s shareholders. Interim dividends are deducted from equity when they are declared and no longer at the discretion of the Bank.
Dividends for the year that are approved after the balance sheet date are disclosed as an event after the balance sheet date.
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2.3

CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The Bank has adopted the following new and amended IFRS and IFRIC interpretations during the year.
* IFRS 7
* IAS 1
* IFRIC 7
* IFRIC 8
* IFRIC 9
* IFRIC 10

- Financial Instruments: Disclosures
- Amendment - Capital Disclosures
- Applying the Restatement Approach under IAS 29 “Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies”
- Scope of IFRS 2
- Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives
- Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment

The adoption of  the above new and amended standards and interpretations did not have any significant effect on the financial statements other than IFRS 7 which resulted in additional disclosure.
At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the following Standards and Interpretations were in issue but not yet effective:
* IFRS 3 (Revised)
* IFRS 8
* IAS 1 (Revised)
* IAS 23 (Revised)
* IAS 27 (Amended)
* Amendment to IFRS 2
* Amendments to IAS 32
* IFRIC 11
* IFRIC 12
* IFRIC 13
* IFRIC 14

- Business Combinations
- Operating Segments
- Presentation of Financial Statements
- Borrowing Costs
- Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements
- Share-based Payments - Vesting Conditions and Cancellations
- Financial Instruments: Presentation and IAS 1: Presentation of  Financial
  Statements - Puttable Financial Instruments
- IFRS 2 - Group and Treasury Share Transactions
- Service Concession Arrangements
- Customer Loyalty Programmes
- IAS 19 - The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding Requirements and their Interaction

The directors anticipate that the adoption of above new and amended Standards and Interpretations in the future period will have no
material impact on the financial statements of the Bank.
2.4

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND ESTIMATES

In the process of applying the Bank’s accounting policies, management has used its judgments and made estimates in determining
the amounts recognised in the financial statements. The most significant use of judgements and estimates are as follows:
(i)

Valuation of financial instruments

Where the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded on the balance sheet cannot be derived from active markets,
they are determined using a variety of valuation techniques that include the use of mathematical models. The input to these models
is taken from observable markets where possible, but where this is not feasible, a degree of judgment is required in establishing fair
values. The judgements include considerations of liquidity and model inputs such as correlation and volatility for derivatives.
(ii)

Impairment losses on loans and advances to customers

The Bank reviews its problem loans and advances at each reporting date to assess whether an allowance for impairment should be
recorded in the income statement. In particular, judgement by management is required in the estimation of the amount and timing
of future cash flows when determining the level of allowance required. Such estimates are based on assumptions about a number of
factors and actual results may differ, resulting in future changes to the allowance.
In addition to specific allowance against individually significant loans and advances, the Bank also makes a collective impairment allowance against exposures which, although not specifically identified as requiring a specific allowance, have a greater risk of default
than when originally granted. Some of the factors that are taken into consideration are deterioration in industry risk, technological
obsolescence, identified structural weaknesses and deterioration in cash flows.
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3. INTEREST AND SIMILAR INCOME
2007
MNT ‘000

2006
MNT ‘000

18,225,621

13,867,013

Due from banks

451,850

595,875

Financial investments - held-to-maturity

157,991

132,257

18,835,462

14,595,145

2007
MNT ‘000

2006
MNT ‘000

5,105,057

4,057,585

Loans and advances from customers

4. INTEREST AND SIMILAR EXPENSES

Due to customers
Due to banks
Borrowed funds

79,710

212,244

3,548,251

1,936,059

8,733,018

6,205,888

2007
MNT ‘000

2006
MNT ‘000

5. NET FEES AND COMMISSION INCOME

Fees and commission income:
Card service fees

99,762

114,616

Deposit accounts maintenance and service fees

200,487

125,273

Loan application fees

984,349

643,215

Money transfer fees

191,019

165,272

Other fees income
Less:  Fees and commission expenses

116,018

259,267

1,591,635

1,134,204

(141,796)

(76,097)

1,449,839

1,058,107

2007
MNT ‘000

2006
MNT ‘000

6. OTHER OPERATING INCOME

Non-trading foreign exchange - Realised gain

121,901

111,914

Non-trading foreign exchange - Unrealised gain

66,845

22,345

Rental income

42,957

70,872

309

692

Income from penalties
Recovery of bad loans
Other income
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-

2,626

69,690

35,968

301,702

244,417

7. OPERATING EXPENSES

Advertising
Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 17)

2007
MNT ‘000

2006
MNT ‘000

357,163

218,499

97,851

66,181

Armoured guard and security

324,579

252,907

Business trips

405,415

399,215

1,114

809

398,448

371,237

3,317

20,484

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (Note 16)

633,456

544,697

Entertainment

237,525

161,032

37,509

29,798

9,195

5,547

89,415

71,396

109,712

87,880

Cash collection service
Communication
Computer expenses

Insurance expense
Loans collection expenses
Maintenance of property, plant and equipment
Membership and audit expenses
Other operating expenses

488,915

483,059

3,895,200

2,975,312

Rental expenses

445,609

355,683

Stationery

220,260

245,613

Transportation and fuel supplies

307,510

304,305

Utilities

142,553

131,115

8,204,746

6,724,769

3,196,840

2,492,526

615,891

476,907

82,469

5,879

3,895,200

2,975,312

2007
MNT ‘000

2006
MNT ‘000

Small business loans

72,902

187,601

Consumer loans

76,082

71,456

SME loans

43,018

82,074

Agricultural loans

52,172

26,964

Wholesale loans

(4,419)

4,419

Mortgage loans

51,872

5,161

4,022

6,159

(58)

152

Personnel expenses *

* Personnel expenses
Salaries, incentives and allowances
Contribution to social and health fund
Training

8.

Credit loss expense

Loans and advances to customers:

Apartment pledged loans
Deposit Backed loans
Employee loans
Foreclosure properties
Other receivables

(3,963)

3,132

291,628

387,118

-

10,321

48,662

-

340,290

397,439

XacBank
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9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE
2007
MNT ‘000

2006
MNT ‘000

369,627

796,421

47,553

-

417,180

796,421

Current income tax:
Based on results for the year
Deferred tax (Note 23):
Relating to origination and reversal of temporary differences

The Bank provides for income taxes on the basis of its income for financial reporting purposes, adjusted for items which are not assessable or deductible for income tax purposes.  The income tax rate for profits of bank is 10% (2006: 15%) for the first MNT3 billion
(2006: MNT100 million) of taxable income, and 25% (2006: 30%) on the excess of taxable income over MNT3 billion (2006: MNT100
million).  Interest income on government bonds is not subject to income tax.  Credit loss expense for loans and advances to customers
is deductible for income tax purposes.
A reconciliation of income tax expense applicable to profit before tax at the statutory income tax rate to income tax expense at the
effective income tax rate of the Bank for the year ended 31 December is as follows:

Profit before tax
Tax at statutory tax rate of 25% (2006: 30%)
Effect of income subject to lower tax rate

2007
MNT ‘000

2006
MNT ‘000

3,308,949

2,569,573

827,237

770,872

(450,000)

(15,000)

Effect of income not subject to tax

(67,607)

(96,416)

Effect of expenses not allowable for tax purposes

107,550

136,965

Tax expense for the year

417,180

796,421

Management believes that the Bank is in substantial compliance with the tax laws affecting its operations.

10.

DIVIDENDS
2007
MNT ‘000

2006
MNT ‘000

531,945

450,000

2007
MNT ‘000

2006
MNT ‘000

Declared during the year:
Equity dividends on ordinary shares
Final dividend for 2006: MNT66.21 (2005: MNT56.01)

11.

CASH AND SHORT TERM FUNDS

Cash and short term funds represented by:

56

Local currency

3,026,924

2,572,761

Foreign currencies

2,502,737

2,728,418

5,529,661

5,301,179

Annual Report 2007

12. DUE FROM BANKS

Current accounts with the Bank of Mongolia
Placements with other banks and financial institutions

2007
MNT ‘000

2006
MNT ‘000

4,460,431

3,986,386

19,452,613

9,505,790

23,913,044

13,492,176

Current accounts with the Bank of Mongolia (Central Bank), are maintained in accordance with the Bank of Mongolia’s requirements.
The balances maintained with Central Bank are determined at set percentages based on the basis of 14-day period. As at 31 December
2007, the mandatory reserve required by the Bank of Mongolia is MNT 3.73 billion (2006: MNT 3.19 billion).
Placements with other banks and financial institutions represent local and foreign currencies current accounts maintained with foreign and local financial institutions and short term deposits with local financial institutions.

13.

FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS
2007
Held-to-maturity
MNT’000

Held for trading
MNT’000

Available-for-sale
MNT’000

Total
MNT’000

984,636

-

-

984,636

-

466,651

224,300

690,951

984,636

466,651

224,300

1,675,587

Unquoted investments:
Bank of Mongolia treasury billls
Equities

2006
Held-to-maturity
MNT’000

Held for trading
MNT’000

Available-for-sale
MNT’000

Total
MNT’000

-

-

500

500

Unquoted investments:
Equities

The Bank of Mongolia treasury bills are interest bearing short term bills with maturities of less than three months, and are issued at a
discount.
Unquoted available-for-sale equities are recorded at cost since its fair value cannot be reliably estimated using valuation technique.
There is no market value for this investment and the bank intends to hold it for the long term.
Unquoted held-for-trading equities are recorded at fair value represents investments in XAC-GE LLC, the Bank’s holding company
during the year. On 12 December 2007, the Bank entered into Sales and Purchase Agreement to sell the equities to European Bank of
Recontruction and Development. The shares transfer was completed on 1 February 2008.

14.

LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS
2007
MNT ‘000

2006
MNT ‘000

Small business loans

25,502,486

19,561,384

Consumer loans

21,249,502

12,039,901

SME loans

25,241,193

8,706,365

3,643,386

5,331,763

Agricultural loans
Wholesale loans

412,009

665,865

Mortgage loans

19,230,651

9,146,903

Apartment pledged loans

2,840,579

1,827,335

Deposit backed loans

2,182,297

2,287,937

Employee loans and advances
Gross loans and advances to customers
Less: Allowance for impairment losses

1,588,314

1,268,806

101,890,417

60,836,259

(693,253)

(486,174)

101,197,164

60,350,085

XacBank
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LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS (CONTD.)

impairment  allowance

deducting any individually assessed

determined to be impaired, before
-

149,019

276,238

54,315

149,019

35,300
240,938

Specific Impairment

Collective Impairment

Gross amount of loans, individually

149,019

276,238

At 31 December 2007

(3,925)

(9,791)

(7,275)

Recoveries

(58,645)

80,177

Impairment written off

82,728

261,981

At 1 January 2007

Charge for the year

80,007

MNT ‘000

Consumer
Loans

MNT ‘000

At 31 December 2007

Small
Business
Loans

80,578

131,665

101,123

30,542

131,665

(3,468)

-

46,486

88,647

MNT ‘000

SME Loans

17,395

67,168

55,552

11,616

67,168

(1,769)

(16,113)

53,941

31,109

MNT ‘000

Agricultural
Loans

-

-

-

-

-

(4,419)

-

-

4,419

MNT ‘000

Wholesale
Loans

A reconciliation of the allowance for impairment losses for loans and advances to customers by class is as follows:

Impairment allowance for loans and advances to customers

14.

7,718

57,033

49,315

7,718

57,033

(1,502)

-

53,374

5,161

MNT ‘000

Mortgage
Loans

-

11,007

11,007

-

11,007

(290)

-

4,312

6,985

MNT ‘000

Apartment
Pledged
Loans

-

99

99

-

99

(58)

-

-

157

MNT ‘000

Deposit
Backed
Loans

-

1,024

1,024

-

1,024

(3,963)

-

-

4,987

MNT ‘000

Employee
Loans

160,006

693,253

608,077

85,176

693,253

(26,669)

(84,549)

318,297

486,174

MNT ‘000

Total
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199,255

88,647

55,238

33,409

88,647

(1,087)

-

83,161

6,573

MNT ‘000

SME Loans

27,961

31,109

14,356

16,753

31,109

(382)

(1,955)

27,346

6,100

MNT ‘000

Agricultural
Loans

-

4,419

4,419

-

4,419

(54)

-

4,473

-

MNT ‘000

Wholesale
Loans

-

5,161

5,161

-

5,161

(63)

-

5,224

-

MNT ‘000

Mortgage
Loans

3,067

6,985

6,629

356

6,985

(86)

-

6,245

826

MNT ‘000

Apartment
Pledged
Loans

-

157

157

-

157

(2)

-

154

5

MNT ‘000

Deposit
Backed Loans

-

4,987

4,987

-

4,987

(61)

-

3,193

1,855

MNT ‘000

Employee
Loans

361,395

486,174

378,107

108,067

486,174

(5,963)

(28,551)

393,081

127,607

MNT ‘000

Total

The fair value of the collateral that the Bank holds relating to loans individually determined to be impaired at 31st December 2007 amounts to MNT887 million (2006: MNT909 million).  These value are estimated by the management  based on the latest available information. For a more detailed description, see ‘Collateral and other credit enhancement’ under Note 34.

impairment  allowance

deducting any individually assessed

determined to be impaired, before
32,298

82,728

261,981

98,814

11,367
71,361

46,182
215,799

Specific Impairment

Collective Impairment

Gross amount of loans, individually

82,728

261,981

At 31 December 2006

(3,504)
(1,015)

(3,213)

(23,092)

Recoveries

Impairment written off

72,471

14,776

97,472
190,814

At 1 January 2006

Charge for the year

MNT ‘000

Consumer
Loans

MNT ‘000

Small
Business
Loans

LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS (CONTD.)

At 31 December 2006

14.

14.

LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS (CONTD.)

Derecognition of a loan portfolio
In December 2007, the Bank sold the rights to 100% of the cash flows arising on a portfolio of floating rate mortgage loans carried at
USD1,033,382, with a fair value of USD1,033,382, to Mongolian Mortgage Corporation for a payment of USD1,033,382. The Bank has
determined that substantially all the risks and rewards of the portfolio has been transferred. The risk include credit, interest rate, currency, prepayment and price risks. Hence the Bank has derecognised the entire portfolio from its balance sheet.

15.

OTHER ASSETS
2007
MNT ‘000

2006
MNT ‘000

Other receivables

279,406

354,696

Less: Allowance for impairment losses

(49,760)

(2,393)

229,646

352,303

Foreclosure properties

3,436

11,821

(3,436)

(11,821)

-

-

Prepaid expenses

828,617

564,423

Consumables and other inventories

455,353

505,696

1,513,616

1,422,422

2,393

5,711

Less: Allowance for impairment losses

Allowance for impairment losses of other receivables
At 1st January
Charge for the year

49,074

571

Amount written off

(1,295)

(3,131)

Amount written back
At 31st December

16.

(412)

(758)

49,760

2,393

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

31 December 2007

Buildings
MNT ‘000

Furniture, fixtures
and vehicles
MNT ‘000

Computers
MNT ‘000

Capital work-inprogress
MNT ‘000

Total
MNT ‘000

4,356,062

1,806,590

1,629,884

1,505,294

9,297,830

At Cost
At 1 January 2007
Additions

5,411

277,681

535,061

994,526

1,812,679

Disposals

-

(46,742)

(6,724)

-

(53,466)

Write-offs

-

-

(5,502)

-

(5,502)

736,303

-

-

(754,943)

(18,640)

5,097,776

2,037,529

2,152,719

1,744,877

11,032,901

At 1 January 2007

213,737

362,060

743,699

-

1,319,496

Charge for the year (Note 7)

127,339

187,336

318,781

-

633,456

-

(13,035)

(5,889)

-

(18,924)

Transfer
At 31 December 2007
Accumulated Depreciation

Disposals
Write-offs
At 31 December 2007
Net Book Value
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-

-

(5,502)

-

(5,502)

341,076

536,361

1,051,089

-

1,928,526

4,756,700

1,501,168

1,101,630

1,744,877

9,104,375

16.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTD.)

31 December 2006

Buildings
MNT ‘000

Furniture, fixtures
and vehicles
MNT ‘000

Computers
MNT ‘000

Capital work-inprogress
MNT ‘000

Total
MNT ‘000

3,622,083

1,415,086

1,319,931

431,361

6,788,461

At Cost
At 1 January 2006
Additions

341,341

501,177

374,452

1,471,538

2,688,508

Disposals

(4,967)

(109,673)

(52,698)

-

(167,338)

Write-offs
Transfer
At 31 December 2006

-

-

(11,801)

-

(11,801)

397,605

-

-

(397,605)

-

4,356,062

1,806,590

1,629,884

1,505,294

9,297,830

118,074

229,605

520,853

-

868,532

Accumulated Depreciation
At 1 January 2006
Charge for the year (Note 7)
Disposals

96,367

165,754

282,576

-

544,697

(704)

(33,299)

(47,929)

-

(81,932)

Write-offs
At 31 December 2006
Net Book Value

-

-

(11,801)

-

(11,801)

213,737

362,060

743,699

-

1,319,496

4,142,325

1,444,530

886,185

1,505,294

7,978,334

During the year the Bank land usage right amounting to MNT18.6 million to intangible assets and amortised over the a period of 1520 years.

17.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

31 December 2007

Software and Licenses
MNT ‘000

Patents and Rights
MNT ‘000

Total
MNT ‘000

444,341

1,143

445,484

At Cost
At 1 January 2007
Addition

196,533

-

196,533

Reclassification

(30,000)

30,000

-

Transfer
At 31 December 2007

-

18,640

18,640

610,874

49,783

660,657

68,295

313

68,608

Accumulated Amortisation
At 1 January 2007
Charge for the year (Note 7)

95,420

2,431

97,851

At 31 December 2007

163,715

2,744

166,459

Net Book Value

447,159

47,039

494,198

Software and Licenses
MNT ‘000

Patents and Rights
MNT ‘000

Total
MNT ‘000

At 1 January 2006

114,133

1,050

115,183

Addition

330,208

93

330,301

At 31 December 2006

444,341

1,143

445,484

2,427

-

2,427

Charge for the year (Note 7)

65,868

313

66,181

At 31 December 2006

68,295

313

68,608

376,046

830

376,876

31 December 2006
At Cost

Accumulated Amortisation
At 1 January 2006

Net Book Value
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18.

DUE TO CUSTOMERS
2007
MNT ‘000

2006
MNT ‘000

Current accounts

11,761,026

5,372,795

Demand deposits

16,402,620

9,349,055

Time deposits

35,188,405

28,271,453

Other deposits

19.

13,752
43,007,055

2007
MNT ‘000

2006
MNT ‘000

14,581,140

4,080,959

2007
MNT ‘000

2007
MNT ‘000

-

101,613

292,512

364,358

-

587,012

DUE TO BANKS

Deposits from local banks

20.

77,166
63,429,217

BORROWED FUNDS

Borrowed funds from foreign financial institutions
Unsecured:
Deutsche Bank Microcredit Development Fund, Inc
International Finance Corporation
Dexia Micro Credit Fund
Calvert Social Investment Foundation, Inc

840,136

836,010

ASN-Novib Fonds

2,987,058

1,764,657

Oikocredit Ecumenical Development Cooperative Society U.A

4,080,874

1,745,762

439,178

583,228

Shorecap International Ltd
Stichting Triodos Doen

2,870,179

1,557,667

Triodos Fair Share Fund

3,583,259

1,160,990

BlueOrchard Finance S.A.
DB-Global Commercial Microfinance Consortium, Ltd

13,480,502

7,583,539

4,766,988

4,798,047

DWM Securitizations S.A.

2,334,554

2,321,777

European Bank for Reconstruction and Development

5,918,162

2,859,626

Netherland Development Finance Company

5,756,281

-

47,349,683

26,264,286

-

290,966

Borrowed funds from BOM and government agencies
Unsecured:
Agricultural Sector Development Project Loan
Employment Generation Project
Employment Generation Support Fund

70,300
500,000

Micro Finance Development Fund

550,779

837,579

Rural Poverty Reduction Program

2,120,522

1,849,458

858,563

341,011

70,243

-

Ministry of Trade and Industry
Ministry of Finance and Japan Bank for International Cooperation
Totals
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4,101,047

3,889,314

51,450,730

30,153,600

20.

BORROWED FUNDS (CONTD.)

Deutsche Bank Microcredit Development Fund, Inc (DB)
The loan was obtained in 2002 in the form of subordinated debt for a principal amount of USD125,000 to finance the Bank’s microfinance and small and medium enterprise (SME) lending activities. The loan bears interest at a rate of 2% (2006: 2%) per annum. The
loan was fully settled during the year.
International Finance Corporation (IFC)
The loan from IFC, amounting to USD400,000, bears interest at a rate of 8.89% (2006: 9.11%) per annum. The loan was obtained in
2002 to finance the Bank’s micro-finance and SME lending activities. The loan is repayable in twelve semi-annual instalments which
commenced on 15 January 2005 and will be fully repaid in July 2010.
Dexia Micro Credit Fund (DMCF)
The Bank obtained the promissory note in 2005 for a principal amount of USD1,000,000 to finance micro-finance and SME lending activities. The note bears interest at a rate of 9.75% (2006: 9.75%) per annum. The loan is repayable in two equal semi-annual instalments
of USD500,000 each, commencing in December 2006. The loan was fully settled during the year.
Calvert Social Investment Foundation, Inc (CSIF)
The loan obtained from CSIF is in the form of promissory notes issued by the foundation for a principal amount of USD700,000. The
note was obtained in 2004, 2005 and 2006 respectively to finance the Bank’s micro-finance and SME lending activities. The notes bear
interest at a rate of 6% (2006: 6%) per annum and will be fully repaid in July 2008.
ASN-Novib Fonds
The loans obtained from ASN-Novib Fonds comprise the following:
(i)

MNT584,000,000, which bears interest at a rate of 12.5% (2006: 12.5%) per annum. The loan was obtained in 2006 to support
further expansion of the Bank’s micro-finance and SME lending activities. The loan will be fully repaid in September 2008.

(ii)

USD1,000,000, which bears interest at a rate of 8.5% (2006: 8.5%) per annum. The loan was obtained in 2006 to support further
expansion of the Bank’s micro-finance and SME lending activities. The loan will be fully repaid in September 2008.

(iii)

USD1,000,000, which bears interest at a rate of 8.5% per annum. The loan was obtained in 2007 to support further expansion of
the Bank’s micro-finance and SME lending activities. The loan will be fully repaid in September 2008.

Oikocredit Ecumenical Development Cooperative Society U.A (Oikocredit)
The loans obtained from Oikocredit comprise the following:
(i)

USD724,920, which was converted to MNT853,955,760 during the year, bears interest at a rate of 12% (2006: 12%) per annum.
The loan was obtained in 2005 to finance the Bank’s micro-finance and SME lending activities. The loan is repayable in four equal
semi-annual installments of MNT213,488,940 each commencing April 2007 and will be fully settled in October 2008.

(ii)

EUR600,000, which bears interest at a rate of 9.09% (2006: 9.09%) per annum. The loan was obtained in 2005 to finance the
Bank’s micro-finance and SME lending activities. The loan was fully settled in July 2007.

(iii)

USD1,500,000, which bears interest at a rate of 8.9% per annum. The loan was obtained in 2007 to finance the Bank’s microfinance and SME lending activities. The loan is repayable in four equal semi-annual installments commencing February 2010 and
will be fully settled in August 2011.

(iv)

USD500,000, which was converted to MNT582,000,000 and bears interest at a rate of 11.02% per annum. The loan was obtained
in 2007 to finance the Bank’s micro-finance and SME lending activities. The loan is repayable in five equal semi-annual instalments of MNT116,400,000 each commencing February 2008 and will be fully settled in February 2010.

(v)

USD1,000,0000, which was converted to MNT1,183,310,000, which bears interest at a rate of 11.02% per annum. The loan was
obtained in 2007 to finance the Bank’s micro-finance and SME lending activities. The loan is repayable in five equal semi-annual
installments of MNT236,662,000 each commencing February 2008 and will be fully settled in February 2010.

Shorecap International Ltd (SCI)
The loan obtained from SCI, amounting to USD500,000, bears interest at a rate of 9% (2006: 9%) per annum. The loan was obtained in
2005 to finance the Bank’s micro-finance and SME lending activities. The loan is repayable in four equal quarterly installments commencing December 2007 and will be fully repaid in September 2008.
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20. BORROWED FUNDS (CONTD.)
Stichting Triodos Doen
The loans obtained from Stichting Triodos Doen comprise of the following:
(i)

MNT560,185,000, which bears interest at a rate of 12% (2006: 13%) per annum. The loan was obtained in 2005 to finance the
expansion of Bank’s lending activities. The loan will be fully repaid in October 2008.

(ii)

MNT1,000,000,000, which bears interest at a rate of 12% (2006: 13%) per annum. The loan was obtained in 2006 to finance the
expansion of Bank’s lending activities. The loan will be fully repaid in July 2010.

(iii)

MNT1,200,000,000, which bears interest at a rate of 12.5% per annum. The loan was obtained in 2007 to finance the expansion
of Bank’s lending activities. The loan will be fully repaid in April 2011.

Triodos Fair Share Fund
The loans obtained from Triodos Fair Share Fund comprise of the following:
(i)

USD500,000, which bears interest at a rate of 9% (2006: 9%) per annum. The loan was obtained in 2005 to finance the expansion
of Bank’s lending activities. The loan will be fully repaid in October 2008.

(ii)

USD500,000, which bears interest at a rate of 8.5% (2006: 8.5%) per annum. The loan was obtained in 2006 to finance the expansion of Bank’s lending activities. The loan will be fully repaid in July 2011.

(iii)

USD2,000,000 which bears interest at a rate of 8.25% per annum. The loan was obtained in 2007 to finance the expansion of
Bank’s lending activities. The loan will be fully repaid in April 2011.

BlueOrchard Finance S.A.
The loans obtained from BlueOrchard Finance S.A comprise of the following:
(i)

USD6,500,000, which bears interest at a rate of 8.25% (8.25%) per annum. The loan was obtained in 2006 to finance the expansion of the Bank’s micro-finance lending activities. The loan is repayable in four equal quarterly installments commencing June
2010 and will be fully repaid in March 2011.

(ii)

USD5,000,000, which was converted to MNT5,825,000,000 during the year, bears interest at a rate of 12% per annum. The loan
was obtained in 2007 to finance the expansion of the Bank’s micro-finance lending activities. The loan will be fully repaid in June
2012.

DB-Global Commercial Microfinance Consortium, Ltd. (DBGC)
The loan obtained from DBGC, amounting to MNT4,672,000,000, bears interest at a rate of 9.25% (2006: 9.25%) per annum. The loan
was obtained in 2006 to finance the Bank’s micro-finance and small-medium enterprise lending activities. The loan will be fully repaid
in September 2010.
DWM Securitizations S.A. (DWMS)
The loan obtained from DWMS, amounting to USD2,000,000 bears interest at a rate of 8.25% (2006: 8.25%) per annum. The loan was
obtained in 2006 to finance the expansion of the Bank’s micro-finance and small-medium enterprise lending activities. The loan will
be fully repaid in June 2011.
European Bank for Reconstruction and Development (EBRD)
The loans obtained from EBRD comprise of the following:
(i)

USD2,500,000, which bears interest at a rate of 9.30% (2006: 9.12%) per annum. The loan was obtained in 2006 to assist the
development of the micro and small business sector in Mongolia. The loan is repayable in five equal semi-annual installments
commencing September 2008 and will be fully repaid in September 2010.

(ii)

USD2,500,000, which bears interest at a rate of 8.21% per annum. The loan was obtained in 2007 to assist the development
of the micro and small business sector in Mongolia. The loan is repayable in five equal semi-annual installments commencing
September 2008 and will be fully repaid in September 2010.

Netherland Development Finance Company (FMO)
The loan obtained from FMO, amounting to USD5,000,000, which was converted to MNT5,850,450,000 during the year, bears interest
at a rate of  11% per annum. The loan was obtained in 2007 to finance the bank’s micro-finance and SME lending activities. The loan is
repayable in 10 semi-annual installments commencing October 2009 and will be fully repaid in April 2014.
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20. BORROWED FUNDS (CONTD.)
Agricultural Sector Development Project Loan
The Bank obtained this loan in Mongolian Togrog from the Bank of Mongolia. The objective of the loan is to provide financial aid to
small and medium enterprises in the agricultural sector. The loan bears interest at 5.5% (2006: 5.5%) per annum, payable on a quarterly
basis which commenced on 5 January 2006. The loan was fully settled during the year.
Employment Generation Project
The Bank obtained this loan in Mongolian Togrog from the Bank of Mongolia amounting to MNT118,500,000 bears interest at a rate
of 10% (2006: 10%) per annum. The loan was obtained through 4 disbursements from October 2005 to June 2006 to support micro
and medium business entities in Mongolia. The loan is repayable in 7 instalments, commencing on April 2006 and fully settled during
the year.
Employment Generation Support Fund
The Bank obtained this loan in Mongolian Togrog from the Ministry of Social Welfare and Labour.  The objective of the loan is to
provide financial aid to small and medium enterprises. The loan amounting to MNT500 million was obtained in 2006, which bears
interest at rate of 0.8% (2006: 0.8%) per annum and was fully settled during the year. The Bank obtained another loan from Ministry of
Social Welfare and Labour during the year amounting to MNT500 million. The purpose of the loan is to assist herders and unemployed
people to own or expand their business. The loan bears no interest but the Bank is required to pay MNT1 million commission fee on a
quarterly basis until maturity.
Micro Finance Development Fund
The Bank obtained the loan from World Bank to support and improve the living standard of inhabitant in the rural areas. The loan bears
interest rate at 8% (2006: 8%) per annum, payable on a monthly basis with principal repayment commencing September 2005 and
final repayment due in March 2009 in accordance with the repayment schedule.
Rural Poverty Reduction Program
The Bank obtained the loan from International Fund for Agricultural Development to support and reduce the poverty in the rural
areas. The loan, which amounts to USD1,823,380, is to be received from March 2004 to December 2009. It bears interest at a rate of
6% (2006: 6%) per annum. The loan is repayable in 10 equal semi-annual installments commencing from June 2013 and will be fully
repaid in December 2017.
Ministry of Trade and Industry
The objective of the loan is to support micro and medium businesses.  The loans comprise of the following:
(i)

MNT340 million, which bears interest at a rate of 1.2% (2006: 1.2%) per annum. The loan was obtained in 2006 and will be due
and fully repaid in November 2008.

(ii)

MNT513,998,000, which bears interest at a rate of 1.2% per annum. The loan was obtained in 2007 and will be due and fully
repaid in April 2009.

Ministry of Finance and Japan Bank for International Cooperation (JBIC)
The Bank obtained MNT69.9 million loan from Ministry of Finance and JBIC during the year to support micro and medium businesses.
The loan bears interest rate at 5.9% per annum and will be fully repaid in August 2010.
The Bank has not had any defaults of principal, interest or other breaches with respect to their liabilities during the year.

21. DEFERRED GRANTS

Consultative Group to Assist the Poorest (CGAP)
International Finance Corporation (IFC)
United States Agency for International Development (USAID)

2007
MNT ‘000

2006
MNT ‘000

48,368

78,475

5,666

7,308

60,024

74,846

114,058

160,629
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21. DEFERRED GRANTS (CONTD.)
Movements in the deferred grants are as follows:
2007
MNT ‘000

2006
MNT ‘000

160,629

126,864

22,529

117,568

Amortised during the year

(69,100)

(83,803)

Balance at end of year

114,058

160,629

Balance at beginning of year
Received during the year

The CGAP grant was approved in 2001 with the objective of assisting the X.A.C Co., Ltd in making a successful transition to a microfinance bank. The grant allows the Bank to carry out the following activities:
•
•
•

Develop internal systems that meet the requirements and needs of a micro-finance bank;
Secure higher standard of external audit services; and
Strengthen senior management and corporate governance, in particular, financial management and banking skills.

In 2006, the Bank won the CGAP’s Pro Poor Innovation Challenge for its “Development Guide” service supporting rural savings and
credit cooperatives. The grant was disbursed to XacBank to improve the Bank’s service to the public, which include provide training to
cooperative managers and members, finance awards for the best cooperatives and provides MIS program to cooperatives.
The IFC grant was received in 2002 with the objective of providing funds for technical assistance in the following initiatives:
•
•
•

Hiring of technical advisor;
Provide training for senior managers with an established micro-finance institution; and
Participation by an international participant in the meetings of the Bank’s Board of Directors and training for the Bank’s Board
members.

The Microenterprise Implementation Grant Program (MIGP) grant was received in 2003 from United States Agency for International
Development (USAID) with the objective of assisting the Bank in expanding its branch network, staff training and developing new
products and services, as well as internal systems needed to control growth.
Expenditure financed by grants
Donor and Purpose

2007
MNT ‘000

2006
MNT ‘000

42,518

4,689

• Expenditure financed by grants from United Nations Development Program covering
scholarships to students

-

710

• Expenditure financed by grants from USAID’s Income Generation Project covering
internal systems development & IT audit consultancy, training and exposure trip

-

14,243

14,825

14,825

• Expenditure financed by grants from CGAP covering meeting and training fee and
technical assistance fee for MIS

• Expenditure financed by grants from MIGP covering purchasing of accounting program
• Expenditure financed by grants from MIGP covering renovation of building

-

49,336

• Expenditure financed by grants from IFC covering training fee

1,667

-

• Expenditure financed by grants from BlueOrchard covering conference fee

2,425

• Expenditure financed by grant from Eurogiro covering training fee

2,308

• Expenditure financed by grant from Shorecap International Ltd. covering meeting
and training fee

-

5,357

-

69,100

83,803

2007
MNT ‘000

2006
MNT ‘000

88,974

95,406

469,648

313,303

1,013

1,149

559,635

409,858

22. OTHER LIABILITIES

Delay on clearing settlement
Other payables
Dividends payable
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23. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES
The movements of deferred tax liabilities during the financial year are as follows:
Property, plant
and equipments
2007
MNT’000

Property, plant
and equipments
2006
MNT’000

At 1 January 2007

-

-

Recognised in income statement

47,553

-

At 31 December 2007

47,553

-

24. ORDINARY SHARES
Number of Ordinary Shares of MNT1,000 each

At 1 January 31 December

Amount

2007

2006

2007
MNT ‘000

2006
MNT ‘000

8,034,200

8,034,200

8,034,200

8,034,200

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share at
meetings of the Bank.  All shares rank equally with regard to the Bank’s residual assets.

25. OTHER RESERVES
During the year the Board of Directors approved the transfer of MNT 1,241,206,394 (2006: MNT1,038,928,527) from retained profits to
other reserves.  At the date of this report, no policy is formalised by the Board as to the purpose of this reserves.

26. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and short term funds (Note 11)
Due from banks (Note 12)

2007
MNT ‘000

2006
MNT ‘000

5,529,661

5,301,179

23,913,044

13,492,176

29,442,705

18,793,355

27. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
Equity Compensation Benefits
Under the Bank’s Employee Stock Ownership Plan, shares are allocated to employees on the following conditions:




Employment duration with the Bank and its predecessor companies must be at least one year and the employee must complete
more than 1,000 hours of service;
Performing rating in the most recent evaluation period; and
Employee shall read, understand and agree to abide by the policy prior to purchasing any Stock under this policy.

The number of shares offered for sale and its price will be determined at the discretion of the Bank’s Board of Directors. In 2007, EIT
LLC alloted 85,708 shares of MNT1,000 each to XacBank LLC employees based on the discretion of the Board. In 2006, the shares were
offered at a price of 50% (2005: 30%) of the par value of EIT LLC shares, an investment trust company set up to hold the shares in XACGE LLC.  The share capital of XacBank LLC is not affected by these transactions. The Bank does not bear or incur any cost in connection
with these transactions.
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28. MATURITY ANALYSIS OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
The table shows an analysis of assets and liabilities analysed according to when they are expected to be recovered or settled. See Note
34.3 ‘Liquidity risk and funding management’ for the Bank’s contractual undiscounted repayment obligations.
Less than 12
months
MNT ‘million

More than 12
months
MNT ‘million

Total
MNT ‘million

5,530

-

5,530

23,913

-

23,913

985

691

1,676

61,281

39,916

101,197

230

-

230

91,939

40,607

132,546

Property, plant and equipment

-

9,104

9,104

Intangible assets

-

494

494

At 31st December 2007
Financial assets
Cash and short term funds
Due from banks
Financial investments
Loans and advances to customers
Other receivables
Non financial assets

Other assets

745

539

1,284

745

10,137

10,822

92,684

50,744

143,428

Due to customers

48,810

14,619

63,429

Due to banks

14,581

-

14,581

9,168

42,283

51,451

Total
Financial liabilities

Borrowed funds
Other liabilities

558

2

560

73,117

56,904

130,021

Deferred grants

55

59

114

Tax payable

17

-

17

Non financial liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities

68

-

47

47

72

106

178

Total

73,189

57,010

130,199

Net

19,495

(6,266)

13,229
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28. MATURITY ANALYSIS OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (CONTD.)
At 31st December 2006

Less than 12
months
MNT ‘million

More than 12
months
MNT ‘million

Total
MNT ‘million

5,301

-

5,301

13,461

31

13,492

-

1

1

43,130

17,220

60,350

352

-

352

62,244

17,252

79,496

-

7,978

7,978

-

377

377

455

615

1,070

Financial assets
Cash and short term funds
Due from banks
Financial investments
Loans and advances to customers
Other receivables

Non financial assets
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Other assets
Total

455

8,970

9,425

62,699

26,222

88,921

32,919

10,088

43,007

Financial liabilities
Due to customers
Due to banks

4,081

-

4,081

Borrowed funds

3,235

26,919

30,154

Other liabilities

406

4

410

40,641

37,011

77,652

86

74

160

241

-

241

Non financial liabilities
Deferred grants
Tax payable

327

74

401

Total

40,968

37,085

78,053

Net

21,731

(10,863)

10,868
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29. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES
The Bank is controlled by XAC-GE LLC (incorporated in Mongolia).  XAC-GE LLC is owned by shareholders as disclosed in Note 1.
A number of banking transactions are entered into with related parties in the normal course of business. These include loans, deposits
and foreign currency transactions. These transactions were carried out on commercial terms and at market rates. The volumes of related party transactions, outstanding balances as at the year end, and relating expense for the year are listed below.
2007
MNT ‘000

2006
MNT ‘000

299,321

199,336

(a) Compensations to key management personnel
- Salaries, incentives and allowances
- Contribution to social and health fund
(b) Loans to key management personnel

56,871

37,874

356,192

237,210

193,824

215,769

Repayable
- within one year

44,204

26,982

- one year to five years

26,725

44,619

122,895

144,168

193,824

215,769

- over five years

The loans to Bank’s employees bear interest rates ranging from 5% to 12% (2006 : 5% to 30.0%) per annum.
2007
MNT ‘000

2006
MNT ‘000

439,178

583,228

Stichting Triodos Doen

2,870,179

1,557,667

Triodos Fair Share Fund

3,583,259

1,160,990

6,892,616

3,301,885

522,089

355,053

3,423,192

2,913,868

-Current account

61,778

1,097,388

-Demand deposit

608

3,108

(c) Loans from shareholders of XAC-GE LLC
Shorecap International Ltd

(d) Loan interest paid to shareholders of XAC-GE LLC
(e) Deposits from corporate shareholders
(f ) Due to holding company

-Time deposit

593,000

-

655,386

1,100,496

278,836

225,334

- XacSecurity LLC

5,969

1,851

- XacLeasing LLC

116,081

-

122,050

1,851

22,250

39,368

- XacSecurity LLC

123

87

- XacLeasing LLC

2,715

-

25,088

39,455

234

-

530,783

449,016

(g) Security fees paid to fellow Subsidiary Company
- XacSecurity LLC
(h) Deposits from fellow Subsidiary Companies

(i) Deposit interest paid to holding and fellow Subsidiary Companies
- XAC-GE LLC

(j) Hire purchase interest income from fellow Subsidiary Company
- XacLeasing LLC
(k) Dividend paid to holding company
- XAC-GE LLC
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30. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND COMMITMENTS
To meet the financial needs of customers, the Bank enters into various irrevocable commitments and contingent liabilities. Even
though these obligations may not be recognised on the balance sheet, they do contain credit risk and are therefore part of the overall
risk of the Bank.

Contingent liability
Letter of credit

2007
MNT ‘000

2006
MNT ‘000

201,231

159,826

Letters of credit (including standby letters of credit) commit the Bank to make payments on behalf of customers in the event of a
specific act, generally related to the import or export of goods. Standby letters of credit carry the same credit risk as loans.  No material
losses are anticipated as a result of these transactions.

Commitments
Undrawn commitments to lend

2007
MNT ‘000

2006
MNT ‘000

960,377

137,980

Commitments to extend credit represent contractual commitments to make loans and revolving credits. Commitments generally
have fixed expiry dates, or other termination clauses. Since commitments may expire without being drawn upon, the total contract
amounts do not necessarily represent future cash requirements.
However, the potential credit loss is less than the total unused commitments since most commitments to extend credit are contingent
upon customers maintaining specific standards. The Bank monitors the term to maturity of credit commitments because longer-term
commitments generally have a greater degree of credit risk than shorter-term commitments.

Other commitments

2007
MNT ‘000

2006
MNT ‘000

361,736

407,315

Approved and contracted for:
Property, plant and equipment
Legal claims
Litigation is a common occurrence in the banking industry due to the nature of the business. The Bank has an established protocol for
dealing with such legal claims. Once professional advice has been obtained and the amount of damages reasonably estimated, the
Bank makes adjustments to account for any adverse effects which the claims may have on its financial standing. At year end, the Bank
had no unresolved legal claims.
Operating lease commitments - Bank as lessee
The Bank as lessee entered all the operating leases of  various buildings  under cancellable operating lease agreements.  The  Bank  is
required to give a month notice for the termination of those agreements. The leases have no renewal option,  purchase option and
escalation clauses included in the agreements. There are no restrictions placed upon the Bank by entering these leases.

31.

EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE

On 1 February 2008, the Bank disposed off its investment of 158,941 shares in XAC-GE LLC at MNT2,936 each to European Bank of
Reconstruction and Development.
On 25 January 2008 and 13 March 2008, the Bank received USD865,545 (equivalent of EUR600,000) and USD 865,798 (equivalent of
EUR600,000) respectively under a 10-year subordinated convertible loan from KfW, Frankfurt am Main (KfW). The subordinated convertible loan bears interest at 5% above USD LIBOR relating to each interest period with maximum interest rate to be capped at 9%
per annum. Interest shall be accrued from the first disbursement date and to be paid on 20 July 2017.
The subordinated convertible loan can be repaid by cash as a bullet repayment in one amount on 20 July 2017 or based on approval
from shareholders meeting, be converted into equity shares of the Bank’s holding Company XAC-GE LLC. The mode of repayment is
further subjected to KfW’s decision. The price of new shares to be issued shall be fixed by the Shareholders Meeting of XAC-GE LLC that
authorizes the Capital Increase. The new shares to be acquired by KfW shall be common shares with full voting powers and rank pari
passu to all other shares of XAC-GE LLC and shall not exceed 20% of the aggregate share capital of XAC-GE LLC. The Bank cannot repay
the loan prior to the maturity date, except in the case of revocation of its banking license, its insolvency, liquidation or restructuring
and with the prior approval of the Bank of Mongolia.
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32. CAPITAL ADEQUACY
The Bank actively manages its capital base to cover risks inherent in the business. The adequacy of the Bank’s capital is monitored using, among other measures, the rules and ratios established by the Bank of Mongolia.
During the past year, the Bank had complied in full all its externally imposed capital requirements.
Capital management
The primary objectives of the Bank’s capital management are to ensure that the bank complies with externally imposed capital requirements and that the Bank maintains strong credit ratings and healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and to maximise shareholder’s value.
The Bank manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in the light of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of its activities. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Bank may adjust the amount of dividend payment to
shareholders, return capital to the shareholder or new equity or equity related securities.
Regulatory capital
The Bank of Mongolia requires commercial banks to maintain a minimum core capital adequacy ratio of 5% and risk weighted capital
ratio of at least 10%, compiled on the basis of total capital and total assets as adjusted for their intrinsic risk characteristics. The capital
adequacy ratios of the Bank as at 31st December are as follows:
2007

2006

Core capital ratio

11.08%

15.81%

Risk weighted capital ratio

11.08%

15.81%

2007
MNT ‘000

2006
MNT ‘000

8,034,200

8,034,200

Tier I capital
Statutory fund
Share premium

8,551

8,551

Other reserves

2,293,999

1,052,792

Retained profits

2,891,827

1,773,210

Less: Held for trading equities*

(466,651)

-

12,761,926

10,868,753

Total Tier I capital
Breakdown of risk weighted assets in the various categories of risk weights are as follows:
2007
MNT ‘000

2006
MNT ‘000

Assets

Risk Weighted

Assets

Risk Weighted

10,974,728

-

9,287,565

-

%
0
10

-

-

-

-

20

19,489,669

3,897,934

9,580,297

1,916,059

7,540,256

3,770,128

9,278,324

4,639,162

100

50

107,957,596

107,957,596

62,207,945

62,207,945

Total

145,962,249

115,625,658

90,354,131

68,763,166

-

(466,651)

-

-

145,962,249

115,159,007

90,354,131

68,763,166

Less: Held for trading equities*

* Held for trading equities represents investments in XAC-GE LLC, the Bank’s holding company during the year.
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33. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Set out below is a comparison by class of the carrying values and fair values of the Bank’s financial instruments that are carried in the
financial statements. The table does not include the fair value of non financial assets and non financial liabilities

Fair value

Unrecognised gain/
(loss)

Carrying
value

Fair value

Unrecognised gain/
(loss)

2007
MNT ‘000

2007
MNT ‘000

2007
MNT ‘000

2006
MNT ‘000

2006
MNT ‘000

2006
MNT ‘000

11

5,529,661

5,529,661

-

5,301,179

5,301,179

-

Note

Carrying
value

Financial assets
Cash and short term funds
Due from banks

12

23,913,044

23,913,044

-

13,492,176

13,492,176

-

Financial investments available-for-sale

13

224,300

224,300

*

500

500

*

Financial investments - held
for trading

13

466,651

466,651

-

-

-

-

Financial investments - held
to maturity

13

984,636

984,636

-

-

-

-

Loans and advances to
customers

14

101,197,164

100,612,952

(584,212)

60,350,085

61,281,006

930,921

Other receivables

15

229,646

229,646

-

352,303

352,303

-

Financial liabilities
Due to customers

18

63,429,217

63,429,217

-

43,007,055

43,007,055

-

Due to banks

19

14,581,140

14,581,140

-

4,080,959

4,080,959

-

Borrowed funds

20

51,450,730

51,341,994

(108,736)

30,153,600

30,135,744

(17,856)

Other payables

22

559,635

559,635

-

409,858

409,858

-

Total unrecognised change in unrealised fair value

(692,948)

913,065

* As disclosed in Note 13, the fair value of unquoted equities cannot be reliably measured using valuation techniques.
The following describes the methodologies and assumptions used to determine fair values for those financial instruments which are
not already recorded at fair value in the financial statements.
Assets for which fair value approximate carrying value
For financial assets and financial liabilities that are liquid or having short term maturity (less than one year), it is assumed that the
carrying amounts approximate to their fair value. This assumption is also applied to time deposit, saving accounts without a specific
maturity and variable rate financial instruments and held for trading unquoted equities. Based on fair value assessments performed by
the management, the estimated fair values of due to customers of more than one year approximate their carrying amounts as shown
in the balance sheet. This is principally due to the fact that the current market rates offered for similar deposit products do not differ
from market rate at inception.
Fixed rate financial instruments
The fair value of fixed rate financial assets and liabilities carried at amortised cost are estimated by comparing market interest rates
when they were first recognised with current market rates offered for similar financial instruments.  The estimated fair value of fixed
interest bearing loans and advances to customers is based on discounted cash flows using prevailing money-market interest rates for
debts with similar credit risk and maturity.  For quoted debt issued, the fair values are calculated based on quoted market prices.  For
those notes issued where quoted market prices are not available, a discounted cash flow model is used based on a current interest rate
yield curve appropriate for the remaining term of maturity.

XacBank

73

34. RISK MANAGEMENT
34.1 Introduction
Risk is inherent in the Bank’s activities but it is managed through a process of ongoing identification, measurement and monitoring,
subject to risk limits and other controls. The main risk inherent in the Bank’s day to day operation involves credit risk, liquidity risk,
foreign currency risk, interest rate risk, prepayment risk and operation risk. Such risk could either result in a direct loss in earnings and
capital or may result in constraints on the Bank’s ability to meet its objectives.
The Bank has a clearly defined risk management framework which is not designed to eliminate the risk but to optimize the risk and
return trade off. The risk management framework inplace is to ensure that:
(i)

Individuals who manage the risks clearly understands the requirement and measurement system;

(ii)

The Bank’s risk exposure is within the limits established by the Board of Directors (BOD);

(iii)

The risk measured is in line with the business strategy as approved by the BOD;

(iv)

The capital allocation is consistent with the risk exposures; and

(v)

The Bank’s performance objectives are aligned with the risk tolerance.

Risk management structure
The Board of Directors is responsible for the overall risk management approach and for approving the risk strategies and principles.
However, there are separate independent bodies responsible for managing and monitoring risks.
Board Risk Management Committee (BRMC) and Risk Management Committee (RMC)
The RMC sets the comprehensive risk management policies and tolerances. RMC is responsible for anticipating and managing new
and ongoing financial risk across business departments and maintaining appropriate limits on risk taking, adequate systems and
standards for measuring financial risk and performance, comprehensive risk reporting and management review process. The BRMC is
responsible for reviewing and approving the business strategies set by RMC.
Treasury Department
The Bank’s Treasury Department has direct accountability for identifying, measuring, monitoring, and managing the daily financial
positions and market risk. It is also primarily responsible for the funding and liquidity risk of the Bank.
Internal Audit
Risk management processes throughout the bank are audited annually by the internal audit function, that examines both the adequacy of the procedures and the Bank’s compliance with the procedures. Internal audit discusses the results of all assessments with
management, and reports its findings and recommendations to the Audit Committee.
Risk measurement and reporting system
The Bank’s risks are measured using a method which reflects both the expected loss likely to arise in normal circumstances and unexpected losses, which are an estimate of the ultimate actual loss based on statistical models. The models make use of probabilities
derived from historical experience, adjusted to reflect the economic environment. The Bank also runs worse case scenarios that would
arise in the event that extreme events which are unlikely to occur do, in fact, occur.
Monitoring and controlling risks is primarily performed based on limits established by the Bank. These limits reflect the business
strategy and market environment of the Bank as well as the level of risk that the Bank is willing to accept, with additional emphasis
on selected industries. In addition, the Bank monitors and measures the overall risk bearing capacity in relation to the aggregate risk
exposure across all risk types and activities.
Information compiled from all the businesses is examined and processed in order to analyse, control and identify early risks. This
information is presented and explained to the Board of Directors, BRMC, RMC, and the head of each business division. The report
includes aggregate credit exposure, credit metric forecasts, hold limit exceptions, VaR, liquidity ratios and risk profile changes . On a
monthly basis detailed reporting of industry and customer risks takes place. Senior management assesses the appropriateness of the
allowance for credit losses on a quarterly basis. The Supervisory Board receives a comprehensive risk report once a quarter which is
designed to provide all the necessary information to assess and conclude on the risks of the Bank.
For all levels throughout the Bank, specifically tailored risk reports are prepared and distributed in order to ensure that all business
divisions have access to extensive, necessary and up-to-date information.
A monthly briefing is given to the Executive Committee and all other relevant members of the Bank on the utilisation of market limits,
analysis of VaR and liquidity, plus any other risk developments.
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34. RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTD.)
34.1 Introduction (Contd.)
Risk mitigation
As part of its overall risk management, the Bank uses VaR and basis sensitivity analysis to manage exposures resulting from changes
in interest rates, foreign currencies, credit risks, and exposures arising from forecast transactions.  The Bank actively uses collateral to
reduce its credit risks.
Excessive risk concentration
Concentrations arise when a number of counterparties are engaged in similar business activities, or activities in the same geographic
region or have similar economic features that would cause their ability to meet contractual obligations to be similarly affected by
changes in economic, political or other conditions. Concentrations indicate the relative sensitivity of the Bank’s performance to developments affecting a particular industry of geographical location.
In order to avoid excessive concentrations of risk, the Bank’s policies and procedures include specific guidelines to focus on maintaining a diversified portfolio. Identified concentrations of credit risks are controlled and managed accordingly. At the individual basis, the
Bank of Mongolia (Central Bank) sets the standards of a limitation on as follows:
(i)

The maximum amount of the overall credit exposures issued and other credit-equivalent assets to the individual and his/her
related persons shall not exceed the 20 percent of the capital of the Bank.

(ii)

The maximum amount of the credit exposures issued and other credit-equivalent assets shall not exceed the 5% of the capital
for one related person to the bank, and the aggregation of overall lending to the related persons shall not exceed 20% of the
capital of the Bank.

34.2 Credit risk
The Bank is exposed to credit risk which is the risk that Bank’s customers, clients or counterparties will be unable or unwilling  to pay
interest, repay capital, or otherwise fulfil their contractual obligations under loan agreements, other credit facilities, or in respect of
other financial instruments.
The Bank’s RMC, through the Credit Management Division (CMD) promotes diversification of the loan portfolio of the Bank’s lending
activities.  The CMD structures the levels of credit risk it undertakes by placing limits on the amount of risk accepted in relation to one
borrower, or group of borrowers, and to industry segments. Such risks are monitored on a revolving basis and subject to an annual or
more frequent review. Credit limit to any single borrower and portfolio limits by loan products are approved by the Board of Directors
and reviewed periodically by the CMD.
Exposure to credit risk is managed through regular analysis of the ability of borrowers and potential borrowers to meet interest and
capital repayment obligations and by changing these lending limits where appropriate. Exposure to credit risk is also managed in part
by obtaining collateral and corporate and personal guarantees.
Credit-related commitments risks
The primary purpose of these instruments is to ensure that funds are available to a customer as required. Guarantees and standby
letters of credit, which represent irrevocable assurances that the Bank will make payments in the event that a customer cannot meet
its obligations to third parties, carry the same credit risk as loans.
Maximum exposure to credit risk without taking account of any collateral and other credit enhancements
The table below shows the maximum exposure to credit risk for the components of the balance sheet. The maximum exposure is
shown gross, before the effect of mitigation through the use of master netting and collateral agreements.

Notes

Gross maximum
exposure

Gross maximum
exposure

2007
MNT’000

2006
MNT’000

Cash and short term funds

11

5,529,661

5,301,179

Due from banks

12

23,913,044

13,492,176

Financial investments - available for sale

13

224,300

500

Financial investments - held-to-maturity

13

984,636

-

Financial investments - held for trading

13

466,651

-

Loans and advances to customers

14

101,197,164

60,350,085

132,315,456

79,143,940

Total

XacBank

75

34. RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTD.)
34.2 Credit risk (Contd.)

Notes

Gross maximum
exposure

Gross maximum
exposure

2007
MNT’000

2006
MNT’000

Contingent liabilities

30

201,231

159,826

Commitments - undrawn commitments to lend

30

960,377

137,980

Other commitments

30

Total
Total credit risk eposure

361,736

407,315

1,523,344

705,121

133,838,800

79,849,061

Risk concentrations by industry
The table below shows the analysis per industry sector and economic purpose of the Bank’s Loans and Advances to customers (Note
14) in gross amounts , before and after taking into account the fair value of the loan collateral held or other credit enhancements.
2007

2006

Gross Maximum Exposure

Gross Maximum Exposure

Amount
MNT’000
Textile and production
Trading
Food processing

%

Amount
MNT’000

%

3,996,338

3.9%

2,543,485

4.2%

31,464,842

30.9%

19,227,659

31.6%

1,459,718

1.4%

1,419,424

2.3%

Services

13,376,842

13.1%

6,966,127

11.5%

Consumption

22,837,814

22.4%

13,386,565

22.0%

3,254,177

3.2%

3,456,724

5.7%

Agricultural
Mortgage

20,013,495

19.6%

9,046,209

14.9%

Deposit backed

2,179,510

2.1%

2,286,542

3.8%

Construction, mining
and education

1,701,290

1.7%

1,235,521

2.0%

Loans to staff

1,412,567

1.4%

1,052,234

1.7%

193,824

0.2%

215,769

0.4%

101,890,417

100.0%

60,836,259

100.0%

Loans to key management personnel
Total

Collateral and other credit enhancement
The amount and type of collateral required depends on the assessment of the credit risk of the borrower or counterparty and the type
of loan granted.  The Bank follows the collateral guidelines set by the Credit Management Committee in determining the type and
value of collateral to be obtained.
The main types of collateral obtained are as follows:
•
•
•
•

For small business, consumer, agricultural, SME and employee loans - cash, guarantees, securities and real estate properties,
chattels, inventory, etc.
For mortgage loans - mortgages on residential properties and vehicles.
For wholesale loans - cash, equities and real estate properties.
For deposit backed loans - cash deposit.

The Bank performs physical inspection of the collateral and regularly monitors the market value of collateral, requests additional collateral in accordance with underlying agreement, and monitors the market value of collateral obtained during its review of adequacy
of the allowance for impairment losses.
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34. RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTD.)
34.2 Credit risk (Contd.)
Credit quality per class of financial assets
The credit quality of loans and advances to customers is managed by the Bank using internal credit rating.
The following table shows the description of Credit Risk Grading System of the Bank:
Credit Rating

Grade Description

A

Excellent

B

Good

C

Satisfactory

D

Substandard

The Bank’s 4-Grade Risk Rating is used in order to categorize exposures according to the risk profile. The 4-Grade Risk Rating is modeled using parametric approaches (logit model) that quantify the probability of default in determining the risk grade. Both qualitative
and quantitative historical experience provide background for the bank’s credit risk management department for the assumptions
used. The risk grading system is used for determining impairment provisions against specific credit exposures. The current risk grading
framework consists of four grades which are applied in an uniform matter.
It is the Bank’s policy to maintain accurate and consistent risk grades across the credit portfolio. This facilitates the management of
the applicable risks and the comparison of credit exposures across all lines of loan products. The grading system is supported by a
variety of financial and statistical analytics, combined with processed portfolio and market information to provide the main inputs for
the measurement of counterparty risk. All risk grades are tailored to the various loans exposures and are derived in accordance with
the bank’s grading policy across all risk groupings reflecting varying degrees of risk of default and the availability of collateral or other
credit risk mitigation.
The Bank does not rate its cash and short term funds, due from banks and financial investments.
Credit quality per class of financial assets
The table below shows that credit quality by class of asset for loan-related balance sheet lines, based on the Bank’s internal credit
rating system.
Neither past due nor impaired
Not Rated
MNT ‘000

Past due or
individually
impaired
MNT ‘000

-

5,529,661

-

5,529,661

-

23,913,044

-

23,913,044

10,716,988

41,771

-

358,667

25,502,486

11,248,873

61,703

-

203,176

21,249,502

Notes

Excellent
MNT ‘000

Good
MNT ‘000

Satisfactory
MNT ‘000

Cash and short term funds

11

-

-

-

Due from banks

12

-

-

-

Small Business Loans

2,059,751

12,325,309

Consumer Loans

2,203,135

7,532,615

SME Loans

At 31 December 2007

Substandard
MNT ‘000

Total
MNT ‘000

Loans and advance to customers

1,852,106

4,841,640

18,301,442

6,562

-

239,443

25,241,193

Agricultural Loans

17,156

1,810,845

1,630,894

26,658

-

157,833

3,643,386

Wholesale Loans

10,009

179,265

222,735

-

-

-

412,009

Mortgage Loans

148,432

488,220

18,544,291

437

-

49,271

19,230,651

Apartment Pledged Loans

431,877

374,365

2,019,435

7,941

-

6,961

2,840,579

2,182,297

-

-

-

-

-

2,182,297

Deposit Backed Loans
Employee Loans

377,892

1,208,561

423

-

-

1,438

1,588,314

14

9,282,655

28,760,820

62,685,081

145,072

-

1,016,789

101,890,417

Financial investments - available for sale

13

-

-

-

-

224,300

-

224,300

Financial investments - held-tomaturity

13

-

-

-

-

984,636

-

984,636

Financial investments - held for
trading

13

-

-

-

-

466,651

-

466,651

9,282,655

28,760,820

62,685,081

145,072

31,118,292

1,016,789

133,008,709

Total
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34.2 Credit risk (Contd.)
Credit quality per class of financial assets (Contd.)
Neither past due nor impaired
Not Rated
MNT ‘000

Past due or
individually
impaired
MNT ‘000

Total
MNT ‘000

Notes

Excellent
MNT ‘000

Good
MNT ‘000

Satisfactory
MNT ‘000

Substandard
MNT ‘000

Cash and short term funds

11

-

-

-

-

5,301,179

-

5,301,179

Due from banks

12

-

-

-

-

13,492,176

-

13,492,176

Small Business Loans

254,442

6,254,447

12,163,105

450,431

-

438,959

19,561,384

Consumer Loans

12,039,901

At 31 December 2006

Loans and advance to customers

125,962

2,294,991

9,186,537

272,456

-

159,955

SME Loans

-

988,961

7,507,526

7,564

-

202,314

8,706,365

Agricultural Loans

-

418,179

4,548,430

268,537

-

96,617

5,331,763

Wholesale Loans

-

-

662,574

-

-

3,291

665,865

Mortgage Loans

-

33,077

9,097,875

5,533

-

10,418

9,146,903

175,421

1,603,166

44,866

-

3,882

1,827,335

Apartment Pledged
Loans
Deposit Backed Loans

2,287,725

-

-

-

-

212

2,287,937

175,102

1,092,172

-

-

-

1,532

1,268,806

14

2,843,231

11,257,248

44,769,213

1,049,387

-

917,180

60,836,259

13

-

-

-

-

500

-

500

2,843,231

11,257,248

44,769,213

1,049,387

18,793,855

917,180

79,630,114

Employee Loans

Financial investments - available for sale
Total

Past due loans and advances to customers include those that are only past due by a few days. An analysis of past due loans by age is
provided as follows. The majority of the past due loans are not considered to be impaired.
Aging analysis of past due but not impaired loans per class of financial assets

At 31 December 2007

Less than 30
days
MNT ‘000

31 to 60 days
MNT ‘000

61 to 90 days
MNT ‘000

More than 91
days
MNT ‘000

Total
MNT ‘000

43,053

17,885

18,805

224,609

304,352

Loans and advance to customers
Small Business Loans
Consumer Loans
SME Loans
Agricultural Loans

22,670

7,915

133,042

203,176

-

36,658

9,679

158,865

47,048

17,033

9,336

67,021

140,438

Wholesale Loans

-

-

-

-

-

Mortgage Loans

9,877

-

-

31,676

41,553

Apartment Pledged Loans

2,615

-

-

4,346

6,961

Deposit Backed Loans
Employee Loans

78
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112,528
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-

110

620

1,438

255,378

57,588

72,824

470,993

856,783

34. RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTD.)
34.2 Credit risk (Contd.)
Aging analysis of past due but not impaired loans per class of financial assets (Contd.)
At 31 December 2006

Less than 30
days
MNT ‘000

31 to 60 days
MNT ‘000

61 to 90 days
MNT ‘000

More than 91
days
MNT ‘000

Total
MNT ‘000

Loans and advance to customers
Small Business Loans

56,342

27,277

13,194

243,332

340,145

Consumer Loans

31,160

28,070

15,046

53,381

127,657

SME Loans
Agricultural Loans

-

1,420

-

1,639

3,059

26,768

6,540

9,157

26,191

68,656

Wholesale Loans

-

-

2,696

595

3,291

Mortgage Loans

10,418

-

-

-

10,418

212

-

Apartment Pledged Loans

-

Deposit Backed Loans

-

Employee Loans

815

815

-

212

915

475

-

142

1,532

125,603

63,994

40,093

326,095

555,785

Of the total aggregate amount of gross past due but not impaired loans and advances to customers, the fair value of collateral that the
Bank held as at 31 December 2007 was MNT2,368 million (2006: MNT1,923 million). Please refer Note 14 for more detailed information
with respect to allowance for impairment losses on loans and advances to customers.
Carrying amount per class of financial assets whose terms have been renegotiated
The table below shows the carrying amount for renegotiated financial assets, by class.
2007
MNT ‘000

2006
MNT ‘000

Loans and advances to customers
Small Business Loans
Consumer Loans
SME Loans
Mortgage Loans

6,579

6,810

12,376

-

-

10,591

31,622

-

50,577

17,401

Restructuring or renegotiating is done on case by case basis. A loan can be renegotiated only if the borrower faces temporary cash
flow problem which would have reasonable evidence of future recovery. Proposal to restructure a loan is prepared by a credit officer
and the final decision is made at head office by Credit Committee comprised of Senior Managers. Restructured loans are reported to
Board as well.
Impairment assessment
The main considerations for the loan impairment assessment include whether any payments of principal or interest are overdue by
more than 90 days or there are any known difficulties in the cash flows of counterparties, credit rating downgrades, or infringement
of the original terms of the contract. The Bank addresses impairment assessment in two areas: individually assessed allowances and
collectively assessed allowances.
Individually assessed allowances
The Bank determines the allowances appropriate for each individually significant loan or advance on an individual basis. Items considered when determining allowance amounts include the sustainability of the counterparty’s business plan, its ability to improve
performance once a financial difficulty has arisen, projected receipts and the expected dividend payout should bankruptcy ensue, the
availability of the other financial support and the realisable value of collateral, and the timing of the expected cash flows. The impairment losses are evaluated at each reporting date, unless unforeseen circumstances require more careful attention.
Collectively assessed allowances
Allowances are assessed collectively for losses on loans and advances that are not individually significant and for individually significant loans and advances where there is not yet objective evidence of individual impairment. Allowances are evaluated on each
reporting date with each portfolio receiving a separate review by the management.
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34.2

Credit risk (Contd.)

Impairment assessment (Contd.)
Collectively assessed allowances (Contd.)
The collective assessment takes account of impairment that is likely to be present in the portfolio even though there is not yet objective evidence of impairment in an individual assessment. Impairment losses are estimated by taking into consideration of the following information: historical losses on the portfolio, current economic conditions, the approximate delay between the time a loss is likely
to have been incurred and the time it will be identified as requiring an individually assessed impairment allowance, and expected
receipts and recoveries once impaired. Local management is responsible for deciding the length of this period which can extend for
as long as one year. The impairment allowance is then reviewed by credit management to ensure alignment with the bank’s overall
policy.
34.3

Liquidity risk

The Bank is exposed to liquidity risks that the Bank will be unable to meet its payment obligations when they fall due under normal
and stress circumstances.   The Bank sets limits on the minimum funding composition that should be in place to cover withdrawals
at unexpected levels of demand. It is the Bank’s policy to maintain a prudent mix of borrowed and core deposit base. In addition, the
Bank maintains a statutory deposit with the Central Bank of Mongolia equal to 5% of customer deposits.
Analysis of financial liabilities by remaining contractual maturities
The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Bank’s financial liabilities at 31 December 2007 and 31 December 2006 based
on contractual undiscounted repayment obligations. Please refer also note 28 “Maturity analysis of assets and liabilities” for the expected maturities of these liabilities. Repayments which are subject to notice are treated as if notice were to be given immediately.
However, the Bank expects that many customers will not request repayment on the earliest date the Bank could be required to pay
and the table does not reflect the expected cash flows indicated by the Bank’s deposit retention history.

Financial Liabilities

On Demand
MNT’000

Less than 3
months
MNT’000

3 to 6
months
MNT’000

6 months to
1 year
MNT’000

1 to 5 years
MNT’000

Over 5 years
MNT’000

Total undiscounted
financial
liabilities
MNT’000

At 31 December 2007
Due to customers

29,568,092

9,320,095

7,448,493

6,021,905

6,280,753

10,604,036

69,243,374

Due to banks

-

3,369,890

9,245,050

2,330,000

-

-

14,944,940

Borrowed funds

-

686,408

557,682

7,893,421

41,916,323

3,991,268

55,045,102

Other liabilities

-

540,893

16,901

-

1,841

-

559,635

29,568,092

13,917,286

17,268,126

16,245,326

48,198,917

14,595,304

139,793,051

15,334,274

7,606,748

5,218,771

5,703,283

6,104,553

7,445,787

47,413,416

Due to banks

-

1,758,750

2,330,000

-

-

-

4,088,750

Borrowed funds

-

301,421

1,304,403

1,540,898

27,461,071

1,950,016

32,557,809

Total
At 31 December 2006
Due to customers

Other liabilities
Total
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-

205,385

-

204,473

-

-

409,858

15,334,274

9,872,304

8,853,174

7,448,654

33,565,624

9,395,803

84,469,833

34.

RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTD.)

34.3

Liquidity risk (Contd.)

The table below shows the contractual expiry by maturity of the Bank’s contingent liabilities and commitments.

On Demand
MNT’000

Less than 3
months
MNT’000

3 to 6
months
MNT’000

6 months to
1 year
MNT’000

1 to 5 years
MNT’000

Over 5 years
MNT’000

Total
MNT’000

2007
Contingent liabilities

-

-

-

201,231

-

-

201,231

Commitments

-

-

12,106

1,310,007

-

-

1,322,113

Total

-

-

12,106

1,511,238

-

-

1,523,344

-

-

-

159,826

-

-

159,826

2006
Contingent liabilities
Commitments

-

19,680

-

482,505

43,110

-

545,295

Total

-

19,680

-

642,331

43,110

-

705,121

The Bank expects that not all of the contingent liabilities or commitments will be drawn before expiry of the commitments.
34.4

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of financial instruments will fluctuate due to changes in market variables
such as interest rates or foreign exchange rates. The Bank manages and monitors this risk element using VaR and sensitivity analyses.
Except for the concentrations within foreign currencies, the Bank has no significant concentration of market risk.
Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk arises when there is a mismatch between positions, which are subject to interest rate adjustment within a specified
period. The Bank’s lending, funding and investment activities give rise to interest rate risk. The immediate impact of variation in interest rate is on Bank’s net interest income, while a long term impact is on the Bank’s net worth since the economic value of the Bank’s
assets, liabilities and off-balance sheet exposures will be affected. The management has established limits on the interest rate gaps for
stipulated periods. Positions are monitored on a daily basis and hedging strategies are used to ensure positions are maintained with
the established limits.
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonable possible change in interest rates, with all other variables held constant, of the Bank’s income statement. The sensitivity of the income statement is the effect of the assumed changes in interest rates
on the net interest income for one year, based on the floating rate financial assets and financial liabilities held at 31 December 2007
and 31 December 2006.
December 31, 2007
Change in basis
points

Sensitivity of net
interest income
MNT’000

50

(104,378)

(50)

104,378

Floating rate financial assets and liabilities

December 31, 2006
Change in basis
points
Floating rate financial assets and liabilities

Sensitivity of net
interest income
MNT’000
50

(179,404)

(50)

179,404

Currency risk
Currency risk is the possibility of financial loss to the Bank arising from adverse movements in foreign exchange rates. The Bank’s
management sets limits on the level of exposure by currencies, which are monitored on a frequent basis. Apart from using foreign
exchange exposure mismatch, the Bank applies Value-at-Risk (“VaR”) simulation model to manage and measure foreign exchange risk
since March 2007. VaR is a method used in measuring financial risk by estimating the potential negative change in the market value of
a portfolio at a given confidence level and over specified time horizon.
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Objective, assumptions and limitations of VaR Methodology
The VaR model are designed to measure market risk in a normal market environment. The models assume that any changes occurring in the risk factors affecting the normal market environment will follow a normal distribution. The Bank uses Variance/Covariance
model to assess possible changes in foreign currency portfolio based on historical data from the past one day. The VaR methodology
employed by the Bank uses a one-day period, using 99% confidence level, of the potential loss that is not expected to be exceeded if
the current market risk positions were to be held unchanged for one day, and are determined by observing market data movements
over a 250-day period. The use of a 99% confidence level means that, within on day horizon, losses exceeding the VaR figure should
occur, on average, not more than once every hundred days.
The use of VaR has limitations because it is based on historical correlations and volatilities in market prices and assumes that future
price movements will follow a statistical distribution. Due to the fact that VaR relies heavily on historical data to provide information
and may not clearly predict the future changes and modifications of the risk factors, the probability of large market moves may be underestimated if changes in risk factors fail to align with the normal distribution assumption. VaR may also be under or ever-estimated
due to the assumptions placed on risk factors and the relationship between such factors for specific instruments. Even though positions may change throughout the day, the VaR only represents the risk of the portfolios at the close of each business day, and it does
not account for any losses that may occur beyond the 99% confidence level.
VaR is an integral part of the Bank’s market risk management since March 2007, VaR limits and exposures are reviewed regularly
against the limits by management. The estimated potential one-day losses on its foreign currency denominated financial instruments,
as calculated in the VAR model are the following:
Variance/ Covariance
MNT’000
2007 - 31 December

3,786

2007 - Average Daily

3,235

2007 - Highest

8,148

2007 - Lowest

803

The table below summarizes the Bank’s exposure to foreign exchange risk as December 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006. Included in
the table are the Bank’s financial assets and liabilities at carrying amounts, categorized by currencies.
Concentrations of financial
assets and financial liabilities

Local
Currency

Foreign Currencies
USD

EUR

GBP

CNY

RUB

JPY

Total

-

264

414

10

5,530

MNT ‘million
As at 31 December 2007
Assets
Cash and short term funds

3,027

1,759

56

Due from banks

4,609

19,014

259

-

23

3

5

23,913

Financial investments

1,676

-

-

-

-

-

-

1,676

Loans and advances to
customers

86,425

14,730

42

-

-

-

-

101,197

Other receivables

211

19

-

-

-

-

-

230

95,948

35,522

357

-

287

417

15

132,546

54,032

9,144

199

-

51

3

-

63,429

Liabilities
Due to customers
Due to banks

14,581

-

-

-

-

-

-

14,581

Borrowed funds

23,979

27,472

-

-

-

-

-

51,451

Other liabilities
Net position
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416

143

1

-

-

-

-

560

93,008

36,759

200

-

51

3

-

130,021

2,940

(1,237)

157

-

236

414

15

2,525
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34.4 Market Risk (Contd.)
Currency risk (contd.)
Foreign Currencies
Concentrations of financial
assets and financial liabilities

Local
Currency

USD

EUR

GBP

CNY

RUB

JPY

Total

MNT ‘million
As at 31 December 2006
Assets
Cash and short term funds

2,573

1,528

275

-

511

404

10

5,301

Due from banks

5,668

7,390

415

-

-

3

16

13,492

Financial investments
Loans and advances to
customers
Other receivables

1

-

-

-

-

-

-

1

44,719

15,403

228

-

-

-

-

60,350

329

23

-

-

-

-

-

352

53,290

24,344

918

-

511

407

26

79,496

-

43,007

Liabilities
Due to customers

37,514

5,405

85

-

1

2

Due to banks

4,081

-

-

-

-

-

Borrowed funds

9,866

19,425

862

-

-

-

-

30,153

377

33

-

-

-

-

-

410

51,838

24,863

947

-

1

2

-

77,651

1,452

(519)

(29)

-

510

405

26

1,845

Other liabilities
Net position

4,081

Prepayment risk
Prepayment risk is the risk that the Bank will incur a financial loss because its customers and counterparties repay or request repayment earlier or later than expected.
The Bank uses the simplified approach to project the impact of varying levels of prepayment on its net interest income.  The effect on
profit before tax for one year and on equity, assuming the historical annual prepayment ratio for the year, with all other variables held
constant, is as follows:

Prepayment rate
%

Effect on net
interest income
MNT ‘000

Effect on equity
MNT ‘000

6.38

81,305

-

4.46

31,598

-

At 31 December 2007
Loans and advances to customers
At 31 December 2006
Loans and advances to customers
Operation risk
Operational risk is the risk of loss arising from systems failure, human errors, fraud or external events. When controls fail to perform,
operational risks can cause damage to reputation, have legal or regulatory implications, and lead to financial loss.  The Bank cannot
expect to eliminate all operational risk, but through a dual control framework, segregation of duties between front-office and back
office functions, controlled access to systems, authorization and reconciliation procedures, staff education and assessment processes,
including the use of internal audit, the Bank seeks to manage operational risk.

35.

MONGOLIAN TRANSLATION

These financial statements are also presented in the Mongolian language. In the event of discrepancies or contradictions between the
English version and the Mongolian version, the English version will prevail.
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OUR HOLDING COMPANY SHAREHOLDERS

www.ebrd.com

www.xacbank.mn

Number of shares: 689,952
Ownership: 10.11%

Number of shares: 819,809
Ownership: 12.01%

Number of shares: 730,819
Ownership: 10.71%

Founded in 1991, the European Bank for Reconstruction and Development (EBRD) uses the tools of investment to help build market economies and democracies
in 27 countries from Central Europe to Central Asia.
The EBRD is owned by 61 countries and two intergovernmental institutions. Despite its public sector shareholders, it invests mainly in private enterprises, usually
together with commercial partners. The EBRD provides
project financing for banks, industries and businesses,
both new ventures and investments in existing companies. It also works with publicly owned companies to
support privatization, restructuring state-owned firms
and improvement of municipal services.

Employee Investment Trust (EIT) is a special purpose
company, which is owned by co-workers and capitalized with the shares that they currently hold in the
Bank and the Group. Through this process co-workers
set up a truly sustainable mechanism to align the
Group’s interest with those of its employees and at
the same time ensure a proper participation of these
shareholders in the strategy of the organization while
ensuring protection of their legal rights as minority
stakeholders. This entity has voting and transfer rights
and allows the Group to deal with 1 shareholder, alleviating the need to work separately with each individual
shareholder.

The International Finance Corporation (IFC) is a member of the World Bank Group. IFC fosters sustainable
economic growth in developing countries by financing
private sector investment, mobilizing capital in the
international financial markets, and providing advisory
services to businesses and governments. IFC helps
companies and financial institutions in emerging markets create jobs, generate tax revenues, improve corporate governance and environmental performance,
and contribute to their local communities. The goal is
to improve lives, especially for the people who most
need the benefits of growth. IFC invests in enterprises
majority-owned by the private sector throughout most
developing countries in the world.

www.mercycorps.org

www.microvestfund.com

www.mwf.mn

Number of shares: 1,254,180
Ownership: 18.38%

Number of shares: 340,147
Ownership: 4.98%

Number of shares: 100,000
Ownership: 1.47%

Mercy Corps provides international humanitarian aid
and development charitable organization that focuses
on emergency relief services, economic development
and civil society, founded in 1979 as Save the Refugees
Fund. Mercy Corps works amid disasters, conflicts,
chronic poverty and instability to unleash the potential
of people who can win against nearly impossible odds.
Since 1979, Mercy Corps has provided $1.3 billion in
assistance to people in 100 nations. Supported by
headquarters offices in North America and Europe, the
agency’s unified global programs employ 3,400 staff
worldwide and reach nearly 14.4 million people in
more than 35 countries.

MicroVest was created as a capital-mobilizing intermediary for microfinance institutions (MFIs).  MicroVest
seeks partners to help make financial markets work for
poor entrepreneurs of the world by linking capital markets and MFIs.  MicroVest I, LP  (“MV I”), was launched
on January 1, 2004 with US$ 15 million in committed
assets, with the potential to grow to US$ 75 million.
MV I makes debt and equity investments in promising, existing microfinance institutions across broad
geographic areas.

The Mongolian Women’s Federation (MWF), established
in 1924, is a non governmental organization that works
in the area of protection of women rights and interests.
MWF operates through more that 5,000 women’s
councils established in industrial centers, businesses,
and schools in cities, towns, and aymags. MWF carries
out educational activities, and work-related training,
monitors women health care issues. It supports raising
the level of culture among youth and enhancing the
quality of their upbringing by instilling moral values.
Since 1946 , MFW is affiliated with the International
Democratic Federation of Women.

www.forum.mn

www.rotarymongolia.org

www.shorecap.net

Number of shares: 264,141
Ownership: 3.87%

Number of shares: 150,153
Ownership: 2.20%

Number of shares: 490,861
Ownership: 7.19%

Open Society Forum (OSF) is a non-for-profit public
benefit foundation established pursuant to the
Non-Govermental Organization Law of Mongolia, as
a successor to the Mongolian Foundation for Open
Society (Soros Foundation). The OSF is providing a
venue of for public engagement in the policy formulation and implementation monitoring processes, broad
public access to information resources about policies,
laws, and regulations, physical and virtual space for
high-quality research and analysis in the fields of
economic growth, social development and democratic
governance policy.

The Rotary Club of Ulaanbaatar was the first Rotary
Club in Mongolia. The Club was admitted to Rotary
on January 10, 1996, and chartered on May 13, 1996.
Rotary is short for Rotary International – a worldwide
association of local clubs for men and women in
business or the professions who provide humanitarian service to the community at local, national and
international level, encourage high ethical standards
in all vocations, work for goodwill and peace in the
world. Rotary was founded in 1905 and now has over
1.3 million members in more than 30,000 clubs in 185
countries and geographical regions.

ShoreCap International Ltd. is an international private
equity company seeking to invest in small business
banks and regulated microfinance institutions in
developing and transitional economies throughout
Africa, Asia and parts of Eastern Europe.  ShoreCap was
launched by ShoreBank Corporation, America’s first and
leading community development and environmental
banking corporation. ShoreCap builds on ShoreBank’s
strong history of investing in the renewal of local communities in the U.S. and internationally. ShoreBank has
been working to release the dormant entrepreneurial
energy of people in developing countries. ShoreCap is
the next progression in that work.

www.triodos.com
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www.ifc.org

www.triodos.nl

www.tuushin.mn

Number of shares: 511,967
Ownership: 7.50%

Number of shares: 511,969
Ownership: 7.50%

Number of shares: 898,106
Ownership: 13.16%

Triodos-Doen Foundation, founded by Triodos Bank
and DOEN Foundation in 1994, aims to develop
microfinance into a full-fledged and integral part of the
financial sector in developing countries. The creation of
an inclusive financial sector, a sector where the majority of people have access to financial services, will provide a sustainable basis for a balanced social–economic
development. In its vision microfinance institutions
distinguish themselves from other financial institutions
through a specific identity and sustainable profile
which includes not only a focus on the profitability of
the institution but also on the social aspects, which are
an almost inherent part of their mission, and on the
potential impact of their business and credit operations
on the environment and natural living conditions.

Triodos Fair Share Fund, established in 2002 in the
Netherlands, is one of the first and very few socialethical funds worldwide that offers the opportunity
to invest in microfinance institutions to the general
public. The fund initially concentrates on the private
investors market in the Netherlands. Triodos Fair Share
Fund is one of the three microfinance funds managed
by Triodos Investment Management B.V., part of the
Triodos Bank N.V., and invests in microfinance institutions in developing countries, Central Asia and Eastern
Europe. The objective of the fund is to give low-income
people in these countries access to financial services by
contributing to a sustainable inclusive financial sector.

Tuushin LLC was established as a pioneer freight
forwarder in Mongolia on June 1, 1990. Tuushin is a
member of the International Federation of Freight
Forwarders Association (FIATA) and a member of the International Air Transport Association (IATA). At present,
Tuushin has business cooperation with 217 overseas
freight forwarding and shipping companies and works
with more than half of them on the basis of agency
agreements. Other its business areas include Storage
and bonded warehousing, customs clearance, cargo
insurance, exhibition and fair goods handling, removals
and packaging, courier service, and mail order service.
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OUR INTERNATIONAL INVESTORS

www.fmo.nl

www.kfw.de

www.blueorchard.org

www.morganstanley.com
MNT5,825,000,000

The Netherlands Development Finance
Company, development bank, founded
by the Dutch government and business
community in 1970 as the successor of
the Netherlands Overseas Financing Association (NOF). At present, FMO is firmly
rooted in some 40 or more developing
countries and countries in transition and
provides financing in the form of equity
investments and loans to enterprises
and financial institutions.

BlueOrchard Finance, a Swiss company,
specialising in the management of
microfinance investment products, assists banks and financial intermediaries
who wish to invest in the microfinance
industry by offering a comprehensive
package of services. Acting as a fund of
funds, it invests in a broad array of Apex
debt investment vehicles targeting microfinance institutions at a local, regional
or international level.

Founded in 1935, Morgan Stanley (NYSE:
MS) is a leading global financial services
firm providing a wide range of investment banking, securities, investment
management and wealth management
services. The Firm’s employees serve
clients worldwide including corporations, governments, institutions and
individuals from more than 600 offices in
33 countries.

Kreditanstalt fuer Widerderaufbau (KfW)
Bankengruppe, established in 1948,
is a state-owned development bank
designed to assist developing countries
and the German economy. It provides
funds for housing, infrastructure, environmental protection and preservation,
and venture capital. KfW is involved in
funding telecommunications, transportation, energy infrastructure, and
industrial projects around the world.

7 Year Term Loan

5 Year Term Loan

5 Year Term Loan

10 Year Term Loan

www.credit-suisse.com

www.calvertfoundation.org
USD1,200,000

USD2,000,000

Credit Suisse Group, founded in 1856,
headquartered in Zurich, operates as a
financial services company worldwide.
It provides companies, institutional
clients and high-net-worth private
clients worldwide, as well as retail clients
in Switzerland, with advisory services,
comprehensive solutions, and innovative
products in over 50 countries.

Calvert Foundation, a nonprofit organization, is an industry leader in community investment. It was launched in
1995 as a separate organization with the
support of the Ford, MacArthur and Mott
Foundations. It’s goal is to maximize
the flow of capital to disadvantaged
communities in order to foster a more
equitable and sustainable society.

Symbiotics SA, Information, Consulting
& Services’ mission is to serve the microfinance industry through investment
intermediation services. The company
provides innovative business services to
investors and practitioners of micro- and
small enterprise development.

2 Year Term Loan

5 Year Term Loan

5 Year Term Loan

MNT11,709,600,000

DB-Global Commercial Microfinance
Consortium
www.deutsche-bank.de
MNT4,672,000,000
USD125,000
Deutsche Bank Aktiengesellschaft
provides investment banking products
and services. It was founded in 1870 and
is a leading global investment bank with
a strong and profitable private clients
franchise. The bank is a leader in Germany and Europe, and growing in North
America, Asia and key emerging markets
with 1,889 facilities worldwide.
5 Year Term Loan

MNT 3,063,955,760
USD 1,500,000
EUR 600,000

www.oikocredit.org

Oikocredit is a unique cooperative
society, which encourages investors to
invest their funds in a socially responsible manner. It is one of the few ethical
investment funds, which finances development projects in the South benefiting
disadvantaged and marginalised people.
Its loans are channelled through a
network of Regional Offices spread over
Latin America, Asia, Africa, Central and
Eastern Europe and managed by local
professionals. Today more than 75% of
our outstanding capital goes to financial
intermediaries, the MFIs.

3-4 Year Term Loan

USD 500,000

USD6,500,000

USD500,000

USD2,300,000

www.blueorchard.org

The Dexia Micro-Credit Fund, created in
1998 by Dexia Banque Internationale,
is the first commercial investment fund
designed to refinance microfinance
institutions specialised in financial
services to small companies in emerging
markets. It is active in 27 developing
countries in Latin America, Asia and
Eastern Europe, and finances 78 institutions, which serve well over one million
micro-entrepreneurs. To manage its
microfinance portfolio, Dexia Asset Management relies on BlueOrchard Finance
SA, which is specialised in managing
assets of this type.

2-3 Year Term Loan

www.shorecap.net

USD5,000,000

MNT584,000,000
USD3,000,000

www.oxfamnovib.nl

Oxfam Novib, The Nederlandse
Organisatie voor Internationale Bijstand,
was set up in1956 and joined Oxfam
International in 1994, a confederation
of 13 organizations working together
with over 3,000 partners in more than
100 countries to find lasting solutions to
poverty and injustice.
www.triplejump.eu
Triple Jump, fund management
company, founded in 2006 as a result of
management team spin off from Oxfam
Novib, aims to provide financial services
for MFIs in all phases of their development. It’s mission is to contribute to the
sustainable development of emerging
market economies by facilitating investment in micro and small enterprises.
2-3 Year Term Loan

www.ebrd.com

USD5,400,000

USD4,118,738

USD1,500,000

www.symbiotics.ch

www.microvestfund.com

MicroVest was created as a capitalmobilizing intermediary for microfinance
institutions. It seeks partners to help
make financial markets work for poor
entrepreneurs of the world by linking
capital markets and MFIs. MicroVest I,
LP makes debt and equity investments
in promising, existing MFIs across broad
geographic areas.

5 Year Term Loan

www.ifc.org

ShoreCap International Ltd. is an international private equity company seeking
to invest in small business banks and
regulated MFIs in developing and transitional economies throughout Africa,
Asia and parts of Eastern Europe. It was
launched by ShoreBank Corporation,
America’s first and leading community
development and environmental banking corporation.

The European Bank for Reconstruction
and Development (EBRD) uses the tools
of investment to help build market
economies and democracies in 27
transition countries. It provides project
financing for banks, industries and businesses. It also works with publicly owned
companies to support privatization,
restructuring state-owned firms and
improvement of municipal services.

The International Finance Corporation
(IFC) is a member of the World Bank
Group. It fosters sustainable economic
growth in developing countries by
financing private sector investment,
mobilizing capital in the international financial markets, and providing advisory
services to businesses and governments.

3 Year Term Loan

4 Year Term Loan

5 Year Term Loan

MNT 3,198,985,000
USD3,000,000

www.triodos.com

Triodos-Doen Foundation, founded by
Triodos Bank and DOEN Foundation in
1994, aims to develop microfinance into
a full-fledged and integral part of the
inclusive financial sector in developing
countries, where the majority of people
will have access to financial services,  
and provide a sustainable basis for a balanced socio-economic development.
4 Year Term Loan
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Microfinance Development Fund
(MDF), World Bank
Aims to expand the outreach of
microfinance services in rural areas. The
Bank disburses MDF’s loan through its
branches in Darhan Uul, Orhon, Bulgan,
Zavhan, Govi Altay, Dornogovi and
Suhbaatar aymags.

Rural Poverty Alleviation Program
(RPAP), IFAD
Aims to reduce the poverty of poor rural
people and households. The Bank cooperates with RPAP in Arhangay, Huvsgul,
Bulgan and Hentiy aymags.

Employment Generation Support
Fund (EGSF), Ministry of Social Welfare and Labor
XacBank disburses the Employment
creation loan of Employment Generation Support Fund by Ministry of Social
Welfare and Labor to individuals and
entrepreneurs who want to create new
jobs or retain existing jobs, in all aymags
and districts.

Student’s Business Loan, Ministry of
Social Welfare and Labor
“Business loan” from EGSF by Ministry
of Social Welfare and Labor is disbursed
through all branches of XacBank to
students who are in their final year of
study or fresh graduates.

November 2002

May 2003

May 2002

August 2007

Rural Agribusiness Support Program
(RASP), Mercy Corps Mongolia
The project’s aim is to help expanding
agribusinesses in central and southern
Mongolia. The program is implemented
in Dornogovi, Umnogovi, Dundgovi,
Bayanhongor, Arhangay, Zavhan, Suhbaatar and Hovd aymags.

Enterprise Mongolia Project, UNDP
Attempts to support entrepreneurial
initiatives aimed at stimulating local
economic development by creating
national and global brand products. The
project loans disbursed in Hovd, Zavhan,
Huvsgul, Hentiy, Selenge, Ovorhangay,
Bayan Ulgiy aymags, and Han-Uul and
Suhbaatar districts.

GER INITIATIVE, CHF International
The project seeks to improve the quality
of life for low and medium-income
families in the peri-urban areas through
supporting business development services and increasing development opportunities. The project is implemented
in Ulaanbaatar city, Darhan-Uul, Orhon,
Dornod, Selenge, Bayan Ulgiy, Tuv and
Bulgan aymags.

Support for Micro Business, ADRA,
Mongolia
Project aims at supporting low-income
and socially vulnerable ger-district
residents in the capital city who have
limited access to financial services to
start micro businesses.

March 2004

May 2006

June 2003

August 2007

Consultative Group to Assist the Poor
(CGAP) Programme
Consultative Group to Assist the Poor
(CGAP) by the World Bank, intends to develop national financial infrastructure by
providing the poor with comprehensive
and high quality financial services. CGAP
Programme cooperates with the bank’s
“Development Guide” franchised SSCs
in order to support community based
initiatives to create financial institutions
in rural areas.

Two Step Loan Project (TSL), JBIC
Two Step Loan Project (TSL) by Japan
Bank for International Cooperation, aims
to promote development of small and
medium-sized businesses by introducing environmentally friendly technologies. TSL implemented in all aymags and
capital districts of Mongolia.

SME Support Fund Project, Ministry of
Industry and Trade
SME support fund project supports
small and medium-sized businesses to
access low-interest rate loans to promote purchase of productive equipment
and required working capital.

Mongolia Development Marketplace2007, World Bank
The World Bank announced Mongolia
Development Marketplace project,
contest on best project proposal with
an aim to find innovative and effective
ways to provide better social services for
the poor and vulnerable groups in urban
and rural areas in Mongolia. The Bank
granted MNT11.0 million to the Labor
and Training Factory of Blind citizens to
support their project aimed at production of re-usable cotton bags to replace
plastic ones.
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Regional Economic Development
Project, GTZ
Regional Economic Development
Project of GTZ aims to support regional
economic processes, including institutional framework conditions. The project
is implemented in Darhan, Orhon and
Zavhan aymags.

Credit Lines for Veterinary Businesses,
VET NET
This project enables qualified veterinarians and veterinary technicians in the
designated aymags, soum and bagbased veterinary businesses to obtain
subsequent loans from XacBank to buy
veterinary drugs and equipment for use
in their practices.

Index Based Livestock Insurance
project, World Bank
The Index-based Livestock Insurance
Project for Mongolia aims to ascertain
the viability of index-based livestock
insurance in Mongolia to reduce the
impact of livestock mortality for herders.
Currently, helders in Uvs, Bayanhongor
and Hentiy aymags are covered by this
insurance.

Perpetual Education Fund (PEF)
“Perpetual education fund”, a US-based
NGO supports students from poor and
low-income families by disbursing
tuition loans.

May 2007

January 2007

March 2006

July 2004

Annual Report 2007

The Bank disburses low-interest loans
to low-income households, herders
and poor households in soums, as well
as to women groups jointly with the
Mongolian Women Federation.

OUR CORRESPONDENT BANKS
Country: Currency

SWIFT code

Account number

Canada: USD
National Bank of Canada, Montreal

BNDCCAMM INT

10246824000200101

China: CNY, USD
Agricultural Bank of China Inner Mongolia
Branch, Erlian City
ABOCCNBJ050

05710101040022045 (CNY)
05710114012000055 (USD)

Germany: EUR
Bayerische Hypo- und Vereinsbank AG,
Munich

HYVE DE MM

69 109 012
(IBAN: DE13 7002 0270 0069 109012)

Deutsche Postbank
Friedrich-Ebert-Allee 114-126, 53113
Bonn, Germany

PBNKDEFF

755772 607

Japan: JPY, USD
Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation,
Tokyo

SMBC JP JT

4347 (JPY)
3625 (USD)

Korea: USD
Kookmin Bank, Seoul

CZNB KR SE

772-8-USD-01-3

SABR RU MM

30111978700000000536 (EUR)
30111826700000000536 (GBP)
30231810900000000536 (RUB)
30111840100000000536 (USD)

MRMD US 33

CHIPS ABA: 0108
Fed Wire Routing Code: 021001088
000-144860

BKTRUS 33

04434754

Russia: EUR, GBP, RUB, USD
Sberbank (Savings Bank of the Russian
Federation), Moscow

United States: USD
HSBC Bank USA N.A., New York

Deutsche Bank Trust Co. Americas
60 Wall St.-28th Fl. New York, NY 10005,
USA

XacBank
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OUR MAIN AWARDS

Top-5 Banks for 2007,
Mongolian National Chamber
of Commerce and Industry,
Government of Mongolia  

Organization of Management
Excellence for 2007,
Mongolian Management
Association

Financial Transparency Award for
2004, 2005, 2006
the World Bank led Consultative
Group to Assist the Poor

Best Corporate Governance for 2006,
Mongolian National Chamber of
Commerce and Industry,
Government of Mongolia
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Best Corporate Social Responsibility
for 2006, 2007,
Mongolian National Chamber of
Commerce and Industry,
Government of Mongolia

Our International Ratings

On 30 November 2007 Moody's published newly revised Credit Opinion on XacBank, with no changes at
rating levels.

Planet Rating has evaluated the Bank as an institution that excels in the evaluated areas for being a model in
microfinance sector. The ratings stated that there is a long-term vision for continual improvement, there are
no risks in the short and medium term for operations, and that XacBank's long-term risks are well managed
and monitored.

Office of Corporate Compliance and Ethics, the Legal and Compliance Division, prepared and issued this report,
and will handle any comments or requests for further information related to the annual report.
Graphic images and photo pictures provided by the Marketing Division.
TM

Designed and produced by the ICONCEPT LLC

Our Contact Address:
XacBank

Postal address: XacBank HQ,
Prime Minister Amar's Street,
P.O.Box-46/721,
Ulaanbaatar 210646
Mongolia
E-mail: bank@xacbank.mn
Homepage: www.xacbank.mn
SWIFT: CAXBMNUB
Tel: + (976-11)-318185
Inquiry: + (976)-1888
Fax: + (976-11)-328701

